Catheter ablation of fractionated electrograms for atrial fibrillation: does it improve outcomes and can it be refined based on electrogram morphology or knowledge of the remodelling process?

Ross J Hunter

PhD Thesis University of London 2013

<u>Abstract</u>

Catheter ablation complex or fractionated atrial electrograms (CFAE) may improve outcomes for persistent AF. However, it is unclear whether CFAE are important in maintaining AF or whether targeting of CFAE can be refined based on electrogram morphology or knowledge of the remodelling process.

A detailed classification of CFAE was described. Assessment of 100 CFAE by visual inspection in real time correlated well with detailed offline measurement.

Targeting of different CFAE morphologies in 20 patients with persistent AF caused cycle length prolongation only with ablation of certain CFAE morphologies. Therefore, targeting CFAE is not simply atrial de-bulking, certain CFAE morphologies are more important for maintaining AF.

A computer model was established to simulate LA wall stress using a 3D reconstruction of the chamber from CT imaging. Electrophysiologic data was acquired in 19 patients in persistent AF and compared to simulated wall stress data. Peaks in wall stress were associated with areas of low voltage suggestive of focal remodelling. CFAE were not associated with peaks in wall stress or areas of remodelling. Wall stress did not determine whether ablation of CFAE caused cycle length prolongation.

Long term outcome of catheter ablation for AF was good with little late recurrence. Outcome for persistent AF was improved by targeting CFAE in addition to pulmonary vein isolation and may reduce late recurrence.

Table of Contents

Abstract	2
Table of Contents	3
List of Tables	6
List of Figures	7
Acknowledgements	9
Declaration	12
Publications	13
Chapter 1: Introduction	19
1.1 Atrial fibrillation in context	20
1.2 Management of AF	22
1.3 Aetiology of atrial fibrillation	23
1.4 Atrial remodelling	35
1.5 Catheter ablation of atrial fibrillation	44
1.6 Complex fractionated atrial electrograms in atrial fibrillation	53
1.7 Conclusion and formulation of the current studies	70
Chapter 2: Materials & Methods	75
2.1Study institution and personnel	76
2.2Patients	77
2.3Catheter laboratory setup	78
2.4Mapping systems	80
2.5Catheter ablation of AF at St Bartholomew's	88

2.6 Methods for Chapter 3	90
2.7 Methods for Chapter 4	102
2.8 Methods for Chapter 5	109
2.9 Methods for Chapter 6	119

Chapter 3: Validation of a classification system to grade fractionation

in AF and correlation	on with automated detection systems.	123
Abstract		124
Introducti	on	125
Results		127
Discussio	on	135

Chapter 4: Characterization of fractionated atrial electrograms critical

for maintenance of AF: a randomized controlled trial of	
ablation strategies (the CFAE AF trial).	140
Abstract	141
Introduction	142
Results	143
Discussion	154

Section 5: Left atrial wall stress distribution and its relationship to

electrophysiologic remodelling in persistent atrial fibrillation.	159
Abstract	160
Introduction	161
Results	162
Discussion	172

Section 6: Long term efficacy of catheter ablation for AF: impact of	
additional targeting of fractionated electrograms.	180
Abstract	181
Introduction	182
Results	183
Discussion	197
Section 7: Conclusions	202
References	217

List of Tables

Table 1.1: Mechanically induced atrial remodelling.	42
Table 1.2: Procedural complications from catheter ablation of AF.	47
Table 1.3: Studies reporting long-term efficacy of catheter ablation for AF.	50
Table 1.4: Randomised trials or controlled studies investigating the	
efficacy of CFAE ablation for AF.	62
Table 2.1 – Classification system for electrograms.	94
Table 3.1: Consistency of fractionated activity and grade.	128
Table 3.2: Accuracy of automated CFAE detection using published	
cut off values and using optimal values from ROC analysis.	133
Table 3.3: Accuracy of Automated CFAE detection.	134
Table 4.1: Patient Characteristics.	144
Table 4.2: Procedural characteristics and success.	145
Table 5.1: Patient characteristics.	163
Table 6.1: Procedural complications of catheter ablation for AF.	185
Table 6.2: Freedom from AF post catheter ablation.	186
Table 6.3: Actuarial analysis of recurrence of AF/AT following the first	
cluster of ablation procedures for AF.	191

List of Figures

Figure 1.1: Mechanisms of reentry.	25
Figure 1.2: Isochronal maps demonstrating rotors in AF.	28
Figure 2.1: Catheter laboratory setup.	79
Figure 2.2: Mapping with the Ensite system.	83
Figure 2.3: Ablation guided by CARTO.	86
Figure 2.4: Analysis of complex electrograms.	95
Figure 2.5: Examples of electrograms from the revised grading system.	96
Figure 2.6: Automated detection of CFAE using Carto.	100
Figure 2.7: Anatomical division of the left and right atrium.	104
Figure 3.1: Correlation between grade and score by automated	
detection systems.	130
Figure 3.2: Receiver operating characteristic curves for detection	
of CFAE (defined as grades 1-4) by each algorithm.	131
Figure 3.3: Receiver operating characteristic curves for detection	
of highly fractionated electrograms (defined as grades	
1-2) by each algorithm.	132
Figure 4.1: Impact of ablation on AF cycle length.	146
Figure 4.2: Impact of ablation on mean grade in the left and right atria.	148
Figure 4.3: Mean proportion CFAE lesions causing AFCL prolongation.	150
Figure 4.4: Proportion of CFAE lesions causing AFCL prolongation.	151

Figure 4.5: Impact of order of ablation on the number of CFAE subtypes.	153
Figure 5.1: Left atrial wall stress distribution.	164
Figure 5.2: Distribution of peaks in wall stress and CFAE.	165
Figure 5.3: Relationship between electrophysiology and wall stress.	167
Figure 5.4: Relationship between high wall stress and	
electrophysiologic abnormalities.	169
Figure 6.1: Long term outcome after catheter ablation of AF.	187
Figure 6.2: Symptomatic benefit following catheter ablation of AF.	189
Figure 6.3: Multivariate analysis of factors predicting recurrence of AF.	192
Figure 6.4: Impact of additional CFAE ablation on outcome after	
persistent AF.	195

Acknowledgements

I am grateful to the British Heart Foundation who enabled me to undertake this period of research by providing funding.

I am indebted to the following people at the Cardiology Department of St Bartholomew's Hospital for their support:

The research nurses, in particular Victoria Baker and Laura Richmond for their guidance and support.

The cardiac physiologists, nurses and radiographers who helped ensure that these lengthy research cases ran smoothly.

Drs Simon Sporton, Mark Earley and Mehul Dhinoja, for their patience and help with study cases and subsequent drafting of manuscripts.

Professor Richard Schilling for his insight, his enthusiasm and the momentum he helped create.

Lastly I am grateful to my wife Lan-Anh for her support outside of work, allowing me to devote myself to these studies and this thesis.

To detail the specific help I have received from others for each study comprising this thesis:

Chapter 3: Validation of a classification system to grade fractionation in AF and correlation with automated detection systems.

Others involved: Ihab Diab, Glyn Thomas, Edward Duncan, Dominic Abrams, Mehul Dhinoja, Simon Sporton, Mark Earley and Richard Schilling. Input received: All were consulted during formulation of the classification of fractionated electrograms and were involved in the initial testing phases. All were involved in clinical care of the patients involved. All helped with critical review of the published manuscript.

Chapter 4: Characterization of fractionated atrial electrograms critical for maintenance of AF: a randomized controlled trial of ablation strategies (the CFAE AF trial).

Others involved: Ihab Diab, Laura Richmond, Muzahir Tayebjee, Simon Sporton, Mark Earley and Richard Schilling.

Input received: Laura Richmond helped set up and administer the study. Simon Sporton, Mark Earley, Ihab Diab and particularly Richard Schilling were all involved in the conception of the study and the trial design. All were involved in clinical care of patients and data collection. All helped with critical review of the published manuscript.

Chapter 5: Left atrial wall stress distribution and its relationship to electrophysiologic remodelling in persistent atrial fibrillation.

Others involved: Yankai Liu, Yiling Lu, Wen Wang and Richard Schilling. **Input received:** All were involved in the conception and design of the study. Yankai Liu and Yiling Lu performed the programming and construction of the computer simulation supervised by Wen Wang. Yiling Lu and Yankai Liu were also involved in the data analysis. Richard Schilling was involved in clinical care of patients and data collection. All helped with critical review of the published manuscript.

Chapter 6: Long term efficacy of catheter ablation for AF: impact of additional targeting of fractionated electrograms.

Others involved: Thomas Berriman, Ihab Diab, Victoria Baker, Laura Richmond, Glyn Thomas, Ravindu Kamdar, Malcolm Finlay, Edward Duncan, Mehul Dhinoja, Dominic Abrams, Mark Earley, Simon Sporton and Richard Schilling.

Input received: Mark Earley, Simon Sporton and Richard Schilling were involved in the conception and design of the study. Thomas Berriman and Ravindu Kamdar were involved in database management and help with data extraction. Laura Richmond and Victoria Baker were involved in setting up the study and data collection. All were involved in clinical care of the patients to a variable extent. All helped with critical review of the published manuscript.

Declaration

I declare that I am the author of this thesis. The work contained within it is my own and has not previously been accepted for a higher degree.

Publications

The following publications are a direct result of the studies included in this thesis.

Chapter 3

Original research

 Hunter RJ, Diab I, Thomas G, Duncan E, Abrams D, Dhinoja M, Sporton S, Earley MJ, Schilling RJ. Validation of a classification system to grade fractionation in atrial fibrillation and correlation with automated detection systems. Europace 2009: 11;1587-1596.

Abstracts & presentations at learned societies

 Hunter RJ, Earley M, Dhinoja M, Abrams D, Sporton S, Schilling RJ.
Validation of a classification system to describe fractionated electrograms in human AF. Journal of Interventional Cardiac Electrohpysiology. 2009: 24; 252-253.

Poster presentation at The European Cardiac Arrhythmia Society.

 Hunter RJ, Earley MJ, Dhinoja M, Abrams D, Sporton S, Schilling RJ.
Validation of a classification system to describe fractionated electrograms in human AF and comparison to automated detection. Heart. 2009: 95; A81A82.

Poster presentation at the British Cardiac Society.

Chapter 4: CFAE

Original research

 Hunter RJ, Diab I, Richmond L, Tayebjee M, Sporton S, Earley MJ, Schilling RJ. Characterisation of fractionated atrial electrograms critical for maintenance of AF: a randomised controlled trial of ablation strategies (the CFAE AF trial). Circ Arrhythm Electrophysiol. 2011: 6; 622-629.

Abstracts & presentations at learned societies

 Hunter RJ, Diab I, Sporton S, Earley M, Schilling RJ. Characterisation of fractionated electrograms critical for maintenance of AF: a randomised controlled trial of ablation strategies. Heart Rhythm. 2011: 10; S507.

Oral presentation and <u>Finalist for the Young Investigator Award</u> at The Heart Rhythm Society 2011.

 Hunter RJ, Diab I, Sporton S, Earley M, Schilling RJ. Characterisation of fractionated electrograms critical for maintenance of AF: a randomised controlled trial of ablation strategies. Europace. 2011: 13; 95.

Oral presentation and <u>Finalist for the Young Investigator Award</u> at Heart Rhythm UK 2011.

3. Hunter RJ, Diab I, Sporton S, Earley M, Schilling RJ. Characterisation of fractionated electrograms critical for maintenance of AF: a randomised controlled trial of ablation strategies. Heart. 2011: 30;105-6.

Poster presentation and <u>best abstract in electrophysiology category</u>, British Cardiac Society 2011.

 Hunter RJ, Diab I, Sporton S, Earley M, Schilling RJ. Characterisation of fractionated electrograms critical for maintenance of AF: a randomised controlled trial of ablation strategies. PACE. 2011: 9; 12.

Poster presentation and best abstract, World Society of Arrhythmias 2011.

 Hunter RJ, Diab I, Sporton S, Earley M, Schilling RJ. Characterisation of fractionated electrograms critical for maintenance of AF: a randomised controlled trial of ablation strategies. Journal of Interventional Cardiac Electrohpysiology. 2011: 30;105-6.

Oral presentation at The European Cardiac Arrhythmia Society

 Hunter RJ, Diab I, Sporton S, Earley M, Schilling RJ. Characterisation of fractionated electrograms critical for maintenance of AF: a randomised controlled trial of ablation strategies. Journal of Interventional Cardiac Electrohpysiology. 2010: 30; 102..

Poster presentation at The European Cardiac Arrhythmia Society

Chapter 5: Wall stress

Original research

 Hunter RJ, Liu YK, Lu Y, Wang W, Schilling RJ. Left atrial wall stress distribution and its relationship to electrophysiologic abnormalities in patients with persistent atrial fibrillation. Circ Arrhythm Electrophysiol. 2012: 5; 351-60.

Abstracts & presentations at learned societies

 Hunter RJ, Liu Y, Lu Y, Wang W, Schilling RJ. Left atrial wall stress distribution in patients with AF and the relationship with electrophysiologic abnormalities. Journal of Interventinal Cardiac Electrophysiology. 2011: 30;167.

Oral presentation at The European Cardiac Arrhythmia Society 2011.

 Hunter RJ, Liu Y, Lu Y, Wang W, Schilling RJ. Left atrial wall stress distribution in patients with AF and the relationship with electrophysiologic abnormalities. Heart Rhythm. 2010: 7; S414

Poster presentation at Heart Rhythm Society 2010.

 Hunter RJ, Liu Y, Lu Y, Wang W, Schilling RJ. Left atrial wall stress distribution in patients with AF and the relationship with electrophysiologic abnormalities. Journal of Interventional Cardiac Electrophysiology. 2010: 31;121.
Poster presentation at The European Cardiac Arrhythmia Society 2010.

Chapter 6: Outcomes

Original research

 Hunter RJ, Berriman TJ, Diab I, Baker V, Richmond L, Thomas G, Kamdar R, Finlay M, Duncan E, Dhinoja M, Abrams D, Earley MJ, Sporton S, Schilling RJ. Long term efficacy of catheter ablation for AF: impact of additional targeting of fractionated electrograms. Heart. 2010: 96; 1372-8.

Review articles

1. Hunter RJ, Schilling RJ. Long term outcome after catheter ablation for AF: safety, efficacy and impact on prognosis. Heart. 2010: 96; 1259-63.

Abstracts & presentations at learned societies

 Hunter RJ, Berriman TJ, Diab I, Baker V, Abrams D, Dhinoja M, Earley M, Sporton S, Schilling RJ. Long term efficacy of catheter ablation for AF: Impact of additional targeting of fractionated electrograms. Heart. 2010: 96: 1105.

Poster presentation at The British Cardiac Society 2010

 Hunter RJ, Berriman TJ, Diab I, Baker V, Abrams D, Dhinoja M, Earley M, Sporton S, Schilling RJ. Long term efficacy of catheter ablation for AF: Impact of additional targeting of fractionated electrograms. Journal of Interventional Cardiac Electrohpysiology. 2010: 30; 96-97.

Oral presentation at The European Cardiac Arrhythmia Society 2010.

 Hunter R, Berriman TJ, Thomas G, Richmond L, Baker V, Dhinoja M, Abrams D, Earley MJ, Sporton S, Schilling RJ. Long term efficacy of catheter ablation for AF. European Heart J. 2009: 30; 2450. Poster presentation at the European Society of Cardiology 2009.

 Hunter, R.J., Berriman, T. Richmond, L., Kamdar, R., Dhinoj, M., Abrams, D., Earley, M., Sporton, S., Schilling, R. J. Results of long term follow up after catheter ablation of atrial fibrillation. Journal of Interventional Cardiac Electrohpysiology. 2009: 24; 222.

Oral presentation at The European Cardiac Arrhythmia Society 2009.

Chapter 1

Introduction

1.1 Atrial Fibrillation in context

Atrial fibrillation (AF) is the most common sustained cardiac arrhythmia. The prevalence in adults has varied in large population based studies from 1.5-6.2%,¹ although a large cross sectional study of 18 000 subjects suggested the prevalence in adults was nearer 1%.² The prevalence of AF increases with age affecting only 0.1% of those under 55 years of age, increasing to 4% of those aged over 65 years and reaching 17% in those aged over 84 years.^{2, 3} The prevalence was slightly higher in men than women,² and although these were predominantly Western Caucasian cohorts, data suggests a similar prevalence around the world.⁴ The lifetime risk of developing AF at the age of 40 was estimated from the Framingham study at 25%.⁵ With the demographic change its prevalence is expected to double over the next twenty five years.⁶

Although the precise aetiology of AF is often unclear, population studies such as the Framingham study have shown that factors such as hypertension, diabetes, cardiac failure, or valvular heart disease are all associated with AF.⁷ Other factors found to be associated with AF are obesity, sleep apnoea, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, thyroid dysfunction, renal disease and ischaemic heart disease.^{8, 9}

AF causes a number of symptoms, most commonly palpitations, dyspnoea, fatigue, dizziness and pre-syncope which can be disabling in some cases. The presentation can range from discrete paroxysms of rapid palpitations in paroxysmal AF, to the insidious onset of breathlessness and fatigue in persistent AF, or in some cases may be an incidental finding in an

asymptomatic individual. The natural history of AF is thought to involve increasing frequency of AF paroxysms until AF becomes persistent,¹⁰ although this progression may occur less often in those without conditions promoting AF, so called 'lone AF'.¹¹ To reflect this progression, and also for practical purposes, AF has been categorised in recent guidelines:¹²

- First diagnosed episode of AF
- Paroxysmal AF self-terminating and usually lasting < 48 hours, (although up to 7 days is allowed within the definition).
- Persistent AF when an episode of AF lasts > 7 days or requires cardioversion, either with medication or by direct current cardioversion.
- Long-lasting persistent AF where persistent AF has been present for ≥ 1 year.
- Permanent AF when the patient and physician accept persistent AF as permanent.

Although previously viewed as a fairly benign condition, the mortality and morbidity associated with AF is actually substantial. The incidence of stroke in AF is increased up to six fold, giving a crude stroke rate in mixed cohorts of approximately 5% per annum.^{7, 13} Even after adjusting for other comorbidities, AF is associated with a 2 fold increase in annual mortality.⁷ In one large longitudinal study which followed up 15 000 patients for 20 years, AF was associated with an increased risk of cardiovascular events (death or hospitalization) with a relative risk ratio (RR) of 3.0, fatal or nonfatal stroke (RR 3.2) and heart failure (RR 3.4).¹⁴ The direct cost to the NHS associated with AF doubled in the 5 years from 1995, accounting for 1% of the total NHS budget by

2000. ⁶ With the demographic change and increasing prevalence of AF this figure is expected to continue rising.

1.2 Management of AF

Although the need for risk stratification and early decisions regarding anticoagulation are universally accepted, these concepts are not related to the subject matter of this thesis and hence are not reviewed here. Other aspects of management such as rate control versus rhythm control, which antiarrhythmic drugs (AADs) to use, the place of cardioversion and catheter ablation are all still controversial. The AFFIRM study and others initially showed no benefit in pursuing a rhythm control strategy over rate control in terms of symptoms or mortality.¹⁵⁻¹⁷ Treatment was predominantly pharmacological however, and was not very successful in maintaining sinus rhythm. At any given time point during the AFFIRM study approximately a third of the rate control group were in sinus rhythm compared to two thirds in the rhythm control group, leading some to conclude this was a test of a treatment strategy rather than comparing the effect of sinus rhythm restoration to continued AF.

Subsequent re-analysis of the AFFIRM study has shown that in those achieving sinus rhythm mortality was halved, although this effect was effectively negated if ongoing antiarrhythmic drug (AAD) therapy was used.¹⁸ As a post-hoc finding this association between sinus rhythm and improved mortality must be interpreted with caution. This relationship has been demonstrated subsequently in some studies,^{19, 20} but not others.²¹ The potential for AADs to increase mortality has been documented in several high profile trials such as CAST and SWORD,^{22, 23} but has also been shown in other cohorts of patients taking AADs

for AF such as in the Stroke Prevention in AF (SPAF) study.²⁴ The toxicity of AADs combined with their limited efficacy in the treatment of AF may be obscuring any symptomatic or prognostic advantage in pursuing sinus rhythm.

More definitive methods of rate control and rhythm control have evolved utilising catheter ablation techniques. A so called 'pace and ablate' approach involves implantation of a permanent pacemaker followed by catheter ablation of the AV node to cause complete heart block. This is a definitive solution to rate control but is an irreversible palliative manoeuvre. AV node ablation may be particularly useful for patients with difficult rate control despite medication and little hope of achieving or maintaining sinus rhythm. An alternative approach is catheter ablation attempting to restore sinus rhythm which is discussed in the relevant sections that follow.

1.3 Aetiology of atrial fibrillation

Historical perspective

There had been several descriptions of maladies involving an irregular pulse going back some centuries, but the first description of AF accompanied by basic electrical recordings was by Lewis in 1909.²⁵ There were initially two contrasting theories: Engelmann suggested that each muscle fibre became independently rhythmic, whereas Winterberg and Rothberger thought that a single focus discharging at 50 Hz produced a fibrillatory response in the rest of the atrium.²⁶ However, with the discovery of the reentry phenomena this rapidly gained favour as the most plausible mechanism to explain AF and evidence continues to mount for this today. The theory that AF is supported by focal drivers has

also accumulated evidence over the years, although it appears that there may be overlap between the focal and reentry theories. A variant of the reentry theory is the 'wandering wavelet hypothesis' in which wavefronts randomly meandering around the atria sustain AF. Although this theory in its original form now seems implausible as a sole mechanism for maintenance of AF, it may still contribute and there is arguably overlap between this and current concepts of reentry.

Reentry mechanisms in AF

Around the same time as Lewis described AF, Mayer showed that stimulation of rings cut from jelly fish could initiate a visible wave of contraction revolving around the central hole (Figure 1A).²⁷ Mines replicated this experiment in atrial and ventricular myocardium cut from animals and hypothesized that this phenomena might explain cardiac tachyarrhythmia.^{28, 29} Mines defined the basic requirements for initiation and maintenance of reentry: (i) unidirectional conduction block, (ii) a core of inexcitable tissue around which the wavefront can propagate, (iii) excitable tissue ahead of the wavefront. This last point in particular means that there are theoretical limitations on the size of a reentry circuit. The wavefront and associated zone of refractoriness that follows constitute the wavelength, which will extinguish if it meets it's refractory tail. Therefore, to maintain an 'excitable gap', the anatomical circuit must be longer than the wavelength, which is equal to the conduction velocity multiplied by the refractory period of the tissue:

Wavelength = conduction velocity x refractory period

Figure 1.1: Mechanisms of reentry.



Figure 1.1: A. shows circus movement around an area of anatomical conduction block. B. shows the leading circle reentry hypothesis, with movement around an area of functional block. C. shows a rotor and it's resultant spiral wave. D. shows a chaotic activation pattern due to wandering wavelets. There are lines of block between different wavelets (shown in different colours with arrows to illustrate direction of propagation), with asterisks marking sites at which new wavelets form. (Adapted from Schotten et al, 2011.)³⁰

When a reentry circuit occurs in the absence of a central anatomical obstacle, the inexcitable core is due to 'functional block'. This concept was put forward separately by both Lewis and Garrey.^{31, 32} However, it was not until the advent of multielectrode cardiac mapping in the 1970s that Allessie was able to confirm this mechanism in rabbit hearts.³³ Allessie went on to show that non-uniform recovery of tissue excitability following extrastimuli might allow unidirectional block and reentry to occur.³⁴ He put forward the 'leading circle hypothesis', whereby the wavefront moving in the smallest possible circuit allowed by the wavelength is referred to as the leading circle.³⁵ There is no excitable gap as such ahead of this leading circle, possibly explaining why AF cannot be entrained or pace-terminated. This leading circle activates both the surrounding tissues and the central 'vortex' (Figure 1B). What precisely occurs at this central vortex remains controversial, but Allessie's data suggested that this was in a state of perpetual excitation due to invading centripetal wavelets.

Rotors and spiral waves

The leading circle hypothesis was a significant advance along the original lines of Mines description of reentry, but remained a one dimensional model. The study of wave propagation in other excitable media³⁶ and subsequent computer modelling of arrhythmia³⁷ showed that a rotating wavefront in 2 dimensions would assume the form of a spiral wave (Figure 1C). At the centre of the spiral wave is the rotor driving the system. The conduction velocity slows progressively towards the rotor as the curvature of the wavefront increases. This is due to a phenomenon called 'source-sink'. The 'source' of a wavefront is the diffusion gradient generated by excited tissue causing ions to flow towards depolarized downstream cells which act as a 'sink'. When an excited area of

tissue activates a greater volume of tissue through the flow of ions across a convex wavefront, there is a resultant slowing of conduction velocity. This source-sink phenomenon provides an explanation for what may occur at the rotor core, since this places theoretical limits on the curvature of the wavefront at the core meaning that although the core may be excitable it cannot be excited. This core is sometimes called a 'phase singularity', where all phases of the action potential meet: the fully excited tissue at the leading edge of the advancing wavefront, the refractory tissue at the trailing edge of the recovery front and the non-excited tissue at the core.³⁸ These electrotonic effects reduce conduction velocity and action potential duration, resulting in a very short wavelength which helps to stabilise the rotor.^{38, 39} The initiating event for the formation of a rotor is thought to involve the perpendicular collision of a wavefront with the tail of a preceding wave.³⁸

With the advent of high resolution mapping techniques rotors and spiral waves have been demonstrated in isolated cardiac tissues.^{40, 41} The Jalife/Berenfeld group have published extensively on their optical mapping studies in a Langendorff-perfused ovine model of acetycholine induced AF.⁴²⁻⁴⁶ They were able to demonstrate sustained rotors in AF, most notably on the posterior wall left atrium (LA), but also on the anterior wall of the left atrial appendage (Figure 1.2A). These rotors could be either stationary or meandering, and could be free standing or anchored to structures such as the pulmonary veins.⁴⁵ These rotors had an area of only $3.8 \pm 2.8 \text{ mm}^{2.45}$ Although this experimental evidence appeared convincing, there was concern that rotors had not yet been demonstrated in human AF. However, recent studies using non-contact mapping or basket catheters in the LA have demonstrated rotors in humans

(Figure 1.2B).^{47, 48} A recent trial used basket catheters to map and target rotors and other focal drivers in addition to pulmonary vein isolation (PVI), and showed improved outcomes compared to PVI alone.⁴⁹ These studies therefore provide strong support for the role of rotors in maintaining AF.



Figure 1.2: Isochronal maps demonstrating rotors in AF.

Legend to Figure 1.2: A. Optical mapping of a rotor on the posterior wall in a sheep model of AF (adapted from Skanes et al, 1998).⁴² B. Mapping of drivers in AF using a basket catheter, figure on the left shows a rotor, figure on the right shows a radial discharge from a focal driver (adapted from Narayan et al, 2012).⁴⁹

A further layer of complexity to this model may be introduced by considering cardiac activation in 3 dimensions. The equivalent of a spiral wave occurring in 3 dimensions is a 'scroll wave', which is essentially a continuous stack of spiral waves. The complexities of mapping cardiac tissue in 3 dimensions means that speculation on how this may be relevant to arrhythmias comes mostly from computer modelling.⁵⁰ Although the concept of arrhythmias occurring in 3 dimensions may be more relevant to ventricular arrhythmia than atrial arrhythmia due to the thin atrial wall, the wall of the atria are complex with layering of muscle fibres and thicker pectinate muscles endocardialy.

Derakhchan et al showed that during right atrial pacing activation was faster endocardialy than epicardialy and utilised anatomic structures such as the crista terminalis and pectinate muscles endocardialy to create preferential conduction pathways.⁵¹ This disparity was more apparent at rapid pacing rates and during induced tachycardia. Allessie showed that endocardial breakthrough from epicardial sources was common in AF, particularly at the posterior wall where there is complex layering of fibres at the junctions with the pulmonary veins (PVs).⁵² Although these tended not to be localised or repetitive, reentry within the LA wall due to edocardial-epicardial dissociation was demonstrated.⁵²

The multiple wavelet hypothesis

In 1959 Moe proposed the multiple wavelet hypothesis.⁵³ He suggested that a single wavefront could be split by islands of refractoriness to produce a number of wavelets which randomly wander the atria, extinguishing as they encounter refractoriness or anatomical block, but also dividing to produce new daughter wavelets. Maintenance of AF was therefore thought to be probabilistic, with AF

only terminating if all wavelets extinguished simultaneously. Moe subsequently produced computer modelling data to support this theory.⁵⁴ This incorporated (although modified) the concept of reentry and allowed for block occurring and extinguishing of wavelets intermittently, but made no provision for the possibility of reentry at fixed locations or focal drivers.

Years later Allessie et al produced mapping data that seemed to support Moe's theory. AF was induced in Langendorff perfused canine hearts by rapid atrial pacing in the presence of acetylcholine and atrial activation patterns were mapped by placing a specially designed 'egg' in each atrium with simultaneous recording of 192 endocardial electrograms.⁵⁵ This appeared to show multiple random reentry circuits as Moe predicted. Allessie proposed that 4-6 independent wavelets were needed to sustain AF – many fewer than the 15-30 initially suggested by Moe.

Further support for Moe's hypothesis came from mapping studies performed at the time of cardiac surgery in Humans. Konings et al performed high density epicardial mapping of the right atrium after inducing AF in patients undergoing surgical correction of Wolff-Parkinson-White syndrome.⁵⁶ Varying degrees of complexity of wavefront propagation were observed (which they graded from type I to III), ranging from single broad wavefronts unimpeded by any conduction delay to complex activation patterns with multiple wavelets and lines of functional block evident. They described both random reentry analogous to Moe's multiple wavelets hypothesis and leading circle reentry, but in keeping with Moe's predictions did not observe fixed reentry circuits or focal drivers.

Cox et al performed a similar mapping study in patients with paroxysmal AF undergoing surgical correction of Wolff-Parkinson-White syndrome, and also in a canine model of AF.⁵⁷ In both scenarios areas of non-uniform conduction and block were demonstrated. They again found multiple discrete meandering wavefronts, although also observed macro-reentry. No focal drivers or areas suggestive of rotors were observed.

Moe's hypothesis had been particularly popular because it unites and explains several observations. It predicted that the stability of AF would depend on the surface area of atrial tissue available and the wavelength. The progression from paroxysmal AF to persistent AF is most common in those with structural heart disease and is associated with LA dilatation.¹¹ Furthermore, refractory periods of atrial myocardium are reduced by episodes of tachyarrhythmia or AF which reduces wavelength and seems to stabilize AF as Moe predicted.⁵⁸ Furthermore, the excellent long term results achieved with the Cox-maze procedure (which involves creating lines of scar using a 'cut and sew' technique to compartmentalize the atria, so limiting the contiguous tissue area available for fibrillation) provide support to reentry circuits of some description playing a role in the maintenance of AF.⁵⁹

Areas consistent with random wavelet reentry have been described in other recent mapping studies, but usually in addition to rotors or focal drivers with a radial activation pattern.⁴²⁻⁴⁹ It is therefore difficult to be sure to what extent they contribute to the maintenance of AF and whether they may in fact be bystander. Furthermore, difficulty demonstrating rotors or other focal drivers in certain

studies is not necessarily strong evidence that they are absent. The relevance and importance of wandering wavelets in AF therefore remains uncertain.

Focal mechanisms in AF

In 1949 Scherf et al induced AF in canine hearts by injecting the atrial appendage with acontine (which triggers neurally mediated acetylcholine release) to produce 'auricular fibrillation'.⁶⁰ Cooling of the appendage led to termination of AF, although when the appendage rewarmed AF restarted. They proposed that not only were the fibrillating atria driven by the appendage, but that circus movement reentry could not be responsible because this would have been terminated by the cooling. They concluded that this was strong evidence that AF was both initiated and then also maintained by a focal driver.

Perhaps the strongest evidence that AF may depend on focal mechanisms is the observation that AF is often initiated by ectopy arising from the PVs. Haissaguerre et al mapped the sources of ectopy initiating AF in 45 patients with AF and found that the vast majority (94%) arose from the PVs.⁶¹ Chen et al published very similar findings around the same time.⁶² These groups both found that elimination of these sources by catheter ablation could eliminate paroxysms of AF. This removal of PV triggers for AF is the rationale behind PV isolation for PAF. However, it is less clear whether such focal mechanisms are as important for sustaining AF.

PVI during persistent AF usually prolongs AF cycle length, suggesting removal of some drivers.⁶³ However, termination of AF occurs in only a small proportion

of patients at this stage suggesting that drivers elsewhere may also be important. ^{63, 64}

Schuessler et al showed that in a canine model of acetylcholine induced AF there were initially multiple re-entrant circuits after induction, but that these condensed into a single stable rapid reentry circuit with a cycle length of 39-48 ms, with fibrillatory conduction to the rest of the atria.⁶⁵ Several subsequent studies using combinations of optical mapping and high density electroanatomic mapping have suggested stable high frequency drivers in AF due to rotors or focal discharging in the atria.⁴²⁻⁴⁶ More recently studies using non-contact mapping or basket catheters in the LA have demonstrated rotors in human AF.^{47, 48} Targeting these LA foci terminated AF in 85% of patients and improved outcome compared to PVI alone.⁴⁹ Therefore, although the PVs may be very important to the initiation of AF, other LA drivers may be at least as important for the subsequent maintenance of AF.

The pulmonary veins

The proximal PVs are enshrouded in sleeves of muscular tissue extending from the LA to approximately the first division of the PVs. The orientation of layered muscle fibres surrounding the PVs are far more complex than elsewhere in the atria.⁶⁶ The electrophysiologic properties also differ to that of atrial myocardium. Decremental conduction has been demonstrated within the sleeves.⁶⁷ The action potential duration and refractory period of the muscular sleeves is shorter than that of the atrial myocardium and actually decreases progressively moving from the atrium towards the more distal PV. ^{62, 67-69} There is also a slower phase 0 upstroke velocity than in atrial tissue.⁶⁸ Cells in the myocardial sleeves also

have an ultrastructure more akin to that of the sinus node than that of atrial cardiomyocytes.⁷⁰

Triggered activity, automaticity and reentry have all been suggested as potential mechanisms by which the PVs might act as triggers.^{62, 71-74} High density mapping of AF in dogs showed drivers which appeared to be truly focal, emanating from the proximal PVs towards the atrium and distal PV.⁷⁴ Studies of individual PV sleeve cardio-myocytes from canine and rabbit models of AF have shown that cells exhibit more rapid intrinsic depolarisations and were more prone to early and delayed afterdepolarisations than LA tissue.^{71, 75}

Clinical studies have shown areas of conduction block within the PVs.⁶² Multielectrode mapping of the PVs has suggested this may correlate anatomically with segmentation of the pulmonary sleeves or abrupt changes in myocardial fibre orientation.^{76, 77} Optical mapping of canine PVs has demonstrated complete reentry circuits occurring within them measuring only 1-2 cm.^{69, 73} Similarly, Kalifa et al used optical mapping in their ovine model of AF to show that rotors could be anchored to the PV-LA junction.⁷⁸ Ouyang et al showed that after PVI in patients with AF spontaneous PV tachycardias could be reliably and reproducibly entrained and terminated by pacing within the isolated vein.⁷⁹ These data on balance suggest that much of the 'focal' discharging from the PV may in fact be due to reentry of some description.

Other atrial sites of special importance in maintaining AF

Several sites in the atria commonly exhibit focal activity and contribute towards atrial tachycardias. In the right atrium the crista terminalis, tricuspid annulus,

ostium of the coronary sinus, right atrial appendage, the perinodal region and right sided septum are common foci for atrial tachycardias.⁸⁰⁻⁸³ In the LA, foci are commonly found at the ostium of the PVs, mitral annulus, LA appendage and left sided septum.⁸³⁻⁸⁷ Although the most common sites for AF initiation is the PVs, other thoracic venous structures have also been implicated such as the superior vena cava, coronary sinus and ligament of Marshall.^{83, 88, 89}

The posterior wall has been shown in several studies to have the highest dominant frequencies and the most rapid cycle lengths in AF.⁹⁰⁻⁹³ Embryologically the primitive PV fuses to the LA forming the smooth posterior wall. The muscular fibres connecting the muscular sleeves of the PVs to the posterior wall form a diffuse complex junction with overlapping fibres in differing orientations.⁶⁶ Remodelling and fibrosis in the LA seems to preferentially affect the posterior wall and may further exacerbate conduction heterogeneity and anisotropy.⁹⁴⁻⁹⁸ Optical mapping studies demonstrating rotors have found them predominantly on the posterior wall. ⁴²⁻⁴⁶ Mapping studies in humans have also shown a consistent vertical line of functional block running through the posterior wall.^{94, 99} This line of block may protect rotors or wavelets from other circulating wavefronts, whilst still allowing wavelets to escape through it.⁹⁹

1.4 Atrial remodelling

Electrical remodelling in AF

It is recognised that AF is often progressive, with episodes becoming more frequent and lasting longer until AF becomes persistent. The Allessie group investigated the impact of AF on electrophysiologic properties of the atrial myocardium in goats.⁵⁸ After only a few days in AF the cycle length had shortened significantly with a corresponding reduction in refractory periods. AF was easier to induce and episodes lasted longer. These changes clearly promote AF and the authors coined the phrase 'AF begets AF'. Morillo et al observed a similar phenomenon in a canine model of pacing induced AF.⁹⁰ After 6 weeks in AF there was a comparable reduction in atrial refractory periods. There also appears to be greater spatial heterogeneity in refractory periods which may further facilitate reentry and AF.^{100, 101} Similar findings have been reported in humans with AF.^{102, 103}

The mechanism of this shortening of refractory periods appears to be down regulation of the L-type calcium channel, which reduces the calcium current (I_{CaL}) that usually maintains and lengthens the plateau (phase 2) of the cardiac action potential.^{104, 105} This electrical remodelling may be a compensatory mechanism to prevent cellular calcium overload during tachycardia.^{104, 105} There are also changes to various other membrane potassium currents, such as reduction in the transient outward current (I_{to}) and the G protein–coupled inward rectifying K+ current ($I_{K,Ach}$), although the importance of these changes are less clear.^{30, 105, 106} These changes may be protective in the short term, but overall are maladaptive in the long term as they facilitate reentry and hence AF.

In addition to changes in the action potential duration and refractory periods, it has been demonstrated that action potential duration alternans may be a marker for vulnerability to AF. Narayan et al examined the propensity for action potential duration alternans in control patients in sinus rhythm, patients with
paroxysmal AF, and those with persistent AF.¹⁰⁷ They found that action potential duration alternans occurred only at very fast pacing rates in control patients (> 230 bpm) but occurred at rates as low as 100-120 bpm in patients with persistent AF. During rapid pacing action potential duration alternans gave way to complex oscillations in action potential duration immediately before onset of AF. This likely predisposes to dispersion of refractoriness and wave break precipitating AF. It is uncertain why this action potential duration alternans might occur but it is likely a result of abnormalities of calcium handling due to calcium overload, and is probably part of the electrical remodelling in AF.¹⁰⁸⁻¹¹¹

After termination of AF the reduced action potential duration and refractory period reverses within only a few days.^{58, 112} However, in a separate study using a similar goat model, AF was induced for 3 consecutive periods of 4 weeks, each separated by 6 days of sinus rhythm to allow refractory periods to normalise.¹¹³ They found that after each episode of AF it became easier to induce AF and induced episodes lasted longer. This suggested that there must be a more gradual and sustained component of remodelling, or possibly a 'second factor' to explain this ongoing and increasing propensity to AF.

Gaspo et al examined the effect of prolonged pacing induced AF on canine atrial electrical properties.¹⁰¹ Although changes in refractory periods peaked at 7 days, there was a gradual slowing of conduction velocity that continued after this. A similar reduction in atrial conduction velocity has also been demonstrated in humans with AF.^{102, 114} This may be due in part to electrical remodelling as a reduction in the inward sodium current (I_{Na}) which causes deoplarisation (phase 0) has been demonstrated.¹¹⁵ However, alterations in the

intercellular channels between the myocytes has also been implicated in this conduction slowing. Connexin proteins form ion channels at gap junctions between myocytes, and are found predominantly at intercalated disks. In a goat model of chronic AF, the levels of Connexin 40 (the predominant subtype in goats and humans) were reduced and the distribution was no longer concentrated at the intercalated disks.¹¹⁶ This reduced expression and altered distribution became more marked with time. Kanagaratnam et al showed that in humans, the complexity of circulating wavefronts in AF was inversely proportional to the Connexin 40 content.¹¹⁷

The reduction in both refractory period and conduction velocity as a result of AF cause a marked reduction in wavelength which is critical to facilitating reentry. The action potential duration alternans that results from abnormalities of calcium homeostasis causes dispersion of refractoriness and predisposes to wave break which may initiate reentry. However, there is also evidence of structural remodelling resulting from AF, the so called 'second factor' by which AF begets AF.

Structural remodelling in AF

The progressive macroscopic LA dilatation that occurs in AF is well established in both animal models and humans.^{90, 118} It has been assumed that this LA dilatation is mechanistically important since it appears to be pro-arrhythmic. There is a strong relationship between LA size and the propensity to develop AF. In the Framingham study a 5mm increase in LA size was associated with a 39% increased risk for the development of AF.¹¹⁹ In patients with AF an enlarged LA also predicts recurrence of AF after direct current cardioversion or

catheter ablation.^{120, 121} However, Morillo et al were the first to describe atrial ultrastructural changes in a canine model of pacing induced AF.⁹⁰

Both human and animal studies have suggested a multitude of changes to atrial architecture in AF:^{90, 122-124}

- Atrial fibrosis,
- Myocyte hypertrophy,
- central loss of sarcomeres (myolysis),
- changes in quantity and localization of structural cellular proteins,
- fragmentation of sarcoplasmic reticulum,
- perinuclear accumulation of glycogen,
- homogeneous distribution of nuclear chromatin,
- widening of the undifferentiated portions of the intercalated discs
- aggregation of lysosomes
- glycogen accumulation
- Increased mitochondrial size and altered shape
- Cellular dedifferentiation towards a more immature phenotype (comparable to fetal cardiomyocytes)

Although there are clearly several ultrastructural changes that occur as part of structural remodelling, perhaps the most apparent is fibrosis. This occurs due to proliferation of fibroblasts and fibrin deposition in the extracellular matrix. Fibrous tissue can accumulate within myocyte bundles between cells (endomysial fibrous tissue) or between bundles (perimysial fibrous tissue). These can develop into large collagenous septa between muscle fibres. In some contexts with more marked atrial dilatation such as occurs in heart failure, larger areas of fibrosis are occur which are more similar to 'replacement fibrosis' secondary to tissue damage and cell death.¹²⁵

These changes lead to slowing of conduction velocity. The fibrosis and formation of collagenous septa between muscle bundles can cause uncoupling of parallel muscle fibres, causing impulse propagation in the direction perpendicular to muscle fibres to flow in a zigzag fashion, further slowing conduction and causing anisotropy.^{126, 127} Fibroblasts are no longer thought to act solely as passive insulators and by electrically coupling with myocytes may affect electrophysiology on a cellular level and an organ level.^{96, 128} Computer modelling data suggests that fibroblasts may act as a current sink, causing failure of the myocyte to depolarise and conduction block.¹²⁸ Fibroblast-myocyte coupling may also cause elevation of myocyte resting potential, causing slowing of sodium channel recovery which extends post-repolarisation refractoriness. This prolongation of refractoriness is a common consequence of fibrosis, and although it might not be expected to be pro-arrhythmic, it's heterogenous nature can facilitate reentry. Atrial fibrosis in itself is proarrhythmic and may be sufficient to increase AF vulnerability, as occurs in mice with over expression of TGF-ß1 causing selective atrial fibrosis.¹²⁹ The totality of changes that occur as part of structural remodelling promote reentry and further facilitate what Allessie described as the 'domestication of AF'.¹²³

Mechanically induced remodelling of the atria

Conditions causing increased atrial stretch were found to underlie AF in the majority of patients in the Framingham study,¹³ and is a consistent aetiological factor in the development of AF.^{13, 130-136} Conditions such as valvular heart

disease, heart failure and hypertension all cause chronic atrial stretch leading to LA dilatation, with heterogenous changes in atrial architecture very comparable to those occurring in AF, such as myocyte hypertrophy and fibrosis.^{125, 134, 137-140}

Electrophysiologic effects of chronic atrial stretch have been demonstrated in a variety of animal models and clinical scenarios. There is some heterogeneity in the results of these studies, and they are reviewed in Table 1.1. On balance these studies suggest reduced voltage throughout and discrete areas of electrical scar, reduced conduction velocity with conduction heterogeneity, anisotropy and areas of block, complex fractionated atrial electrograms (CFAE) and double potentials, and greater inducibility of AF.^{94, 125, 131-136, 139, 140} Interestingly, atrial stretch does not seem to shorten refractory periods as occurs in AF, but in most of these studies the effective refractory period was actually increased. This may owe to the effects of fibroblast myocyte coupling.¹²⁸ Although there appears to be a great deal of common ground in these remodelling processes, the shortening of action potential duration and refractory periods appears to be unique to tachyarrhythmias such as AF and may be a compensatory mechanism to prevent calcium overload due to tachycardia.^{104, 105} It is noteworthy that the remodelling in AF and particularly in response to chronic mechanical stretch appears to be heterogenous with focal areas of scarring, the reasons for which remain unclear.

Table 1.1: Mechanically induced atrial remodelling.

Author	Model or scenario	Remodelling compared to control group
Li ¹²⁵	Canine model of	Heart failure compared to control:
	heart failure due to	 No change in CV overall but discrete areas of
	rapid ventricular	slowing
	pacing compared to	No change in ERP
	rapid atrial pacing	• Extensive fibrosis compared with controls and the
	(with complete heart	rapid atrial pacing group.
	DIOCK and	Increased duration of induced AF with heart failure
	and controls	and rapid atrial pacing compared to control.
		Banid stript pasing compared to boart failure and
		controls:
		Peduced conduction velocity
		Reduced conduction velocity Poduced effective refractory period
Kistler ¹⁴⁰	Ovine model of	Poducod CV/
Riduci	hypertension	No change in ERP
	compared to	Reduced wavelength overall
	controls	Myocyte hypertrophy, myolysis, fibrosis, focal
		scarring
Verheule ¹³⁹	Canine model of	No change in CV.
	mitral regurgitation	Increased ERP
	compared to control	Sustained AF inducible
	-	Areas of fibrosis and chronic inflammation.
John ¹³³	Patients with mitral	Reduced CV and zones of slow CV
	stenosis compared	Lower atrial voltage and focal electrical scar
	to controls	Increased ERP
		Greater inducibility of AF
Sanders ¹³⁴	Heart failure versus	Decreased CV with regional CV slowing
	control patient	Areas of low voltage and electrical scar
		Increased ERP
		A greater number of CFAE and double potentials
		AF more sustained once induced.
Roberts-	Atrial septal defect	Regional slowing of CV
Thomson ¹³⁶	versus control	Reduced atrial voltage and areas of electrical scar
	patient	 Unchanged or prolonged ERP
		 Greater number of CFAE and double potentials
		AF more easily inducible.
Roberts-	Mitral regurgitation	Mitral regurgitation groups compared to control:
Thomson [™]	with AF, Mitral	 Zones of slow CV and block
	regurgitation without	 Conduction heterogeneity and anisotropy
	AF, and control	Focal scarring
	patients.	ERP increased in mitral regurgitation group without AF
		compared to both controls and the group with mitral
		regurgitation and AF, which had the shortest ERP of
Sparks ¹³¹	Patients with loss of	
opuno	AV synchrony due	 Increased ERP but not uniformly
	to complete heart	• Lengthening of cSNRT
	block versus	Restoring AV synchrony normalised ERP CV
	controls	cSNRTs,

Legend to Table 1.1: Impact of various animal models and clinical conditions

on atrial remodelling. ERP, effective refractory period; CV, conduction velocity;

cSNRT, corrected sinus node recovery time.

Mechanisms of atrial remodelling

Fibrosis is linked to the release of matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) and tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase (TIMPs) which are secreted from fibroblasts, smooth muscle cells, endothelial cells, and myocytes. Several studies have shown changes to these cellular signalling pathways and others involved in the regulation of interstitial matrix composition and cell-to-cell / cell-to-matrix connections. AF has been associated with down regulation of TIMP-2, up-regulation of MMP-2, MMP-9 and MMP-15, A disintegrin and metalloproteinase-10 (ADAM-10) and ADAM-15, and upregulation of mitogen activated protein kinases (MAPKs).¹⁴¹⁻¹⁴⁴ These pathways may be activated by neurohumoural factors, but may also be activated directly by mechanical stretch. Mechanical stretch of atrial myocytes has been shown to cause upregulation of MMP-2 and MMP-9, and hence mechanical stretch may be able to directly stimulate release of these cytokines to cause fibrosis.^{144, 145}

The renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system (RAAS) may also impact on atrial remodelling in AF.^{146, 147} Angiotensin II receptors in cardiac tissue activate MAPKs and stimulate TGF- ß1 production which stimulates fibroblasts and promotes interstitial fibrosis.¹⁴⁸⁻¹⁵¹ In addition to the systemic effects of angiotensin II, mechanical stress can directly activate type 1 angiotensin II receptors by inducing a conformational change in the protein.^{152, 153}

Increased oxidative stress may also contribute to atrial remodelling and is thought to be due to increased NADPH oxidase and xanthine oxidase activity and dysfunctional NO synthase leading to increased production of

superoxide.^{154, 155} In addition to systemic factors impacting on oxidative stress, local stretch may also increase superoxide anion production.¹⁵⁶ Therefore mechanical stretch may bring about remodelling through local oxidative stress.

Inflammation may also be important in the atrial remodelling process. Serum levels of inflammatory markers are increased in patients with AF,¹⁵⁷ and human atrial biopsies from patients with AF have shown inflammatory infiltrates and accumulation of myeloperoxidase (MPO), a heme enzyme produced by neutrophils.^{124, 158}

There are therefore several mechanisms by which AF and mechanical stretch might cause remodelling. Further work is needed to define the role of these processes relative to each other and explore the potential of 'upstream therapies' that might interrupt the atrial remodelling process.

1.5 Catheter ablation of AF

Since the description of PVI as a successful treatment for AF almost 15 years ago,⁶¹ there has been an exponential increase in the number of catheter ablation procedures performed worldwide.¹⁵⁹ Catheter ablation of AF has evolved since its inception with increasing success rates and decreasing complication rates along the way.^{159, 160} Several recent randomised controlled trials have demonstrated the superiority of catheter ablation over medical treatment for AF in terms of maintenance of sinus rhythm and improved symptoms.¹⁶¹⁻¹⁶⁶ Catheter ablation is now a recognised treatment for patients

with symptoms refractory to drug treatment, or for those intolerant of drug treatment.¹² However, there remains scope for refinement in the procedure and room for improvement in success rates, particularly for persistent AF. There is also still a paucity of long term follow up data to examine outcomes years down the line, leaving questions about the real efficacy of catheter ablation in this context.

Safety of catheter ablation for AF

The World Wide survey on catheter ablation of AF by Cappato et al saw the first large scale reporting of outcome data (albeit voluntary and self reported).¹⁵⁹ A wide variety of techniques were practiced initially, with variable safety and efficacy.¹⁵⁹ Major complications were reported in 6% of patients.¹⁵⁹ Published case series from leading single centres typically report lower rates of major complications in the region of 2-3%.¹⁶⁷⁻¹⁷⁴ These consist mostly of stroke/TIA or tamponade. PV stenosis was initially reported after around 1% of cases but has become much rarer now most groups target ablation at a distance from the ostia to encircle the PVs in pairs (wide area circumferential ablation).¹⁵⁹ Although a serious and often fatal complication, atrio-oesophageal fistula is very rare.¹⁵⁹

Death following catheter ablation of AF is rare. As few centres have sufficiently large registries and as reporting of results is voluntary, the true mortality is difficult to determine. Expanding on his work with the world wide survey, Cappato has produced an analysis of procedural mortality.¹⁷⁵ Of 45 115 procedures, there were 13 intra-operative deaths (0.02%), the 30 day mortality

was 25 (0.06%), and including all late deaths potentially related to the procedure this rose to 32 (0.07%). This was reported in the study as a mortality of 0.098% per patient, as some patients underwent more than one procedure. Stroke, tamponade and atrio-oesophageal fistula accounted for more than half of these deaths. Other large registries have reported similar mortalities of approximately 0.07-0.2%.^{159, 160, 170, 174} Table 1.2 shows the most important complications of catheter ablation for AF as reported in the World Wide surveys and 2 large registries examining this issue. Notably, many patients in these registries also underwent more than one procedure, meaning that the complication rate on a per patient basis may actually be higher than that reported on a per procedure basis.

Efficacy of catheter ablation

Catheter ablation of AF is a relatively new procedure and the long term outcome is therefore only recently being examined. The first world wide survey conducted by Cappato reported registry data from 100 centres between 1995 and 2002 for a mixed cohort of 8745 patients with paroxysmal and persistent AF.¹⁵⁹ Freedom from AF or other atrial tachyarrhythmias (AT) was reported in 52% off AADs, rising to 76% after re-introduction of previously ineffective AAD therapy at almost 1 year. However, techniques have evolved significantly in a short space of time.

	World Wide	World Wide	Bhargava ¹⁷⁴	Dagres ¹⁷⁰
	Survey I ¹⁵⁹	Survey II ¹⁶⁰		
No. procedures	11 762	20 825	1691	1000
TIA or stroke	0.6%	0.7%	0.3%	0.4%
Tamponade	0.9%	1.0%	0.3%	1.3%
Symptomatic PV stenosis	0.4%	0.23%	1.1%	0.1%
Atrio-oesophageal fistula	0%	0.03%	0%	0.2%
Peri-procedural death	0.05%	0.12%	0.06%	0.2%
Total major complications	4.5%	3.6%	2.7%	3.9%

Table 1.2: Procedural complications from catheter ablation of AF.

Legend to Table 1.2: Procedural complications of catheter ablation for AF expressed as a percentage per procedure. Major complications are those that are deemed serious, those that have lasting sequelae, or that delay discharge.

Early catheter based techniques tried to replicate the surgical maze procedure with very limited success.¹⁷⁶ Targeting of initiating PV foci was not reported until 1998,⁶¹ and only in 2000 was it realised that all PVs must be targeted to avoid later emergence of ectopy not apparent at the index procedure.¹⁷⁷ High rates of PV stenosis with ostial isolation prompted lesion placement in the LA 1-2cm outside the vein ostia, forming continuous rings of scar around them (usually with the use of 3D mapping systems).¹⁷⁸ It remains controversial as to whether isolation of the PVs at their ostia or at a distance in pairs is more effective, and data from randomised controlled trials are conflicting.^{179, 180} Many groups have used the technically challenging procedural end-point of PV electrical isolation, although firm evidence of incremental benefit from randomised trials has been lacking until recently.¹⁸¹

The worldwide survey reflected this progression in techniques, with the most common technique being right atrial maze from 1995-1997, targeting of PV foci from 1998-1999, and PVI from 2000 onwards. The second 'updated' worldwide survey reported registry data from 85 centres for 16 309 patients undergoing catheter ablation of AF from 2003-2008.¹⁶⁰ Freedom from AF had risen to 70% without the need for AADs (80% including those still taking AADs) at 18 months. The proportion of patients with persistent AF and long-lasting persistent AF (i.e. continuous for > 1 year) had also risen markedly. Techniques almost always incorporated PVI for this cohort.

Studies now typically report long term freedom from AF or atrial tachycardias (AT) in 70-90% of patients without the need for AADs, with a small number of studies reporting data up to 7 years.^{167-174, 182-184} Table 1.3 summarizes studies reporting greater than 2 years of follow-up for greater than 100 patients. It is an important caveat that many patients require more than one procedure to maintain freedom from AF, particularly for persistent AF, with studies typically reporting a mean of 1.2-2.0 procedures per patient over the long term.^{167-174, 182-184}

Since the number of long term follow-up studies remain small, it is still uncertain whether sinus rhythm will be maintained long-term post ablation, or whether catheter ablation is a palliative procedure delaying the inevitable. The small amount of long term data available suggests that most recurrences of AF/AT occur within a year of the procedure. The AF free survival curve appears to flatten between 2-3 years, with approximately 3% per year recurring after this.^{167, 169, 172, 174, 182}

However, long term follow-up data often reports success following the last procedure, meaning patients with late recurrence who undergo successful repeat procedures are counted as successes. This may distort perception of success and patterns of recurrence. Some studies with particularly aggressive follow-up have reported rates of late recurrence (occurring \geq 1 year post ablation) as high as 7-10% per annum.^{185, 186} It may therefore be that the harder one looks for asymptomatic paroxysmal arrhythmia, the more one will find. The importance of asymptomatic arrhythmia is uncertain: currently catheter ablation is recommended solely for the alleviation of symptoms, but were it proven as a treatment to reduce rates of stroke or obviate the need for anticoagulation then this may become more important.

Authors	Year	Patients	Follow-up	PAF	AF free off
			(yrs)	(%)	drugs (%)
Tilz ¹⁸⁷	2012	202	4.7	0	33
Bhargava ¹⁷⁴	2009	1404	4.7	52	88
Wokhlu ¹⁸⁵	2010	774	3.0	55	66
Pappone ¹⁶⁹	2003	589	2.5	69	79
Lee ¹⁷²	2004	207	2.5	100	72*
Nademanee ¹⁶⁷	2008	635	2.3	28	81
Miyazaki ¹⁸⁸	2011	574	2.3	79	84
Zado ¹⁷³	2008	781	2.2	64	64
Oral ¹⁸³	2006	755	2.1	65	71
Cheema ¹⁶⁸	2006	200	2.1	46	41

Table 1.3: Studies reporting long-term efficacy of catheter ablation for AF.

Legend to Table 1.3: This table summarizes studies reporting follow-up for greater than 2 years following catheter ablation of AF for more than 200 patients. The percentage success rate quoted is after repeated procedures. Note, other publications by the Natale group (first author Bhargava) met this criteria but presumably included the same patients. Therefore the Bhargava paper was included as it was the largest. Note also that published studies resulting from this thesis are excluded (see publications section). * indicates studies where it was not specified how many patients were still taking antiarrhythmic drugs, otherwise the success rate excludes those taking AADs.

Reporting of Success

Success can be difficult to gauge for the reader, as it is reported differently in different studies. Guidelines now suggest trials use frequent monitoring to look for asymptomatic AF, and that use of AADs or the capture of greater than 30 seconds of any atrial tachyarrhythmia (regardless of symptoms) are regarded as failure.¹⁸⁹ This level of monitoring can be difficult to achieve outside clinical trials, and such harsh definitions of success may be seen as artificial and arbitrary. A patient with a short run of asymptomatic AF may well regard their procedure as a success and decline a repeat procedure. In the world of coronary intervention looking for asymptomatic ischaemia, with this or the use of anti-anginal medication counting as failure might be seen as excessive.

Hence, real world registry data typically involves less monitoring of asymptomatic patients, recognizing that further monitoring of asymptomatic patients may reveal an increment in recurrent AF. Nademanee's group report monitoring patients only if they have recurrent symptoms,¹⁶⁷ and although Pappone's group have reported monitoring patients, they defined failure as symptomatic recurrence lasting longer than 10 minutes on ambulatory monitoring and confirmed on an ECG.¹⁶⁹ The reader is then left with the difficult task of comparing results between studies reporting different techniques. Therefore, although these harsh definitions of success form an essential bench mark for comparing trials using different techniques or technologies, they may under represent the benefit some patients derive.

Predictors of success

Not all patients stand equal chances of success following catheter ablation of AF. Factors identified on multivariate analysis as predictors of recurrent arrhythmia (although none uniformly in all studies) include persistent AF, time spent in persistent AF, structural heart disease, left ventricular impairment, hypertension, female gender, and increasing left atrial diameter.^{171, 174, 182, 185} Interestingly, there appears not to be an effect of age or ischaemic heart disease, and the impact of structural heart disease and left ventricular impairment appears small. Perhaps the most consistently identified factors predisposing to recurrent arrhythmia are persistent AF and left atrial dilatation. These suggest more advanced structural and electrical remodelling. Given the differing results between studies and the short follow-up in many, further clarification on predictors of long term success/failure is highly desirable to aid patient selection and clinical decision making. Further understanding of the remodelling process and how best to modify the atrial substrate may also clarify how best to treat these patients at risk of recurrent arrhythmia.

Catheter ablation of persistent AF

PVI alone is successful for 70-90% of patients with paroxysmal AF (PAF).^{179, 190} This now forms the cornerstone of catheter ablation for AF and is recommended in current guidelines.¹⁸⁹ However, PVI alone maintains sinus rhythm in only 10-30% of patients with persistent AF.^{179, 190, 191} Efforts to improve outcomes, particularly for persistent AF, has led to investigation of alternative and adjunctive targets for ablation such as ganglionic plexi,¹⁹² CFAE,^{167, 191} linear lesions,¹⁷¹ isolation of the posterior wall between the PVs,^{191, 193} or extensive modification of the posterior and inferior wall.¹⁷⁴ Catheter ablation of persistent

AF now usually involves a hybrid strategy incorporating PVI with further targeting of CFAE and/or linear ablation.¹⁷¹

However, there is currently no real consensus as to what constitutes a CFAE, or on how CFAE should be targeted. It remains uncertain what different CFAE morphologies represent, and hence it is unclear exactly what is being targeted. Furthermore, there is precious little long term follow up data for patients who have undergone CFAE ablation, and there remains concern as to whether the resultant atrial scarring may be proarrhythmic over the long term.

1.6 Complex fractionated atrial electrograms in atrial fibrillation

Several mapping studies have described CFAE and alluded to their potential importance in arrhythmia. Nademanee was the first to describe targeting of CFAE as a stand alone approach for catheter ablation of AF in 2004.¹⁹⁴ He targeted CFAE in 121 patients and reported freedom from arrhythmia in 110 (91%) at 1 year. This technique opened the door to a completely novel method of catheter ablation for AF. There has been a great deal of research in subsequent years attempting to answer several key questions:

- What do CFAE represent and why they are important in AF?
- Can CFAE ablation be refined to target only areas important in maintaining AF?
- What is the impact of CFAE ablation in patients with paroxysmal or persistent AF?

 Should CFAE ablation be performed alone, or in combination with PVI or linear lesions?

This section reviews the literature in this area and the current understanding with regard to these key questions.

What are CFAE?

CFAE were first described in the context of ventricular myocardium. In a canine model of ventricular scarring following myocardial infarction, Gardner et al showed that infracted areas were associated with complex or fractionated electrograms, and that this was associated with zones of slow and anisotropic conduction.¹⁹⁵⁻¹⁹⁷ Histological analysis showed that muscle fibres were poorly connected due to fibrosis and formation of collagenous septa, suggesting that electrogram fractionation was due to asynchronous activation of muscle fibres.^{127, 197} The uncoupling of parallel muscle fibres means that impulse propagation in the direction perpendicular to muscle fibres can occur in a zigzag fashion, further increasing electrogram complexity.^{126, 127} The multiple deflections making up complex or fractionated electrogram may therefore be due to slow conduction along muscle bundles, with partial longitudinal dissociation between parallel fibres leading to asynchronous activation and anisotropy. The asynchronous activation of fibres leads to reduced summation of electrograms, which together with reduced myofibrillar content of tissues reduces electrogram amplitude in these areas.

It is a reasonable supposition that such areas of fibrosis may explain CFAE in AF, but several recent studies have cast doubt on this by suggesting that CFAE

are not dependent on areas of low voltage, and in fact are associated with regions of higher voltage.¹⁹⁸⁻²⁰³ Furthermore, areas supporting CFAE in AF do not necessarily have abnormal or fractionated electrograms in sinus rhythm.¹⁹⁹ This therefore suggests that some CFAE at least must be due to functional abnormalities rather than structural pathology.

Berenfeld et al, examined right atrial conduction in isolated sheep hearts at increasing pacing rates.²⁰⁴ This showed normal conduction at low pacing rates, but with progressive delay in impulses reaching distal branching sites of the crista terminalis and pectinate muscles at pacing rates between 2-6 Hz. At pacing rates above 6.5 Hz they saw non-uniform intermittent functional block. They described this as the 'breakdown frequency', above which the direction of impulse propagation became completely variable from beat to beat: a state they described as fibrillatory conduction. Increasing electrogram fractionation was also observed at higher pacing rates, with widespread CFAE during fibrillation. This suggests that during rapid stimulation of normal tissue, non-uniform conduction delay interrupts 1:1 conduction around the atria, precipitating fibrillatory conduction.

Computer modelling data suggests that electrogram fractionation may occur as wavefronts enter or exit zones of slow conduction, whether anatomical or functional, and that tissue anisotropy means that the distribution and morphology of CFAE may vary according to the seemingly random direction of impulse propagation in AF.^{205, 206} In keeping with this basic explanation of CFAE, mapping studies in AF have suggested that CFAE may be markers of more complex emergent phenomena.

CFAE and rotors

Kalifa et al, examined the impact of rotors on the posterior wall of the LA on electrogram morphology, and in particular the spatial relationship between rotors and CFAE.²⁰⁷ Using methodology similar to their previous work investigating rotors,^{42, 45} rapid pacing of isolated sheep hearts in the presence of acetylcholine was used to induce AF, with simultaneous optical mapping of wavefront propagation and recording of electrograms from the posterior wall. This showed rapid high frequency areas suggestive of rotors with organised electrograms at these sites, with the most fractionated areas occurring approximately 3 mm away forming a band between rotors and nearby low frequency areas. CFAE may therefore occur at the borders of rapid drivers such as rotors, where impulse propagation to surrounding tissues fails to conduct in 1:1 fashion. The same group later used similar techniques to show that meandering of the rotor could reduce the regularity of electrogram deflections, and increase electrogram fractionation.²⁰⁸

Despite evidence that rotors may exist from computer models and mapping in animal models, there has been difficulty demonstrating them in human AF. Sequential mapping may not capture a small meandering rotor. Similarly, noncontact mapping of low amplitude signals in AF is problematic and makes this sort of phenomena difficult to detect. Nevertheless, there are recent reports describing rotors in human AF using non-contact mapping,⁴⁷ or contact mapping with basket catheters.⁴⁸ Furthermore, a recent single centre trial suggested that mapping and targeting of rotors using these techniques may improve outcome when performed as an adjunct to PVI.⁴⁹

Ganglionated plexi and CFAE

A possible mechanism underlying drivers in AF, whether they be rapidly discharging foci or rotors, is autonomic innervation through ganglionated plexi.²⁰⁹ Although sympathetic innervation of the heart is more widely spread, parasympathetic innervation occurs through epicardial ganglionated plexi which are located in fat pads mostly around the pulmonary veins. Parasympathetic discharge can cause PV discharge to initiate AF.²¹⁰ Furthermore stimulation through ganglionated plexi causes a reduction in the effective refractory period which promotes reentry and hence facilitates ongoing fibrillation.²⁰⁹ Hence, targeting of ganglionated plexi may reduce recurrence of AF when performed in addition to PVI.²¹¹

Application of acetylcholine to canine atria induces rapid firing and CFAE in a dose dependent fashion.²¹² In this model peaks in dominant frequency and CFAE occurred at sites of ganglionated plexi, with a gradient of reducing dominant frequency and decreasing prevalence of CFAE moving further away from the ganglionated plexi.²¹³ Subsequent ablation of ganglionated plexi slowed rapid electrograms, abolished gradients in dominant frequency, regularised CFAE, and often terminated AF.^{212, 213} Therefore, ganglionated plexi innervation may explain the importance of the PVs in AF, and may be a mechanism underlying rapid drivers which sustain AF and the CFAE associated with them.

Mapping studies in AF

Konings *et al* induced AF in patients with Wolff-Parkinson-White undergoing cardiac surgery and performed high density mapping of the right atrial free

wall.²¹⁴ It was found that CFAE occurred at areas of slow conduction and pivot points where wave fronts turn and split to allow reentry to occur. This was arguably the first mapping study to attach mechanistic significance to CFAE in AF, and raised the possibility that they could be targeted by catheter ablation.

Other investigators have examined CFAE using non-contact mapping and have found that CFAE can occur due to various passive phenomena such as wave front collision, wave break against electrically inert structures or wave fusion (all of which reduce the number of circulating wavefronts).^{47, 215} However, these studies have also shown that CFAE can occur at active sites which sustain AF, such as rotors, rapidly discharging foci, areas of functional block which allow pivot points, and areas of wave division. ^{47, 215} However, there are conflicting data as to whether CFAE occur at predominantly active⁴⁷ or passive²¹⁵ sites.

Rostock et al performed high density mapping of CFAE sites in AF using multipolar catheters.²¹⁶ As with many studies they found that CFAE were transient. Local AF cycle length shortened progressively until electrograms appeared fractionated, then cycle length increased again until electrograms were no longer fractionated. This could suggest 2 things: it could suggest increasing fractionation as a passive response to increasingly rapid stimulation, or possibly that local effective refractory period reduces until reentry can be supported, at which point rotors or microreentry circuits initiate. Analysis of activation patterns suggests that the majority of CFAE occurred due to passive activation (86%). However, of the remaining 14% approximately half were due to bursts of activity from rapidly discharging foci, and half showed a 'gradient of activation' suggesting local reentry, possibly a rotor. This study therefore

suggests that a minority of CFAE sites do perform active roles in supporting AF. Clearly the sensitivity and specificity of CFAE as markers for these phenomena will depend on exactly how they are defined, but in this study at least, CFAE were not specific markers for active phenomena.

Narayan et al, used a duodecapolar pentarray catheter (Biosense-Webster, Diamond Bar, CA, USA) to map CFAE whilst simultaneously recording monophasic action potentials (MAPs) in the same area to define local depolarisation and repolarisation.²¹⁷ They found that only 8% of CFAE had continuous activity on bipolar electrograms with discrete rapid MAPs. These areas had higher dominant frequencies and a high organisation index, suggesting they may be drivers. Using the multipolar catheter it was possible to map activation in some cases which demonstrated localised reentry or possibly rotors. This would be consistent with the continuous electrical activity observed at sites of rotors in experimental models.^{207, 208} Mapping studies in humans with AF have suggested similar localised reentry circuits at the sites of continuous electrical activity.²¹⁶ This might suggest that CFAE with continuous electrical activity are more mechanistically important than other CFAE. However, the fact that this pattern was observed in only 8% of CFAE mapped in this study is consistent with findings of other studies.²¹⁶

Narayan et al also observed local shortening of AFCL before the appearance of CFAE at a further 8% of sites. This was also associated with rapid regular MAPs. This phenomenon was also described by Rostock et al.²¹⁶ It remains unclear whether the CFAE that occur after a decrease in AFCL represent a breakdown into fibrillatory conduction, or are perhaps due to more

mechanistically important pnenomena such as bursts of rapid firing, perhaps due to intermittent ganglionated plexi innervation.

However, as with the Rostock study, the majority of CFAE did not appear to be mechanistically important: 67% of CFAE were associated with discrete MAPs with superimposed signals suggestive of far-field electrograms, and for 17% discrete MAPs could not be recorded at all perhaps suggesting fibrillatory conduction. This raises the possibility that targeting CFAE for AF may in fact be targeting bystander phenomena the majority of the time. Given that the bipolar electrogram showed continuous electrical activity at these sites, this suggests that it may be possible to refine targeting of CFAE based on electrogram morphology.

Using a multi-electrode array to perform high density mapping of the posterior left atrium in surgical patients with AF, Lee et al demonstrated that CFAE were prevalent on the posterior wall, and that electrograms with continuous electrical activity usually occurred < 5mm from peaks in dominant frequency. This echos the work of Kalifa et al, demonstrating the proximity of CFAE to high frequency drivers in the posterior left atrium of sheep.²⁰⁷ Furthermore, this again draws attention to CFAE with continuous electrical activity as a potential marker of drivers in AF.

Atienz et al mapped the posterior LA in 24 patients after inducing AF by rapidly pacing the PVs.²¹⁸ They again found that AF cycle length often shortened prior to the onset of CFAE, then slowed after resolution of CFAE. They used computer modelling to simulate the movement of wave fronts and proposed a

novel mechanism for this phenomena: that rotors meandering in the direction of these points might increase the frequency of wave fronts through the Doppler effect. This is supported by other modelling data from the same group showing meandering of rotors.²⁰⁸

Clinical impact of CFAE ablation for AF

In Nademanee's original description of CFAE ablation,¹⁹⁴ 121 patients with AF were included (64 with persistent AF). Although the PVs were not routinely isolated, 58 patients (91%) with persistent AF were ablated to sinus rhythm. It is widely quoted that 110 (91%) patients were free from arrhythmia at 1 year. However, 29 required repeat procedures (giving a mean of 1.2 procedures per patient), and 7 of those who were arrhythmia free after the first procedure were still taking antiarrhythmic drugs. This therefore gives a single procedure freedom from atrial arrhythmia off antiarrhythmic drugs of 74/121 (61%), which is possibly more in keeping with other studies. Examining specifically those with persistent AF, 40 of 64 patients (63%) were free of arrhythmia and off antiarrhythmic drugs after a single procedure at 1 year. This rises to 49 (77%) after 2 procedures and 56 (88%) counting those still taking antiarrhythmic drugs. This technique opened a promising new paradigm in catheter ablation of AF. However, although subsequent reports from Nademanee's group appeared to confirm the success of this technique,¹⁶⁷ others have been unable to replicate these results with CFAE ablation alone.^{64, 219} Table 1.4 summarizes the randomised and other controlled studies investigating the efficacy of CFAE ablation.

Table 1.4: Randomised trials or controlled studies investigating the efficacy of CFAE ablation for AF.

	Study Design	Follow-up	Cohort	Result
Verma 2007 ²²⁰	Matched	1 yr	Paroxysmal (120) &	PVI 80%
	comparison		persistent AF (80)	PVI & CFAE 85% (p = 0.054)
				In persistent only: PVI 72%
				PVI & CFAE 82%, (p < 0.047)
Verma 2008 ²²¹	Matched	1.1 ± 0.3 yr	Paroxysmal (42)	PVI 71%
	comparison		and persistent (28)	PVI & CFAE 83%
			AF	(p = 0.045)
				[CFAE ablation prolonged AFCL]
Verma 2010 ²²²	RCT	1 yr	High burden PAF	PVI 29%
			(65) & persistent AF	CFAE 48%
			(35)	PVI + CFAE 74% (p = 0.004)
Di Biase 2009 ²²³	RCT	1 yr	PAF only (103)	PVI 89%
				CFAE 23%
				PVI & CFAE 91%
				(CFAE alone versus other groups p < 0.001; PVI versus both
				NS)
Deisenhofer	RCT	1.6 ± 0.7	PAF only (98)	PVI 74%
2009 ²²⁴	_	years		PVI & CFAE 83% (p = 0.08)*
Lin 2009 ²²⁵	Controlled trial	1.6 ± 0.9	Persistent AF (60)	PVI & linear lesions 40%
		years		PVI & linear lesions & CFAE 70%
				(p = 0.013)
a b b b c c c 6 d				[AF termination predicted freedom from AF]
Oral 2009 ⁰⁴	RCT	0.8 ± 0.2	Long-lasting	PVI 36%
		years	persistent AF only	PVI & CFAE 34%
			(119 included, 100	(p = NS)
			IN AF after PVI	[79% of those who terminated to SR during PVI remained in
	DOT		randomised)	SKJ
Elayi2008	RCI	1.3 years	Long-lasting	PVI (not confirming isolation) 11%,
			persistent AF only	PVI (confirming isolation) and posterior wall isolated 40%,
			(144)	PVI (confirming isolation) and posterior wall isolated & CFAE
				61% (p < 0.01)

Legend to Table 1.4: Randomised or otherwise controlled studies investigating the efficacy of CFAE ablation for AF.

CFAE ablation as a standalone strategy

Oral et al, performed CFAE ablation alone in 100 patients with persistent AF.²¹⁹ Only 33% remained in sinus rhythm after a single procedure at 14 ± 7 months. 44 patients underwent a repeat procedure and all had evidence of pulmonary vein tachycardia. After a mean of 1.4 procedures, 57% were in sinus rhythm off antiarrhythmic drugs at 13 ± 7 months. These results suggested a fairly poor efficacy of CFAE ablation alone for AF, but it was not until recently that 2 studies compared these strategies formally through randomised controlled trials.^{222, 223}

Verma et al,²²² randomised 100 patients with high-burden paroxysmal AF (>4 episodes of AF each lasting >6 hours, in the last 6 months) or persistent AF to 1 of 3 strategies: CFAE ablation, PVI, or both. At 1 year the single procedure success rate was 74% for the PVI and CFAE group compared to 48% in the PVI group and 29% in the CFAE group (p = 0.004). There were significantly more repeat procedures in the CFAE arm (47%) versus PVI (31%) or PVI and CFAE (15%) (p = 0.01). After two procedures, the PVI and CFAE group still had the highest success (88%) compared with PVI (68%) or CFAE (38%) (p = 0.001).

Di Biase et al, ²²³ performed a similar trial in which 103 patients with PAF were randomised to CFAE ablation alone, PVI, or both. After a single procedure 89% remained free from arrhythmia and off antiarrhythmic drugs at 1 year after PVI,

compared to 23% in the CFAE group, and 91% in the group receiving both (CFAE alone versus other groups p < 0.001; PVI versus both not significant).

With the exception of Nademanee's data, these studies suggest that CFAE ablation as a standalone strategy has little clinical efficacy. The data by Oral et al regarding the high prevalence of PV tachycardias at repeat procedures suggest that the PVs remain an important target. ²¹⁹ Indeed, recurrence of AF after PVI is usually associated with PV reconnection.²²⁶ The study by Verma et al, ²²² suggests that CFAE ablation when performed in addition to PVI may be beneficial for patients with persistent AF or PAF with a high AF burden. However, the Di Biase data suggests that CFAE ablation adds little to PVI in an unselected group of patients with PAF. ²²³ Other studies over a similar time frame have focused on the role of CFAE ablation as an adjunct to PVI.

CFAE ablation as an adjunct to PVI

Oral et al performed pulmonary vein isolation in 119 patients with long lasting persistent AF and randomised the 100 that did not revert to sinus rhythm after PVI to either DC cardioversion or CFAE ablation for up to 2 hours.⁶⁴ They were able to terminate AF during CFAE ablation in 9 of 50 patients (18%). After a single procedure sinus rhythm was maintained in 36% of those who were cardioverted after PVI and 34% of those who received additional CFAE ablation at 10 ± 3 months. Interestingly, sinus rhythm was maintained in 79% of those who terminated during PVI (and hence were not randomised), suggesting that termination of AF is associated with subsequent freedom from arrhythmia. After 1.3 procedures, sinus rhythm was maintained in 79% of those who terminated during PVI, 68% in those who were cardioverted after PVI, and 60% of those

who had additional CFAE ablation at 9 \pm 4 months. However, at repeat procedures the PVs were reisolated and additional CFAE ablation was performed at the discretion of the operator, regardless of the patient's initial treatment allocation. Therefore the impact of CFAE ablation after repeat procedures is difficult to determine in this study. Notably, at the repeat procedure all patients had PV reconnection in \geq 1 PV, again suggesting that the PVs are important.

Elayi et al,¹⁹¹ randomised 144 patients with long standing persistent AF to 1 of 3 groups: anatomical PVI (without confirming electrical isolation), PV antrum isolation (meaning confirmed PVI and isolation of the posterior wall between the PVs), or PV antrum isolation and CFAE ablation. Freedom from arrhythmia was achieved in 11% of patients in the anatomical PVI group, 40% of the PV antrum isolation group, and 61% of the PV antrum isolation and CFAE ablation.

The studies by Oral and Elayi appear contradictory.^{64, 191} Both enrolled patients with long lasting persistent AF (mostly of 5-7 years duration) and applied seemingly similar treatments. In the study by Elayi et al, ¹⁹¹ CFAE were targeted before PVI in the LA, RA and coronary sinus until elimination of all CFAE. However, in the study by Oral,⁶⁴ CFAE were targeted for up to 2 hours after PVI. Although it is difficult to be certain, this gives the impression that CFAE may have been targeted rather more extensively and thoroughly in the Elayi study, which may explain the results. Another difficulty interpreting CFAE ablation studies is that although both papers describe CFAE in a similar way, it is difficult to be certain that both groups were targeting the same electrogram morphologies.

Deisenhoffer et al, ²²⁴ randomised 98 patients with PAF to CFAE ablation or not after PVI. Attempts were made to induce AF in both groups after PVI, with CFAE ablation preformed only in those patients in whom AF could be induced. There was no difference in the proportion of patients maintaining sinus rhythm in the 2 groups (74% versus 83%; p = 0.08). However, looking only at those with inducible AF, sinus rhythm was maintained in a greater proportion of those who received CFAE ablation (89%) compared to those who had no additional ablation (73%; p = 0.003). Although this study appeared not to support CFAE ablation after PVI when a standard 'intention to treat' analysis was applied, it therefore suggested that CFAE ablation may be beneficial in patients whom AF can be induced after PVI. This could be seen as complementing the data from the Di Biase and Verma studies, suggesting that CFAE ablation after PVI is not beneficial in all PAF patients, but may benefit those patients with a high AF burden.

Patients selection & procedural end-points for CFAE ablation

Therefore, the majority of studies suggest that CFAE ablation may improve outcomes when performed in addition to PVI for patients with persistent AF. It is less clear whether this is the case for patients with PAF, although it appears that patients with a high burden of PAF or inducibility of AF after PVI may benefit from CFAE ablation as an adjunct to PVI. It is uncertain why these patients may benefit from CFAE ablation, but it is conceivable that PAF patients with a high AF burden or AF inducible after PVI may have more remodelled atria and may therefore benefit from some form of substrate modification. This is supported by the observation that although extensive LA scarring is

associated with recurrent arrhythmia after ablation, CFAE ablation appears to negate the impact of this remodelling process to some extent.¹⁹¹

Non-inducibility after PVI has been suggested as an end point for PAF ablation by others, perhaps helping to select those that require further ablation in whatever form.^{63, 227} Haissaguerre et al randomised 70 patients with long episodes of PAF to PVI alone, or PVI plus a mitral isthmus line.⁶³ At 7 months they found that sinus rhythm was maintained in a similar proportion of those with additional mitral isthmus ablation (83%) compared to PVI alone (74%; difference not significant). However, they also found that non-inducibility of atrial arrhythmia at the end of the procedure predicted subsequent maintenance of sinus rhythm, with recurrent arrhythmia in 13% of those with no inducible arrhythmia compared to 38% of those who remained inducible (p = 0.03). Similarly, Oral et al performed PVI and then a posterior line between the PVs and a mitral isthmus line in 100 patients. 60 patients had inducible AF and were randomised to either no further ablation, or further ablation of CFAE and/or linear ablation.²²⁷ At 6 months 86% of those who had additional CFAE ablation ± linear ablation were free from AF, compared to 67% of those randomised to no further ablation (p < 0.05). However, when one considers both recurrent AF and AT there was no difference between groups (65% versus 60%; p = NS). Therefore, if ongoing AF or inducibility of AF after PVI identifies patients that may benefit from CFAE ablation, non-inducibility of AF may be a reasonable end point for PAF. However, evidence for such an aggressive approach is limited to these studies and hence this is not widely practised.

There is similar debate regarding end points for CFAE ablation in persistent AF. Data from the Oral study above suggested that outcome was better in their cohort of patients with persistent AF in those whom AF terminated after PVI compared to those who remained in AF requiring either further ablation or DC cardioversion.⁶⁴ The Bordeaux group also published outcome data for 153 patients with persistent AF who underwent catheter ablation of AF using a standardised stepwise approach (PVI, followed by CFAE ablation, followed by linear lesions) with termination of AF as the procedural end point (achieved in 85%).¹⁷¹ They found that termination of AF during ablation was associated with less recurrent AF after a single procedure, although there was no difference in the rate of patients with recurrent atrial arrhythmia suggesting that patients simply had recurrent AT rather than AF. At 30 ± 11 months after an average of 1.5 procedures, 95% of patients in whom AF terminated remained in sinus rhythm compared to only 52% in whom AF could not be terminated by ablation. Therefore, although termination of AF during ablation meant that patients were more likely to re-present with AT than AF (with a similar overall arrhythmia recurrence rate), ultimately these recurrent arrhythmias were more successfully eliminated and patients were more likely to remain in sinus rhythm in the long term. Factors predicting failure to terminate AF during ablation were longer time in AF, greater LA diameter and shorter LA cycle length, perhaps suggesting greater structural and electrophysiologic remodelling.

In contrast to these results, Elayi et al examined the impact of AF termination during ablation on outcome in 306 patients with persistent AF following a similar stepwise approach (PVI followed by CFAE ablation, but no linear lesions routinely).¹⁸⁴ Termination of AF was achieved during ablation in a smaller

proportion (58%). In patients whom AF terminated during ablation a greater proportion of recurrences were due to AT rather than AF, but with a similar recurrence rate overall (68 % versus 70% at 25 ±7 months; difference not significant) as with the Bordeaux data. However, after a second procedure there was still no difference in the success rate (82% versus 83%; difference not significant). Furthermore, successful ablation of macro-reentrant AT did not predict freedom from AT subsequently, although successful ablation of focal AT did predict freedom from further AT.

The reason for this discrepancy remains unclear. Although all agree that termination of AF predicts mode of arrhythmia recurrence (i.e. AT rather than AF), it does not seem to predict the overall rate of recurrent arrhythmia after a single procedure and may or may not affect final outcome. The Bordeaux group argue that the extensive ablation terminating AF is important mechanistically as it eliminates the ability of the atria to fibrillate, leaving only AT which are potentially easier to deal with. Elayi and co-authors argue that striving for AF termination appears unnecessary and that the extensive ablation taken to achieve this may scar and resultant zones of slow conduction which may ultimately be pro-arrhythmic. Opinion therefore remains divided as to whether termination of AF is necessarily an important clinical end-point. The end points for CFAE ablation also remain unclear, with some groups striving for either termination of AF or abolition of all CFAE, whilst others target CFAE more selectively or for only a limited period of time. Clarification of which CFAE are important in maintaining AF may help determine the optimal end point for CFAE ablation.

1.7 Conclusion and formulation of the current studies

AF is a common problem and is associated with substantial morbidity and mortality. Catheter ablation appears to be an effective treatment for AF, but there remains a paucity of extended follow-up data and hence long term outcome remains uncertain. Although high success rates are reported for catheter ablation of paroxysmal AF, results for persistent AF are not as good. This is likely a reflection of the atrial remodelling process that occurs in AF and due to conditions which cause AF in the first place by causing mechanical stretch of the atria.

The role of adjunctive targets beyond PVI remains unclear. It seems that for persistent AF in particular, the atrial remodelling process may mandate further atrial ablation in some form to achieve acceptable outcomes.^{191, 228} There is currently some enthusiasm for CFAE ablation as a way of targeting the abnormal atrial substrate in AF. However, it remains unclear how the atrial remodelling process relates to CFAE, and whether CFAE in areas of remodelling might perhaps be more important in maintaining AF. Furthermore, it is unclear whether CFAE really represent drivers of AF, are markers for unhealthy tissue with slow conduction, or are simply passive phenomena of no mechanistic importance in AF (such as wavefront collision). There is disagreement as to what constitutes CFAE and great variation in how CFAE are targeted.^{171, 194, 222} In fact, there is currently precious little evidence for targeting any particular location or electrogram morphology during CFAE ablation. This has led some sceptics to conclude that the termination of AF that sometimes occurs during CFAE ablation may simply be due to de-bulking of atrial tissue.

Moreover, although there is some trial data suggesting that CFAE ablation may be beneficial over the short term, there is uncertainty as to whether the creation of wide spread atrial scar using this approach may be pro-arrhythmic over the long term. The studies in this thesis aimed to clarify some of these key issues in CFAE ablation.

Perhaps the most fundamental question in CFAE ablation is whether CFAE are important in maintaining AF, and if they are, what electrogram morphology constitutes an important CFAE and hence ought to be targeted? The hypothesis was therefore formulated that certain CFAE morphologies are of greater importance in the maintenance of AF. If this hypothesis were proved, then it would also prove that CFAE ablation is not simply atrial de-bulking, and provide useful evidence as to what CFAE morphologies ought to be targeted in the clinical setting.

In order to test this hypothesis CFAE first had to be defined more precisely than has been done previously and classified based on morphology. This classification had to be simple enough to be accurately applied by eye in real time, but detailed enough to reproducibly cover all electrogram morphologies. In Chapter 3 of this thesis a classification of CFAE was formulated and its application validated.

This enabled the response to ablation of different CFAE morphologies to be assessed. In Chapter 4, patients undergoing catheter ablation of persistent AF had CFAE classified using this novel classification system and then targeted for ablation according to a strict protocol as part of a randomised trial. The acute

response to ablation of these CFAE morphologies was assessed by monitoring AF cycle length.

To explore the relationship between CFAE and the electrophysiologic remodelling that occurs in AF, a computer model was developed in collaboration with a team of biomedical engineers to simulate wall stress based on left atrial contour and geometry (Chapter 5). Using this model it was possible to test the hypothesis that peaks in LA wall stress are associated with focal electrophysiologic remodelling which maintains AF. The first part of Chapter 5 was therefore to establish a computer model for simulation of wall stress. Secondly, electrophysiologic data were collected during persistent AF and compared to simulated wall stress data from a patient specific LA geometry derived from pre-procedure CT imaging. This allowed assessment of any relationship between LA wall stress, atrial remodelling (as evidence by areas of low voltage or electrical scar), and CFAE. Thirdly, since patients were in persistent AF, it was possible to test the relative importance of peaks in wall stress by examining the response to ablation in these locations. This was assessed by monitoring AF cycle length during CFAE ablation, to see if peaks in wall stress or areas or focal remodelling predicted the response to ablation. It was therefore possible to assess whether the wall stress simulation might be of use in guiding CFAE ablation, potentially offering further refinement of this process beyond the morphological approach being investigated in Chapter 4.

To address these hypotheses it was necessary to study the immediate response to ablation of CFAE in AF. However, important questions remain as to the clinical efficacy of catheter ablation for AF in general, and for CFAE ablation
in particular. There is a paucity of long term follow-up data following catheter ablation of AF with reported success rates varying widely between groups. Some groups report a large difference in results for paroxysmal and persistent AF underscoring a need for further ablation targets beyond PVI, whereas others do not.^{174, 182} For CFAE ablation, randomised trials have typically reported results at approximately 1 year.^{64, 191, 220-225} This may not reflect truly long term outcome and there is concern that the widespread scar caused by CFAE ablation might be pro-arrhythmic over the long term. To address these issues, it was hypothesised firstly that once sinus rhythm is successfully restored, late recurrence occurring more than a year later is uncommon. Secondly, it was hypothesised that long term freedom from AF is achieved in a significantly lower proportion of patients following catheter ablation of persistent AF than for patients with paroxysmal AF. Thirdly, it was hypothesised that targeting of CFAE in addition to PVI increases the long term freedom from atrial arrhythmia in patients with persistent AF.

To test these hypotheses, a prospective registry of patients undergoing catheter ablation of AF at St Bartholomew's Hospital was analysed and all patients followed up to review their rhythm status (Chapter 6 of this thesis). This enabled analysis of long term outcome and whether results were really significantly worse for persistent AF. Patients at St Bartholomew's have undergone a consistent procedure for persistent AF for several years, including PVI and linear lesions at the roof and mitral isthmus from 2002-2007. The impact of targeting CFAE from 2005 onwards was evaluated in this cohort with an otherwise consistent lesion set, allowing an assessment of how this impacted on long term maintenance of sinus rhythm.

Through the studies comprising this thesis it was therefore hoped that several key issues in CFAE ablation could be clarified. In particular, are CFAE important in maintaining AF? If so, which electrogram morphologies are important to target? How does stretch in the walls of the atria impact on focal remodelling, and is this relevant to CFAE? If CFAE are related to focal remodelling, can predicting sites of remodelling be used to target the most important CFAE? Lastly, what is the impact of CFAE ablation as it has conventionally been performed on long term outcome?

Chapter 2

Materials & Methods

Although the main results chapters all involve catheter ablation of AF, the precise methodology varies for each chapter. Therefore a broad description of the patient selection, personnel, equipment, techniques employed, periprocedural management and follow-up for catheter ablation of AF at St Bartholomew's Hospital is provided below, followed by a precise methodology specific to each of the results chapters with detail as where practice differed from routine care.

2.1 Study institution and personnel

All recruitment, procedures, data collection and follow-up were conducted at St Bartholomew's Hospital, which is part of Barts Health NHS Trust. This thesis is comprised of several different studies which required different levels of approval:

- Chapter 3 involved retrospective analysis of electrograms initially, then viewing of electrograms during live cases. This did not require an ethics application.
- Chapter 4 involved detailed mapping studies followed by randomisation to different ablation protocols so as to study the response to ablation of different CFAE morphologies in AF. The study protocol was reviewed by the Trust Cardiac Peer Review Committee and was then approved by East London and The City Research Ethics Committee, UK (reference number 09/H0703/6). The study was financially indemnified by the Trust Research and Development department.

- Chapter 5 involved computer modelling based on patient imaging and correlation with mapping data. These studies were included as part of the same ethics application as the studies in Chapter 4.
- Chapter 6 involved collecting data from an existing prospective registry of all patients undergoing catheter ablation of AF at St Bartholomew's Hospital.
 Follow-up data were acquired by seeing patients in clinic or calling patients by telephone. These data were acquired as audit and service development and did not require an ethics application.

All studies were conceived and designed by the author and the supervisor Professor Richard Schilling who was the principal investigator for the ethics application and subsequent studies constituting chapters 4 and 5. Coinvestigators were Dr Simon Sporton and Dr Mark Earley. Chapter 5 involved developing a computer model to simulate left atrial wall stress based on contour and geometry from CT. This model was produced in collaboration with a team of biomedical engineers from the School of Engineering and Materials Science, Queen Mary's University of London. This team included Professor Wen Wang, Dr Yiling Lu, and Dr Yankai Liu. For a detailed list of contributors and their roles see the Acknowledgements section.

2.1 Patients

All patients were recruited for catheter ablation of AF at the Cardiology Department of St Bartholomew's Hospital, a tertiary referral centre serving predominantly the North East Thames and Essex Regions but also taking quaternary referrals from around the country. Patients with AF were offered catheter ablation if they had symptomatic AF refractory to at least 1 antiarrhythmic drug, or intolerance to antiarrhythmic drugs. Patients already selected for catheter ablation of persistent AF were approached and recruited for the studies constituting chapters 4 and 5 with the following pre-specified exclusion criteria:

- 1. Contraindication to catheter ablation, anticoagulation or TOE
- 2. Contraindication to or intolerance of cardiac CT angiography
- 3. Intracardiac thrombus which cannot be eliminated by anticoagulation
- 4. Valve disease requiring surgical intervention
- 5. Age <18 years or pregnancy
- 6. Any known acute reversible cause of AF e.g. uncontrolled hypertension
- 7. Recent acute coronary syndrome, myocardial infarction, percutaneous coronary intervention or cardiac surgery (within one month).

2.3 Catheter laboratory setup

The setup of equipment in the electrophysiology catheter laboratory is complex, particularly for cases such as catheter ablation of AF which involve the use of 3D mapping systems. The setup of equipment is summarized in Figure 2.1.

Figure 2.1: Catheter laboratory setup.



Legend to Figure 2.1: Diagrammatic representation of the equipment setup in the catheter laboratory. There is continuous ECG monitoring and pulse oximetry, with blood pressure routinely cycled every 3 minutes. Electrophysiologic data from the diagnostic catheters passes to the break out box. These signals and the ECG are then split between the Bard amplifier (Labsystem pro, Bard Electrophysiology, MA, USA) and the Ensite NavX patient interface unit (St Jude Medical, CA, USA) which contains its own amplifier. These signals are then amplified, filtered and digitized by the Bard and NavX amplifiers before being displayed on their respective computer systems. Skin patches are also attached to the Ensite NavX patient interface unit. The electrograms are displayed on a live screen and a review screen for measurement and analysis, with a separate station for the Ensite system and screens for fluoroscopy images. Although the Ensite NavX system was used for all the experimental protocols in chapters 4 and 5, the CARTO XP mapping system (Biosense Webster, Diamond Bar, CA, USA) is also used in our laboratory and hence was used for many patient cases reported in chapter 6.

2.4 Mapping systems

As the number of ablation procedure performed worldwide is increasing exponentially the case mix in many centres is becoming increasingly slanted towards more complex dysrhythmias such as catheter ablation of AF, post ablation atrial tachycardias and ventricular tachycardia. For 'simple' arrhythmias such as typical right atrial flutter or supraventricular tachycardia, mapping using fluoroscopy and the timing of activation relative to a stable reference catheter is usually sufficient to localize the site of earliest activation or the anatomy of the reentry circuit. The ablation required is also often fairly limited. However, this approach requires a sustained, haemodynamically stable and consistent beat to beat mechanism. Complex arrhythmia such as AF cannot be mapped in this way. Furthermore the anatomy of the left atrium is complex and variable between subjects. Lengthy catheter ablation procedures also mean that fluoroscopy use can be excessive. For these reasons, reliance on 3dimensional (3D) mapping systems and other technologies is increasing.

The two most popular 3D mapping systems in use today are Ensite NavX (St Jude Medical, CA, USA) and CARTO (Biosense Webster, Diamond Bar, CA, USA). When these studies were conducted Carto XP was in use, and although Carto 3 has since been released it was not in use at the time of these studies. Likewise, various versions of Ensite NavX have been used at St Bartholomew's over the years, but only version 8 was used for the study cases in chapters 4

and 5 (as the mapping data and geometry had to be exported in a consistent format for the purposes of computer modelling and subsequent analysis), and the recently released Ensite Velocity was not yet in use. Therefore, discussion here focuses on Carto XP and Ensite NavX.

There are features common to both CARTO and Ensite NavX, such as the ability to build a geometry, to display catheter location, to store corresponding spatial and electrophysiologic data (electroanatomic mapping) and to display this in different ways (as isochrone maps, propagation maps, voltage maps and more). However, there are important differences between the systems.

The Ensite NavX System

Endocardial Solutions Inc. (ESI) was founded in 1992, and was acquired by St Jude Medical (CA, USA) in 2005. The original system allowed non-contact mapping, but this has been largely superseded by Ensite NavX which allows electroanatomic mapping using contact electrograms. The system passes a low amplitude 'locator signal' (5.68 kHz for Ensite NavX, changed to 8.14 kHz in the new Velocity system) which alternates between 3 different pairs of skin patches placed on the body's surface in orthogonal planes. The voltage measured from each catheter electrode can be used to locate the catheter in 3 planes (x, y, and z). Up to 64 electrodes can be located on up to 4 conventional catheters.

The chamber geometry is stationary relative to a reference electrode, usually a proximal electrode on the coronary sinus catheter in AF cases. Since cardiac structures move with respiration,^{229, 230} an intra-cardiac reference point means less movement of the geometry relative to the chamber than if a static extra-

cardiac reference is used (as with CARTO).²³⁰ The drawback of using an intracardiac catheter is that if it displaces, the geometry shifts relative to the chamber and can be difficult to replace exactly using fluoroscopy.

Geometry collection involves selecting a catheter (ideally multipolar such as the pulmonary vein mapping catheter) and moving it around the chamber of interest to collect points from the position of the electrodes in 3D space to create a detailed volume composed of many thousands of points. To improve definition of anatomy separate geometries can be collected for different anatomical features. Alternatively, complex anatomy like the LA can be acquired as a single geometry and points then reassigned to create separate geometries for the left atrial appendage and PVs. This is particularly advantageous in AF cases, since the geometry created very much resembles the LA, particularly at the crucial veno-atrial junction (Figure 2.2).

Another feature of the Ensite system is that it allows simultaneous data collection from all electrodes of any/all catheters if desired. It is therefore relatively quick to create a high density map.

Figure 2.2: Mapping with the Ensite system.



Legend to Figure 2.2: Top left shows wide area circumferential ablation being performed for AF. Note how the geometry resembles LA anatomy, particularly at the veno-atrial junction. Top right shows a CFAE map after PVI, with CFAE concentrated at the appendage ridge and at the orifice of the appendage. Bottom left shows an isochronal map from a patient whose rhythm regularised during CFAE ablation. The colours show rotation around a point at the anterior edge of the left atrial appendage, suggesting a localised macro-reentry circuit or rotor. Bottom right shows a reconstruction of the LA from CT fused with the NavX geometry. A circular mapping catheter is placed in the pulmonary vein and yellow lesions are placed where ablation has been performed in order to isolate the pulmonary veins.

The CARTO system

The CARTO system was invented by Shlomo Ben-Haim who founded Biosense in the early 1990s. This was acquired by Johnson & Johnson in 1997 who merged it with Cordis Webster (which produced predominantly catheters) in 1998. The customised ablation catheter (Navistar, Biosense Webster, Diamond Bar, CA, USA) is located by a magnetic sensor near the tip which senses 3 different weak magnetic fields (5×10^{-6} to 5×10^{-5} Tesla) emitted from 3 coils in a locator pad beneath the catheter lab table. Since the strength of the magnetic fields are inversely proportional to the distance between the sensor and each of the 3 coils, the system can triangulate the position of the catheter tip in 3D space. Catheter orientation (calculated from Euler angles which determine rotation in 3 planes called roll, pitch and yaw) is also displayed, not just in terms of which way the catheter is pointing, but also which aspect the catheter deflects toward (shown as red at the tip).

At the start of a case a reference patch is placed on the patient's back overlying the heart and with the patient lying down the device carrying the magnets is aligned within a defined circumference of the reference patch. The position of the reference patch relative to the magnets is recorded to allow repositioning if needed. Although use of an extra-cardiac reference point may slightly diminish the accuracy of chamber localisation, the stability achieved is actually a real strength of the CARTO system.

Using the ablation catheter, corresponding electrical and spatial endocardial points are taken which the system joins to generate a surface representation of the chamber. The geometry created using surface points is inevitably far fewer

than the thousands of anatomical location only points used by Ensite to create a geometry. Consequently, the geometry on CARTO XP can often appear rather orthogonal, particularly at the critical veno-atrial junction where accurate location and placement of lesions is so critical for catheter ablation of AF (Figure 2.3).

Image integration with CARTO and NavX

Image integration has been widely used for catheter ablation of AF, since variability in anatomy of the pulmonary veins, the dimensions of their ostia and the width of the appendage ridge may impact on the techniques used for PVI. CARTO and Ensite both have the facility to import 3D reconstructions of the LA (or any chamber) from CT or MRI. The chamber of interest is segmented, imported into the case and registered with the geometry. The registration process differs somewhat between the mapping systems.

CARTOMERGE (Biosense Webster, Diamond Bar, CA, USA) has 2 steps.²³¹ 'Landmark registration' involves moving the catheter to 3 or more sites around the chamber and placing user-defined landmarks on the 3D reconstruction. 'Surface registration' involves creating a point by point geometry of the chamber, which CARTO will then auto-register with the 3D reconstruction (although this can be manually corrected). The reconstruction is then simply displayed in the same uncorrected space as the geometry (Figure 2.3).

Figure 2.3: Ablation guided by CARTO.



Legend to Figure 2.3: Top left image shows an activation map on CARTO XP, with a tachycardia originating from the right upper pulmonary vein. Top right shows an activation map in antero-posterior and left anterior oblique views, demonstrating a flutter circuit running clockwise around the mitral valve annulus. The bottom left image shows a LA geometry with image integration and a lesion set for persistent AF: red lesions are isolating the PVs, pink lesions are linear lesions, and yellow lesions are targeting of CFAE. Bottom middle panel shows image integration being used to guide PVI for AF in a case with variant anatomy (a left common trunk and a right sided roof vein). Bottom right shows a clipping plane looking into the left PVs and appendage to help guide ablation on these complex structures.

Ensite Verismo (St Jude Medical CA, USA) requires the user to define corresponding pairs of fiducial points on the geometry and the reconstruction. Verismo then 'stretches' the geometry to fit the reconstruction, assuming the reconstruction to be correct (Figure 2.2). Regardless of these differences, the registration of imaging appears similarly accurate for both mapping systems and are accurate to within 2-3mm.^{231, 232}

Data regarding the clinical benefit of image integration in the context of catheter ablation for AF is conflicting. ²³³⁻²³⁷ It has been suggested that part of the benefit may be derived from simply knowing the anatomy, rather than image integration *per se*.²³⁵ It is also noteworthy that all the trials to date have used CARTOMERGE and there have been no trials examining the role of Ensite Verismo.

2.5 Catheter ablation of AF at St Bartholomew's

Peri-procedural management of patients

Patients stopped warfarin 5 days pre-procedure and self administered enoxaparin (1.5 mg/Kg subcutaneously od) until the day before the procedure. Patients were routinely admitted the day before the procedure for routine blood tests, a transoesophageal echocardiogram (TOE) to rule out intra-cardiac thrombus and left atrial imaging for integration into the 3D mapping system (either CT angiography or cardiac MRI). Patients were taken to the catheter laboratory in the fasted state, and procedures were performed under local anaesthetic (lidocaine) and moderate sedation (midazolam and diamorphine).

Heparin was administered, starting with 5000 units after venous access was obtained, a further 5000 units after transseptal puncture, and further boluses to maintain activated clotting time 300-400 seconds. Post procedure femoral sheaths were removed once activated clotting time had fallen below 150 seconds. Warfarin loading began the day after the procedure with Enoxaparin administered until INR was therapeutic.

Catheter ablation of AF

Typically venous access was via the right femoral vein with 3 sheaths. A multipolar catheter was passed to the coronary sinus (a decapolar catheter for persistent AF or a quadripolar catheter for paroxysmal AF). After double transseptal puncture a pulmonary vein mapping catheter and an ablation catheter were introduced to the LA. Ablation catheters were irrigated with 2 ml/minute heparinised saline, increased to \leq 30 ml/minute where temperature increase

limited energy delivery. Power was generally limited to 25 W and 50°C near the PV ostia, 30 W and 50 °C in the body of the, 40 W and 45°C at the cavo-tricuspid isthmus.

Catheter ablation of AF at St Bartholomew's has remained fairly consistent over recent years. All procedures were guided by 3D mapping systems (either CARTO or Ensite NavX). Since 2004 CT or MRI imaging was used routinely for image integration.^{232, 235} PVI was by wide area circumferential ablation (WACA) with lesions placed 1-2 cm outside the PV ostia to isolate them as ipsilateral pairs, with confirmation of electrical isolation since 2002. All patients with persistent AF had linear lesions added at the mitral isthmus (between mitral valve and left sided WACA ring), the roof between WACA rings, and the cavotricuspid isthmus in patients with a history of typical atrial flutter. Block was verified by examining activation sequence either side of linear lesions after restoration of sinus rhythm. From 2005, after WACA and linear lesions if the patient remained in AF, CFAE were systematically targeted throughout the left then right atria. CFAE were identified visually with operators using a common consensus definition: electrograms with (i) prolonged complexes with continuous deflections from baseline (ii) a rapid cycle length (< 120ms) or (iii) complexes with multiple deflections (without distinguishing between high and low amplitude signals). If at any point AF organised into AT this was mapped and ablated. If sinus rhythm was not restored following these lesions the patient was cardioverted with a DC shock. The exact mapping and ablation protocols for chapters 4 and 5 are described below as they differ slightly from this standardised lesion set.

Follow-up

Patients were discharged the day after the procedure, having stopped all AADs. As early recurrences often settle spontaneously,^{172, 238} patients were managed medically for the first 3 months post ablation if symptoms recurred. Patients were followed up at 3 months, and again at 6 months if symptomatic initially, with a period of ambulatory monitoring of 2-7 days. Those with persistent AF/AT or symptomatic PAF at 3 months were offered a repeat procedure. Anticoagulation was continued for a minimum of 3 months and ongoing anticoagulation advised if the CHADS2 score was \geq 2 (regardless of rhythm) as per current guidelines.^{189, 239}

2.6 Methods for Chapter 3

This chapter involved three key steps which are detailed below:

- A classification of electrograms had to be described to grade the degree of electrogram fractionation in AF. This was based on retrospective review of CFAE targeted in historical cases.
- Secondly, the utility of the classification had to be tested to ensure that it could be reproducibly applied in real time live during cases.
- 3) Thirdly, if the two steps above were successful, this novel grading system could be used to assess automated CFAE detection algorithms available on 3D mapping systems, both in terms of their accuracy in detecting CFAE and their ability to assess the degree of electrogram fractionation.

Study Population

All patients studied underwent first time catheter ablation for persistent AF. All had symptomatic AF despite at least one antiarrhythmic drug.

Analysis of electrograms

Electrograms were recorded after LA catheterisation but before any ablation was performed, at points evenly distributed around the LA as determined by electroanatomic mapping systems. All electrograms were recorded with a 3.5 mm irrigated tip ablation catheter (Navistar Thermo-Cool or Thermo-Cool Celsius, Biosense Webster) with 2-5-2 mm electrode configuration. Unclipped bipolar electrograms were examined on the computer-based digital amplifier/recording system (Labsystem pro, Bard Electrophysiology, MA). Recordings were filtered at 30 to 250 Hz and displayed at 100 mm/Second. Electrograms were examined on digital display (rather than paper printouts) for development and testing of the classification system. After collection of data ablation was performed as described above in section 2.5.

(1) Development of classification

Electrograms were reviewed from the 118 patients with persistent AF who underwent catheter ablation in our institution over the last 10 months. Using these data we concluded that the following were relevant and distinguishable features of fractionated electrograms:

 The presence of rapid deflections from baseline. Deflections were distinguished from low amplitude noise and far-field activity by defining them as (a) amplitude ≥ 0.05 mV, (b) amplitude also ≥ 20% of the largest peak to peak deflection of an atrial electrogram within 500 ms, (c) 'sharp'. The criterion used for sharp was a slope of \geq 45° from the isoelectric line for the upstroke and the downstroke. With complex electrograms where the deflections did not reach baseline, an extrapolation of the deflection was extended to cross the isoelectric line as in Figure 2.4. For the purposes of analysis far field ventricular electrograms were easily identified and discarded (See Figure 2.5, example electrogram for grade 5).

2. The proportion of a sample occupied by rapid deflections. We distinguished between discrete complex electrograms (i.e. with multiple deflections per complex), and those with more continuous fractionation. Atrial effective refractory periods as low as 70 ms have been recorded in animal models during autonomic stimulation.^{212, 240} This was therefore regarded as an absolute minimum possible and deflections < 70 ms apart were regarded as part of the same complex, since it was not thought possible for this to represent successive wavefronts passing through the same tissue (although it is recognised that other groups have used variable times, typically ranging from 50-70 ms).^{194, 241} Complexes lasting \geq 70 ms were regarded as fractionated and were further subdivided based on the proportion of the electrogram occupied by fractionation and the consistency of fractionated activity. Targeting electrograms fractionated for ≥70% of the recording is associated with an increase in cycle length, and uninterrupted segments lasting ≥1 Second have been proposed as targets based on their increased prevalence in persistent AF.²⁴¹⁻²⁴³

3. The amplitude of the signal was categorised to reflect whether there may be electrically inert scar tissue, a small mass of fibrillating tissue, or an epicardial source of activation.²⁴⁴ Peak to peak atrial complexes <0.5 mV have been regarded as low amplitude signals previously.^{221, 245}

Using these strict criteria our grading system was devised. Each grade of electrogram is defined in Table 2.1 and examples of each are shown in Figure 2.4. A suffix was added to the numerical grade to reflect signal amplitude, with 'a' denoting a peak to peak deflection of ≥ 0.5 mV in greater than half of all 500 ms intervals during the recording, and 'b' denoting signals not meeting this criterion.

Modification of the classification system during development

Initially grade 5 was divided into normal electrograms which were rapid (cycle length \leq 120 ms) or slow (cycle length > 120 ms), as a cycle length of 70-120ms has generally been included as criteria for identifying CFAE in clinical trials.^{194,}²⁴⁵ However, on testing application of the classification system (see below) this distinction was found to be redundant. When the cycle length was < 120ms, the deflections would often fall within 70ms of the last and hence were classified as continuous fractionation. This would then be classified as grade 1, 2 or 3 depending on the proportion of the sample occupied by this continuous fraction system.

Grade	Electrogram criteria
1	Uninterrupted fractionated activity
	Fractionated activity (defined as continuous deflections without pause
	at the isoelectric line for ≥ 70ms) occupying ≥70% of sample, <i>and</i> at
	least 1 uninterrupted episode of fractionated activity lasting \geq 1s.
2	Interrupted fractionated activity
	Fractionated activity occupying ≥70% of sample.
3	Intermittent fractionated activity
	Fractionated activity occupying 30-70% of sample.
4	Complex electrograms
	Discrete electrograms (<70ms) and complex (≥5 direction changes),
	with any fractionated activity occupying <30% of sample (otherwise
	grade 3).
5	Normal electrogram
	Discrete electrograms (<70ms) and simple (\leq 4 direction changes).
6	Scar
	No discernible deflections.

Legend to Table 2.1: In assessment of electrograms, for a deflection to be counted it must be a sharp signal discernible from noise, with amplitude both > 0.05 mV and >20% of the largest deflection within 500ms. Deflections occurring within 70ms of the last deflection were regarded as part of the same complex, with complexes lasting ≥70ms regarded as continuous fractionation. In addition

to the numerical grade, a suffix is added to describe amplitude. The suffix 'a' denotes a high amplitude signal (at least 1 peak to peak deflection of $\geq 0.5 \text{ mV}$ in the majority of 500ms segments of the recording) and 'b' denotes low amplitude signals not meeting this criterion.

Figure 2.4: Analysis of complex electrograms.



Legend to Figure 2.4: To distinguish local electrical signals from far-field electrograms and wandering baseline, an objective criterion to describe 'sharp' deflections was developed. The angle between both the up-stroke and the down-stroke of the deflection must be $\geq 45^{\circ}$ to the isoelectric line. For complex electrograms where the deflections may not reach baseline, an extrapolation of that line was continued to cross the isoelectric line allowing the angle to be measured. In this case the angle is calculated as 60°.

Figure 2.5: Examples of electrograms from the revised grading system.



Legend to Figure 2.5: Grade 1 shows uninterrupted fractionated activity without pause at the isoelectric line for \geq 70ms lasting 1 Second. Grade 2 shows fractionated activity which is interrupted by pauses at the isolelectric line of \geq 70ms but still occupying > 70% of the recording. Grade 3 shows intermittent fractionated activity which occupies between 30 and 70% of the recording. Grade 4 shows complex electrograms (\geq 5 deflections) which are discrete lasting for < 70ms. Towards the end of this sample, some complexes merge to last 320 ms (i.e. longer than 70 ms) and hence this part of the recording is considered fractionated. However, this is still grade 4 as < 30% of the sample is fractionated. Grade 5 shows discrete electrograms (i.e. < 70ms in duration and \leq 4 direction changes). There are two examples of far-field ventricular electrograms which can be easily distinguished from near field electrograms. Grade 6 shows scar with no discernible deflections.

(2) Application of the classification system

We sought to examine whether the electrogram classification system could be accurately applied during cases by rapid online visual inspection. Electrograms recorded for 10 Seconds were viewed on the computer-based recording system and graded by an experienced electrophysiologist. It has been demonstrated previously that recordings of 5 seconds or greater are adequate for determining the duration and characteristics of CFAEs.²⁴⁶ Variable times have been used in the literature ranging commonly from 2-10 seconds.^{201, 246-248} We used the maximum analysis time (10 Seconds) to ensure accurate results. 100 electrograms over 10 patients (10 per case) were chosen at random from those graded during the case and subjected to detailed manual analysis offline by a second investigator blinded to the previous results. These results were then compared.

As CFAE can be consistent, fleeting or cyclical,^{201, 249, 250} the proportion of a sample that is fractionated can vary which may affect the grade determined. Over the short term however, automated assessment of samples longer than 5 seconds has yielded consistent results compared to longer samples.²⁴⁶ To determine the consistency of fractionation and grade when shorter samples were analysed, the percentage of the sample that was fractionated and the grade determined by manual measurement were calculated for the first 3 Seconds, then recalculated adding successive seconds up to 10 Seconds. The absolute percentage difference in fractionation compared to 10 Seconds.

(3) Validation of commercial automated detection systems

As electrogram appearance may be altered by differences in amplification and filtering of signals between systems, validation of automated CFAE detection systems was done by viewing electrograms on the 3D mapping systems. The same sample analysed by the mapping system was graded by visual inspection. Electrograms were graded offline by visual inspection on the mapping system and compared to the automated result for the same sample. As this process is slightly different to the process of grading live during cases, the validation process was repeated. In total 1000 electrograms were analysed on the 3D mapping systems (500 on each one assessed). Of these, 100 electrograms (50 from each system) were chosen at random and subjected to detailed manual analysis offline by a second investigator blinded to the previous results. These results were then compared.

The grade determined by visual inspection was compared to the score from automated algorithms. To assess automated CFAE detection, grades 1-4 were considered fractionated. To assess differentiation between highly fractionated signals and less fractionated electrograms, grade 1-2 were considered highly fractionated. Correlation between grade and automated scores were also examined to characterise automated assessment of degree of electrogram fractionation.

Automated detection by Carto

There are three algorithms for CFAE detection available on Carto XP (Biosense Webster Inc., Diamond Bar, CA) which work by assessing intervals between deflections. A deflection must meet certain criteria to be counted by the

software. Each deflection must have a minimum and a maximum width to exclude noise and wandering baselines (15 and 30 ms respectively are default settings). Deflections must also fall within a window of amplitude that can be varied (factory settings suggest low voltage deflections between 0.05 and 0.15 mV be selected). The software tags the deflections meeting these criteria on-screen, and the algorithms then calculate a score as follows:

- The interval confidence level (ICL) counts the number of intervals between tagged deflections falling within a range (70-120 ms is suggested) as shown in Figure 2.6. The ICL was calculated using the factory settings (ICL-FS) as above, and using previously published optimised settings (ICL-OS) where the upper limit of amplitude for sensing deflections was increased to 1mV.²⁵¹
- The average complex interval (ACI) calculates the mean interval between tagged deflections which fall within the specified range (70-500 ms was used). Factory settings were used as above.
- The shortest complex interval (SCI) calculates the shortest interval between tagged deflections which fall within the specified range (70-500 ms). Factory settings were used as above.

2.5 Second bipolar electrograms were reviewed on Carto (this parameter cannot be altered on the software).

Figure 2.6: Automated detection of CFAE using Carto.



Legend to Figure 2.6: This electrogram is shown as it appears on Carto. The software will recognise deflections only if they meet certain criteria. To be counted deflections must be between 15-30 ms in duration, and within a window of amplitude marked by the blue and red lines (in this example between 0.05 and 0.15 mV). Deflections meeting these criteria are marked with white dots, all other deflections are marked with purple dots and ignored. The interval confidence level (ICL) algorithm counts the number of intervals between deflections which fall within a pre-specified range (the factory settings suggest a range of 70-120 ms). The intervals marked with the yellow lines above will be counted and those marked with the orange line below which fall outside of the 70-120 ms range are ignored.

Automated detection by Ensite NavX

The Ensite software uses a similar set of criteria to recognise deflections. We adopted parameters used previously.²²¹ The minimum amplitude was set at 0.1mV (there is no upper limit for amplitude specified on this software), with a minimum deflection width of 20ms and refractory 'blanking' period of 30ms. The software then tags deflections meeting these criteria on-screen and calculates the mean interval between deflections or 'CFAE mean'. 5 Second electrograms were viewed for Ensite NavX (St. Jude Medical, Minneapolis, MN) as this has been shown to give consistent results.²⁴⁶

Statistics

Continuous variables are reported as mean \pm standard deviation, or median (range) if not normally distributed. Correlation between observers was tested with Cohen's Kappa coefficient (κ). Correlation between grade and automated scores were examined using Spearman rank correlation coefficient. For each algorithm sensitivity and specificity were calculated using previously defined cut off values. Receiver operating characteristic (ROC) analysis was performed using SPSS 16.0 software (SPSS, Chicago, IL). This was used to determine optimal cut-off for detection of CFAE and selection of highly fractionated signals. Area under ROC curves is presented with 95% confidence intervals. There are currently no standardised statistical tests to compare the area under ROC curves when they are derived from different cases.

2.7 Methods for Chapter 4

<u>Methods</u>

Study population and randomisation procedure

The study population was comprised of 20 patients who underwent catheter ablation of persistent AF at a single institution. Randomisation involved a random number generator, with sealed envelopes opened on the day of the procedure. Although patients and physicians performing clinical follow up were blinded, the nature of the study did not allow blinding of the operator. All patients gave written informed consent. The study was approved by East London and The City Research Ethics Committee, and was prospectively registered on NIH clinicaltrials.gov (NCT00894400).

Study protocol

The peri-procedural management of patients and equipment is as discussed in Section 2.5. AADs were not stopped pre-procedure. Under local anaesthetic (lidocaine) and conscious sedation (midazolam and diamorphine) a decapolar catheter (Viking, Bard EP, MA, USA) was inserted into the coronary sinus and a hexapolar catheter (Supreme, St. Jude Medical, MN, USA) placed in the right atrial appendage. After double trans-septal puncture a 14 pole deflectable PV mapping catheter (Orbiter PV, Bard EP, MA, USA) and a 3.5 mm irrigated ablation catheter (Thermo-Cool Celsius, Biosense Webster, CA, USA) were introduced to the LA. All electrograms targeted for CFAE ablation were recorded using the 3.5 mm ablation catheter with a 2-5-2 mm electrode configuration. Unclipped bipolar electrograms were examined on a computer-

based digital amplifier/recording system (Labsystem pro, Bard EP, MA, USA). Recordings were filtered at 30 to 250 Hz and displayed at 100 mm/Second.

Mapping

Right and left atrial geometries were created using a 3D mapping system (Ensite NavX, St Jude, CA, USA). The PV mapping catheter (0.75 - 5 - 0.75 configuration) was used to record 10 second electrograms at evenly spaced points which were graded according to our validated classification (described in Section 2.6). Electrograms were assigned a number on a scale from 1-6, with 1 being most fractionated and 5 being a normal electrogram (scar being nominally designated grade 6), and a letter 'a' or 'b' for high or low amplitude respectively (the definition of each grade and the suffix for amplitude are shown in Table 2.1, with examples of each shown in Figure 2.5).

Electrograms were located using 22 and 16 segment models of the left and right atria (Figure 2.7). For each map, at least 1 set of electrograms was recorded using the PV mapping catheter for each segment, and the most fractionated grade recorded.



A. Left atrium 22 segment model





Legend to Figure 2.7: (A) Anterior and posterior views of the LA, showing the 22 segment model. (B) Right anterior oblique and left lateral views of the right atrium showing the 16 segment model.

After PVI a further LA CFAE map was acquired and used to guide subsequent CFAE ablation. The pre- PVI map of the right atrium was used to guide ablation, since no ablation had yet been performed there. During CFAE ablation, electrogram grade was re-checked in each segment prior to ablation there. The effect of PVI on LA CFAE distribution was determined by comparing pre and post PVI maps. The stability during CFAE ablation was assessed by comparing the maps used to guide ablation with the grade found in each segment during CFAE ablation.

Ablation

PVI was performed by WACA, with electrical isolation confirmed using the PV mapping catheter as described in Section 2.5.

Targeting of CFAE

Patients were randomised to targeting of CFAE starting with the most fractionated grade first (i.e. grades 1 to 5) in group 1, or starting with the least fractionated first (i.e. grades 5 to 1) in group 2. ^{199, 252}Since grade 5 electrograms were considered normal and served as control lesions, only 5 were ablated per patient. These were placed in locations that could later be incorporated into linear lesions. Once all LA CFAE were abolished and 5 grade 5 electrograms targeted, the process was repeated in the right atrium. Targeting of CFAE continued until atrial tachycardia or sinus rhythm ensued, or all atrial CFAE were abolished. Radiofrequency energy was delivered until electrogram amplitude was reduced by \geq 80% or 60s of energy delivered.

If AF persisted after abolition of CFAE, linear lesions were added at the mitral isthmus and the roof. A cavotricuspid isthmus line was added only in patients with a history of typical right atrial flutter. If at any point AF organised into atrial tachycardia this was mapped and ablated. If sinus rhythm was not restored following these lesions the patient was cardioverted with a DC shock. PVI was then re-confirmed, and if necessary veins were re-isolated.

AFCL is thought to reflect the number of drivers supporting AF.²⁵³ It lengthens progressively during ablation until termination of AF, with prolongation reflecting clinical outcome.⁶³ AFCL has been used by others to quantify response to ablation, and an increase of \geq 5-6 ms has been regarded as significant.^{241, 254,} ²⁵⁵ Mean AFCL was determined manually over 30 cycles from bipolar electrograms recorded at the apex of the left and right atrial appendages (where electrograms are high amplitude and AFCL is unambiguous) before and after each CFAE lesion.

We analysed baseline AFCL variability and considered a change \geq mean + 2 standard deviations as significant. The cycle length of fractionated electrograms (grades 1-3) was ambiguous and was therefore not quantified. The cycle length of complex electrograms (grade 4) was measured manually over the 10 second sample, with segments of continuous fractionation discarded (< 30% of sample as per definition of grade 4).

The randomised strategy was employed:

(i) To control for any cumulative effect of ablation on AFCL.

- (ii) To examine whether elimination of highly fractionated electrograms first reduces the number of less fractionated electrograms remaining.
- (iii) To assess whether the order in which CFAE were targeted affects the amount of ablation required to abolish CFAE/terminate AF.

Inter-operator variability

All CFAE targeted were classified in real time by visual inspection. Electrograms were later graded off-line with the benefit of on-screen callipers by a second operator blinded to the earlier grade, and the two grades compared. AFCL was also re-measured by a second operator before 5 lesions chosen at random in each patient to allow assessment of inter-operator variability.

Statistics

Continuous variables are reported as mean ± standard deviation, or median (range) if not normally distributed. Continuous data were compared by Student's t-test if normally distributed or Wilcoxon two-sample test if not normally distributed. Categorical data were compared by chi-squared test.

Since this study was completely novel there was no pilot data available for sample size estimation. After 20 patients interim analysis was conducted to clarify sample size, but showed that the primary end-point had been met.

To assess the primary end-point, which was a comparison of the response to ablation of each CFAE grade, the mean percentage of lesions causing AFCL prolongation for each grade were compared using repeated measures analysis of variance. To assess the impact of the order of ablation, group was included as an independent variable (repeated measures MANOVA).

The number of CFAE per patient did not permit inclusion of further dependent variables in addition to CFAE grade in the repeated measures MANOVA design. Therefore, response to ablation was assessed across all lesions using binary logistic regression, including grade, order of ablation, amplitude (categorised as high or low) and location (in the left or right atrium) as covariates. However, it is recognised that this approach did not account for the variable response to ablation between patients.

The effect of the order of ablation on the mean number of lesions per patient for each grade was compared using repeated measures MANOVA. Although comparison of the number of lesions between grades from MANOVA was not thought meaningful, comparison within each grade between groups was using Student's t test.

Agreement between observers for determination of CFAE grade was tested with Cohen's Kappa coefficient (κ).
2.8 Methods for Chapter 5

The methods for this chapter can be broken down into three overlapping stages:

- A computer model was established to simulate left atrial wall stress in 3D reconstructions of the LA from CT scans. This stage consisted of (i) a pilot phase, (ii) a working model phase, and (iii) exploring variation in the model, to see how challenging certain assumptions within the model affect the simulation.
- 2) Electrophysiologic data were collected at the time of catheter ablation for persistent AF and compared to simulated wall stress data using a patient specific LA geometry derived from a pre-procedure CT scan. This allowed correlation between wall stress and electrophysiologic parameters, in particular areas of low voltage and CFAE.
- 3) The importance of regions with high wall stress in maintaining AF was evaluated by examining how wall stress impacts on the response to CFAE ablation, as determined by change in AFCL.

Study population

The study population was comprised of patients who underwent first time catheter ablation of persistent AF at a single institution. This study was approved by East London and The City Research Ethics Committee, UK (reference number 09/H0703/6). All patients gave written informed consent.

Electrophysiology study

The peri-procedural management and equipment used has been discussed in the Section 2.5. A decapolar catheter (Viking, Bard EP, MA, USA) was inserted into the coronary sinus and a hexapolar catheter (Supreme, St. Jude Medical, MN, USA) placed in the right atrial appendage. After double trans-septal puncture a 14 pole deflectable PV mapping catheter (Orbiter PV, Bard EP, MA, USA) and a 3.5 mm irrigated ablation catheter (Thermo-Cool Celsius, Biosense Webster, CA, USA) were introduced to the LA. Prior to any ablation a LA geometry was created using a 3D mapping system (Ensite NavX, St Jude, CA, USA).

All patients underwent a gated 128 slice CT scan of the LA within 6 hours of the procedure. All patients were assessed as euvolaemic before scanning and had a mean central venous pressure between 0 and 15 mmHg at the start of the procedure subsequently. All patients were in rate controlled persistent AF with a resting ventricular rate below 100 beats per minute on 12 lead ECG prior to CT scanning. CT scans were segmented on proprietary software (Ensite Verismo, St Jude, CA, USA) to create a 3D reconstruction of the LA, which was then registered with the geometry as described previously.²³² CT imaging of the LA provides high quality reconstructions which can be registered to the LA geometry with an error of only 1-3 mm, regardless of whether CT scans and/or geometries are acquired in AF or sinus rhythm.^{232, 256}

Signal processing and waveform analysis

The PV mapping catheter was moved around the LA to acquire electrograms at evenly spaced points, creating a map of electrophysiologic data prior to any ablation in AF. Catheter contact was verified using a combination of the 3D mapping system, the catheter shape on fluoroscopy and electrogram inspection. However, no catheter contact monitoring technology was used and it

is recognized that variation in contact force may change electrogram properties to some extent. Five second electrograms were recorded for analysis, since this has been shown to produce consistent results.²⁴⁶ The Ensite NavX software recognizes deflections in the waveform based on a number of criteria which can be varied by the user (as described in Chapter 3). Each deflection must have a minimum width to exclude noise and a blanking period to prevent double counting (20 ms and 30 ms respectively have been shown to correlate with visual assessment of electrograms). A minimum of 0.05 mV was used. The software tags deflections meeting these criteria on-screen, and uses algorithms to generate a score for:

- Electrogram voltage amplitude the mean of the largest 'peak to peak' deflection in each electrogram complex.
- CFAE mean the mean interval between deflections, or mean cycle length. This is a continuous variable with shorter mean cycle length taken to mean greater electrogram fractionation. However, for assessment of CFAE distribution < 120 ms was considered a CFAE.

Therefore, for each electrophysiologic data point where a waveform was obtained, the mapping system ascribed a coordinate (in the same 3D space as the LA reconstruction) and calculated a value for each of these 2 parameters.

Ablation

The PVs were isolated by WACA, with lesions placed 1-2 cm outside the PV ostia to isolate them in ipsilateral pairs. Electrical isolation was confirmed using the PV mapping catheter, then this was placed in the LA appendage for

monitoring of LA AFCL. Next CFAE were systematically targeted throughout the left then right atria until sinus rhythm was restored or all CFAE were abolished. Radiofrequency energy was applied until electrogram amplitude was reduced by \geq 80% or 60s of energy delivered. If patients remained in AF after abolition of all CFAE, linear lesions were added at the mitral isthmus (between mitral valve and left inferior PV), the roof between left and right PVs, and the cavotricuspid isthmus in patients with a history of typical atrial flutter. If at any point AF organised into atrial tachycardia this was mapped and ablated. If sinus rhythm was not restored following these lesions the patient was cardioverted with a DC shock.

Assessment of AFCL

Mean AFCL was determined manually over 30 cycles from bipolar electrograms recorded at the apex of the left and right atrial appendages, where electrograms are high-voltage and hence AFCL is unambiguous, before and after ablation of each CFAE lesion. Baseline AFCL variability was measured over 10 successive segments of 30 cycles in all patients prior to any ablation. A change of \geq mean + 2 standard deviations of baseline variability was considered significant.

Stress Modelling (1): the pilot phase.

Four CT scans were segmented using CARTOMERGE (Biosense Webster, Diamond Bar, CA, USA) to create 3D reconstructions of the LA as described previously.²³¹ These reconstructions were exported from the mapping system and used to simulate wall stress distribution on proprietary software (Finite Element Analysis, ABAQUS Inc, Pawtucket, RI, USA). The LA and proximal PVs were essentially modelled as a homogenous linear elastic shell. The model was then improved by adding layers of complexity based on the assumptions below:

- Since the resolution of CT is approximately 1mm, this is insufficient to accurately determine regional differences in thickness of the LA wall (which varies from 1-5 mm) or the muscular sleeves at the PVs (which is approximately 1mm and tapers towards the first division of the PV).⁶⁶ Therefore the LA was assumed to have uniform thickness of 2mm.
- The wall thickness of the PVs were assumed to taper from 2 mm to 1 mm over a distance of 1 cm from the PV ostia. The surface beyond the first division of the PVs was not included in the analysis.
- The LA was considered suspended by the 4 PVs which were fixed in the model.
- 4. The PVs were assumed to be open, and the mitral valve assumed to be shut. The mitral valve annulus was not included in the analysis.

Values for LA physical properties including Young's modulus (a measure of 'stiffness') and Poisson's ratio (a measure of the degree to which stress causes deformation parallel to and perpendicular to the force applied to a surface) were

adopted from the literature.²⁵⁷ Von Mises stress distribution was predicted for a trans-mural pressure difference of 20 mmHg.

It had initially been planned to use this methodology for the whole study: using CARTOMERGE to segment CT scans and produce the LA reconstruction, and CARTO (Biosense Webster, Diamond Bar, CA, USA) for the clinical case to collect electroanatomic mapping and ablation data. However, this presented two problems:

- 1. Using CARTOMERGE, any electroanatomic data exists in the same 3D space as the geometry, but is not truly merged with it. The data extracted from CARTO therefore still requires some degree of registration between the electroanatomic data points and the nearest point on the 3D reconstruction of the LA to allow any comparison with wall stress values (which are simulated on the surface of the LA reconstruction). This registration process presented enormous difficulties from an engineering perspective and meant that comparison between wall stress data and electrophysiologic data might be limited to a visual comparison using a compartmentalised 3D model of the LA (it was initially planned to use the model in Figure 2.7).
- Electroanatomic data points can only be acquired at the tip of the ablation catheter one point at a time. This was thought to be a limitation for the acquisition of high density electroanatomic data.

Therefore, although a working computer model was developed during this pilot phase, it was decided to change the methodology and use the Ensite NavX mapping system (St Jude Medical, CA, USA) for the clinical correlation and ablation studies. Using the Ensite Verismo software (St Jude Medical CA, USA)

for segmenting CTs, creating the 3D reconstruction of the LA and registering this with the geometry in the clinical case is comparable to using CARTOMERGE (as detailed above in Section 2.4). However, a subtle difference with Ensite Verismo is that the geometry is 'stretched' to fit the nearest parts of the 3D reconstruction of the LA, so that the exported electrophysiologic data points are projected onto the same 3D LA geometry that was used to simulate wall stress. This avoided a technically challenging procedure from an engineering standpoint with the added advantage that this registration process had already been shown to be accurate to within approximately 2 mm.²³² Furthermore, the Ensite NavX system allowed acquisition of multiple electrophysiologic data points simultaneously, allowing a high density map to be created much more quickly.

Stress Modelling (2): the working model phase.

The LA reconstruction and electrophysiologic data were exported from the Ensite NavX mapping system and wall stress simulated as described in the pilot phase. The distribution of peaks in wall stress was assessed using the 22 segment model of the LA shown in Figure 2.7. To assess the relationship between LA electrophysiology and wall stress, the values derived for each electrophysiologic data point (electrogram voltage amplitude and CFAE mean) were compared to simulated wall stress at the nearest point on the LA reconstruction.

Stress modelling (3): Exploring variations of the model

Although the accuracy of the geometry is the most important factor when simulating wall stress,²⁵⁸ the wall thickness and the transmural pressure

gradient are also very important. Hence, to ascertain whether the assumptions of the model were too simplistic to allow a meaningful wall stress simulation, the impact of varying these parameters on wall stress distribution was explored.

The trans-mural pressure gradient is complex owing to extra-cardiac structures, changing intra-atrial pressure during the cardiac cycle and changing intrathoracic pressure during respiration. Although it is not possible to fully account for this regional and temporal variation, we addressed the impact of a uniform change in the transmural pressure gradient. Simulated wall stress values were compared when 10 mmHg and 20 mmHg trans-mural pressure gradients were used. The increase in wall stress resulting from this increase in pressure was evaluated by examining the mean percentage increase in stress for each element in the model. To examine whether the pattern of wall stress distribution was altered, the elements in the model were ranked from highest to lowest wall stress values in the 10 mmHg simulation, and the mean change in the percentile ranking for each element was assessed when the trans-mural pressure was increased to 20 mmHg.

Although current imaging modalities do not permit regional assessment of wall thickness, it is recognized that certain areas of the LA are usually thicker, in particular the septum and the left atrial appendage.²⁵⁹ Therefore the simulation was repeated with a 3 mm wall thickness at these sites. The impact on wall stress at these sites and any resultant effect on the correlation with electrophysiologic parameters were evaluated.

Statistics

Since this study was completely novel there was no pilot data available for sample size estimation. After 20 patients interim analysis was conducted to clarify sample size, but showed that key comparisons had reached statistical significance.

Continuous variables are reported as mean \pm standard deviation, or median (range) if not normally distributed. Correlation is inevitably affected by confounding factors including variation in catheter contact force and the small proportion of points which have poor contact. The electrophysiologic data points for each patient were therefore divided into quartiles based on wall stress at their location, with the median value taken as representative of each quartile to reduce the impact of outlying data. The changes in electrophysiologic parameters (voltage amplitude and CFAE mean) were therefore assessed across quartiles of wall stress for each patient (with a single median value per patient for each quartile of wall stress) using repeated measures analysis of variance (MANOVA). To assess any interaction between the effect of LA volume and wall stress on electrophysiologic parameters, LA volume was included as a covariate in the MANOVA design. To examine the relationship between electrogram voltage amplitude and CFAE (i.e. independent of wall stress), the effect on CFAE mean across quartiles of electrogram voltage for each patient was assessed in the same fashion.

To evaluate the relationship between LA voltage and CFAE, the percentage of the LA occupied by CFAE in each patient was compared to (1) the median value for LA voltage and (2) the percentage of the LA meeting the criterion for

electrical scar (see definition below). Correlation was assessed using Pearson's correlation coefficient, using a single value for each of these variables per patient.

Receiver operating characteristic (ROC) analysis was used to assess whether high wall stress was associated with certain defined electrophysiologic abnormalities, and to determine whether a discrete threshold of wall stress precipitated such abnormalities:

- 1. Fractionated electrograms (a CFAE mean <120ms),²²²
- 2. Low voltage areas suggestive of abnormal conduction (<0.5mV),^{132, 136}
- Electrical scar, i.e. very low voltage areas suggestive of scar, defined by others as absence of discernable deflections > 0.05 mV.^{132, 134, 136}

To compare the distribution of peaks in wall stress and the above electrophysiologic abnormalities, their presence or absence (and their concordance) was assessed in each region of the 22 segment model shown in Figure 2.7.

To assess the impact on simulated wall stress of increasing wall thickness from 2 to 3 mm at the septum and left atrial appendage, the median wall stress and the percentage of the surface meeting the criterion for a peak in wall stress at each wall thickness was compared using a paired t-test.

The impact of wall stress on the proportion of CFAE lesions causing AFCL prolongation was assessed in 2 ways. Firstly, wall stress at sites where CFAE

ablation prolonged AFCL was compared to wall stress at sites where ablation did not prolong AFCL using the Mann-Whitney U test. Secondly, ROC analysis was used to determine whether wall stress predicted sites where CFAE ablation caused AFCL prolongation.

2.9 Methods for Chapter 6

All consecutive patients undergoing catheter ablation of AF between 1/4/02 and 1/6/07 were included for analysis. All procedural data and baseline patient information were obtained from a prospective registry. Patients were defined as PAF or persistent AF according to ACC/ESC guidelines.²⁶⁰ Patients with long standing persistent AF have been included with persistent AF.

Catheter ablation and follow-up

The technique used for catheter ablation of AF has been described in Section 2.5. In brief, PVI was by WACA with confirmation of electrical isolation. All patients with persistent AF had linear lesions added at the mitral isthmus, the roof between WACA rings, and the cavotricuspid isthmus in patients with a history of typical atrial flutter.

From 2005, after WACA and linear lesions if the patient remained in AF, CFAE were systematically targeted throughout the left then right atria. CFAE were identified visually with operators using a common consensus definition: electrograms with (i) prolonged complexes with continuous deflections from baseline (ii) a rapid cycle length (< 120ms) or (iii) complexes with multiple

deflections (without distinguishing between high and low amplitude signals). This is comparable to definitions used by other groups,^{171, 194, 222} and is arguably representative of conventional approaches of CFAE ablation. Notably, the work done to classify CFAE occurred after this cohort. If at any point AF organised into AT this was mapped and ablated. If sinus rhythm was not restored following these lesions the patient was cardioverted with a DC shock.

Patients were discharged the day after the procedure, having stopped all antiarrhythmic medication. As early recurrences often settle spontaneously, a 3 month blanking period was observed during which recurrences were managed medically.^{172, 238} Those with Persistent AF/AT or symptomatic PAF at 3 months were offered a repeat procedure. Anticoagulation was continued for a minimum of 3 months and ongoing anticoagulation advised if the CHADS2 score was ≥2 (regardless of rhythm) as per current guidelines.^{189, 239}

Patients were followed up at 3 months, and again at 6 months if symptomatic initially, with a period of ambulatory monitoring of 2-7 days (83% were either monitored once since their last procedure or had AF/AT documented on ECG). There was open access to arrhythmia nurse specialists subsequently and further monitoring prompted by symptoms (29% underwent monitoring >8 months after their last procedure). Late follow-up with an ECG was obtained from the referring physician for 96% of patients at a median of 18 months. Attempts were made to contact all patients for review between 1/9/09 and 16/10/09 to determine any adverse events, recurrences of AF/AT, current medications and symptoms. Symptoms were assessed using the recent Canadian Cardiovascular Society Severity of AF (CCS-SAF) scale.²⁶¹ As this

was not available pre-procedure no objective comparison with the preprocedure state is possible, so patients were asked for a subjective assessment of whether their symptoms were improved.

Measures of success

Success was defined as freedom from symptoms and/or documented AF/AT lasting >30s following the 3 month blanking period as per guidelines.¹⁸⁹ Success rates are reported after:

- (i) The first procedure,
- (ii) The first cluster of procedures (defined below),
- (iii) The last procedure,
- (iv) The last 6 months (to account for those whose symptoms settled with adjustment of medications subsequent to the blanking period).

The end of the first cluster was defined as the point in time, whether after 1 catheter ablation or several, when ablation was first considered a success as defined above (or the patient declined a repeat procedure). Late recurrence of AF/AT was analysed starting from the last procedure in the cluster, since analysis following the final procedure does not take into account late recurrence occurring prior to successful repeat procedures.

Statistics

Continuous variables are reported as mean ± standard deviation, or median (range) if not normally distributed. Continuous data were compared by Student's t test. Kaplan-Meier curves were used to analyse AF free survival and curves were compared using the log rank test. Multivariate analysis of predictors of

recurrence was by Cox regression. Patient factors were analysed for their effect on final procedure success, whereas procedural factors were analysed for their effect on single procedure success.

Chapter 3

Validation of a classification system to grade fractionation in AF and correlation with automated detection systems.

Abstract

Introduction: We tested application of a grading system describing complex fractionated atrial electrograms (CFAE) in AF and used it to validate automated CFAE detection (AUTO).

Methods: 10s bipolar electrograms were classified by visual inspection (VI) during ablation of persistent AF and the result compared to offline manual measurement (MM) by a second blinded operator: Grade 1 uninterrupted fractionated activity (defined as segments \geq 70ms) for \geq 70% of recording and uninterrupted \geq 1s;Grade 2 interrupted fractionated activity \geq 70% of recording; Grade 3 intermittent fractionated activity 30-70%; Grade 4 discrete (<70ms) complex electrogram (\geq 5 direction changes); Grade 5 discrete simple electrograms (\leq 4 direction changes); Grade 6 scar.

Results: Grade by VI and MM for 100 electrograms agreed in 89%. 500 electrograms were graded on Carto and NavX by VI to validate AUTO in 1) detection of CFAE (grades 1-4 considered CFAE), and 2) assessing degree of fractionation by correlating grade and score by AUTO (data shown as sensitivity, specificity, r): NavX 'CFAE mean' 92%, 91%, 0.56; Carto 'interval confidence level' using factory settings 89%, 62%, -0.72, and other published settings 80%, 74%, -0.65; Carto 'shortest confidence interval' 74%, 70%, 0.43; Carto 'average confidence interval' 86%, 66%, 0.53.

Conclusion: Grading CFAE by VI is accurate and correlates with AUTO.

Introduction

Although PVI remains the cornerstone of catheter ablation for paroxysmal AF, persistent AF requires more extensive ablation to achieve acceptable clinical results.^{171, 191} Targeting CFAE in addition to PVI has improved results in some studies but not others. ^{64, 191, 220-225} Difficulty reproducing results with CFAE guided ablation may be due to the lack of a clear objective description of CFAE in the literature and resultant differences in what is being targeted in different studies. ^{171, 194, 222} Furthermore, there remains uncertainty as to whether CFAE are of real mechanistic importance in maintaining AF, or whether they are bystander phenomena. It remains possible that the termination of AF that sometimes occurs during CFAE ablation may simply be due to the de-bulking of atrial tissue.

In order to test the hypothesis that certain CFAE morphologies are of greater importance in the maintenance of AF in Chapter 4, it was first necessary to (1) develop a classification system to grade degree of electrogram fractionation in AF, and (2) test the hypothesis that CFAE can be accurately characterised by rapid visual inspection using this grading system, by comparing classification of CFAE by visual inspection to detailed manual measurement offline. Although these were essential steps in this thesis, they were also important endeavours in their own right. If a validated system could be provided that allows operators to categorize CFAE live during cases, this would allow clinical trials to indicate more clearly what has been targeted and therefore allow the electrophysiology community to elucidate which CFAE are important in the catheter ablation of AF.

Attempts have been made to bring objectivity to CFAE ablation by applying automated algorithms on 3D mapping systems to analyse electrograms.^{93, 221, 247, 249-251, 262, 263} Previous attempts to validate these algorithms have been limited by the lack of objective definition for CFAE and no means by which to grade the degree of fractionation.^{221, 250, 251, 264} Substrate modification guided by these algorithms has proved successful, although these studies have not compared this approach to alternative means for identifying and targeting CFAE.^{191, 221, 265} Pending successful development of a grading system for CFAE and validation of its application, a third aim for this chapter of the thesis was to validate commercial automated CFAE detection systems. The hypothesis for this sub-study was that automated CFAE detection is accurate and reflects degree of fractionation as assessed by visual inspection using the grading system.

<u>Results</u>

Patient characteristics

Electrograms were studied from a total of 20 patients. 15 were male with age 60 \pm 8 years. 8 had hypertension, 2 had ischaemic heart disease, and 8 had left ventricular systolic dysfunction. Mean LA diameter was 4.6 \pm 1.1 cm. Duration of continuous AF at the time of ablation was 26 (8-72) months.

Application of the classification system

100 electrograms recorded from 10 patients were examined. At detailed analysis the break-down of grades was as follows: 17% were grade 1; 15% grade 2; 42% grade 3; 17% grade 4; 9% grade 5 (no grade 6 electrograms were included for analysis). The numerical grade determined by rapid visual inspection agreed with that at manual measurement in 89%. The grade was in agreement within \pm 1 grade in 99%. There was agreement in assessment of amplitude (i.e. 'a' or 'b') in 99%. There was agreement for both number and letter in 88% (κ = 0.87).

To test the consistency of fractionation and grade in shorter samples 100 electrograms were analysed. The percentage of the sample that was fractionated was remarkably consistent, with less than 5% difference between 3 and 10s (Table 3.1). The grade determined was also consistent with agreement between 10s and 3s in 85% (Table 3.1).

Table 3.1: Consistency of fractionated activity and grad
--

Seconds	Absolute difference in % of	Grade agreement with			
Analysed	sample fractionated from 10	10 Seconds (%)			
	Seconds				
3	4.9	85			
4	4.2	87			
5	3.5	90			
6	3.0	90			
7	2.5	95			
8	1.7	98			
9	1.0	97			

Legend to Table 3.1: The percentage continuous fractionation and grade was determined by detailed manual measurement at 1 second increments from 3 up to 10 Seconds. Numbers show absolute difference in the percentage of the sample fractionated and the percentage agreement in grade by manual measurement for each time interval compared to 10 Seconds.

Validation of commercial automated detection systems

500 electrograms over 5 cases were reviewed for each of Carto and Ensite NavX. To validate visual assessment of electrograms on the 3D mapping system, 100 electrograms were subjected to detailed manual analysis. The numerical grade determined by rapid visual inspection agreed with that at manual measurement in 93%. The grade was in agreement within \pm 1 grade in 100%. There was agreement in assessment of amplitude (i.e. 'a' or 'b') in 99%. There was agreement for both number and letter in 93% (κ = 0.92).

The automated score is shown plotted against grade for each algorithm in Figure 3.1. All algorithms show moderate correlation between score and grade, with ICL-FS showing the best correlation.

Receiver operating characteristic analysis (shown in Figures 3.2 and 3.3) was used to determine optimal cut-off for each algorithm. Cut-offs for CFAE detection are shown in Table 3.3. Cut-offs for selecting highly fractionated signals were: ICL-FS \geq 5, ICL-OS \geq 6, ACI \leq 99 ms, SCI \leq 76ms, NavX CFAE Mean \leq 80ms.

Sensitivity and specificity of each algorithm for detecting CFAE using both the optimal cut-offs determined here and using cut-offs from other studies is shown in Table 3.2. Positive and negative predictive values are also shown for detection of CFAE and selection of highly fractionated signals in Table 3.3.

Figure 3.1: Correlation between grade and score by automated detection





Legend to Figure 3.1: Grade by visual inspection is shown plotted against automated score for each algorithm: (A) Interval Confidence Level on factory settings (ICL-FS), (B) Interval Confidence Level on previously published optimised settings (ICL-OS), (C) Average Complex Interval (ACI), (D) Shortest Complex Interval (SCI), (E) CFAE mean. Data is presented as mean values for categorical data (i.e. ICL score) or a scatter-plot for continuous data (all other scores). The Spearman Rank correlation coefficient is shown at the top right of each figure.



(defined as grades 1-4) by each algorithm.

Legend to Figure 3.2: The point marked with the arrow shows the optimal value for detection of CFAE. The area under the curve (AUC) is shown at the bottom right of each figure with 95% confidence intervals in brackets. ROC curves are shown for (A) Interval Confidence Level using factory settings (ICL-FS), (B) Interval Confidence Level using previously published optimised settings (ICL-OS), (C) Average Complex Interval (ACI), (D) Shortest Confidence Interval (SCI), (E) NavX CFAE mean.

Figure 3.3: Receiver operating characteristic curves for detection of highly





Legend to Figure 3.3: The point marked with the arrow shows the optimal value for detection of CFAE. The area under the curve (AUC) is shown at the bottom right of each figure with 95% confidence intervals in brackets. ROC curves are shown for **(A)** Interval Confidence Level using factory settings (ICL-FS), **(B)** Interval Confidence Level using previously published optimised settings (ICL-OS), **(C)** Average Complex Interval (ACI), **(D)** Shortest Confidence Interval (SCI), **(E)** NavX CFAE mean.

Table 3.2: Accuracy of automated CFAE detection using published cut off

values and using optimal values from ROC analysis.

	Detection using ROC			Detection using previously			
	determined cut off			published cut off			
	Cut off	Sensitivity	Specificity	Cut off	Sensitivity	Specificity	
	for	(%)	(%)	for	(%)	(%)	
	CFAE			CFAE			
NavX	≤125ms	92	91	<120ms	86	91	
ICL-	≥3	79	86	≥5	38	98	
FS							
ICL-	≥2	80	74	≥5	41	96	
OS							
ACI	≤140ms	86	66	100≤ms	54	77	
SCI	≤84 ms	74	70	≤120ms	96	36	

Legend to Table 3.2: Detection of CFAE, using values determined by receiver operating characteristic (ROC) analysis or using previously published values for NavX CFAE mean²⁵¹, ICL²⁵⁰, ACI⁹³, and SCI.⁹³

Table 3.3: Accuracy of Automated CFAE detection.

	Proportion	Sensitivity	Specificity	PPV	NPV	Accuracy
	of CFAE	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)
	(%)					
Detection of FE (grade >6)						
NavX	64	92	91	95	87	92
ICL-FS	73	79	86	94	59	81
ICL-OS	73	80	74	89	57	78
ACI	73	86	66	88	62	81
SCI	73	74	70	87	50	73
Detection of highly fractionated electrograms (grade 1-2)						
NavX	32	91	91	82	96	91
ICL-FS	24	92	83	63	97	85
ICL-OS	24	85	86	67	95	86
ACI	24	63	62	35	84	62
SCI	24	76	70	45	90	71

Legend to Table 3.3: The accuracy of algorithms used by Carto and NavX to detect CFAE is assessed using operator selected CFAE (utilizing the grading system described) as the gold standard.

Discussion

Main findings

This study provides the first clear definition for CFAE and a classification system to grade fractionation. This can be accurately applied visually in real time. We have validated automated CFAE detection software and demonstrated that they are capable of accurately distinguishing CFAE from non-fractionated electrograms. Optimum values for detection of CFAE and selection of highly fractionated signals using these algorithms were also determined for the first time.

Classification of electrograms

Imprecise definition of CFAE may account for the difficulty in reproducing results with CFAE guided ablation of AF. Several features in electrograms have been described in the literature as fractionated, most notably continuous deflections from baseline, discrete complexes with multiple deflections and complexes with short cycle length, although the precise definition of these varies between studies. Proposed mechanisms underlying CFAE include pivot points, focal drivers (including rotors and rapidly discharging foci) and ganglionated plexi.^{90, 207, 208, 214, 216} Evidence from optical mapping has suggested that rapid deflections producing continuous fractionation may represent areas within a few millimetres of focal drivers where wave fronts collide and fail to propagate in a 1:1 fashion.^{207, 208} These phenomena may coexist but it is uncertain which electrogram appearance represents which pathophysiology, and which ought to be targeted for ablation. The classification system described is therefore based partly on pathophysiology and partly on clinical studies regarding efficacy.

During AF, targeting electrograms with a high proportion of fractionated activity (≥70% of recording), or areas with concentric activation have all been shown to produce a significant step up in AFCL.^{241, 255} Sites with uninterrupted fractionated activity lasting longer than 1 second have been shown to be more prevalent and more diffuse in patients with persistent AF than paroxysmal AF and hence this has been proposed as a target for ablation.²¹⁶ We used these data in development of our CFAE classification, with these features used as criteria to describe highly fractionated electrograms (i.e. grades 1-2). Other features incorporated into the grading system were criteria used by Nademanee and others in clinical trials, such as less consistent fractionation and complex electrograms.^{191, 194} Evidence for targeting these electrograms is more limited, as they have only been targeted in combination with others to produce clinical outcomes. These features were incorporated into the less fractionated signals (grades 3-4).

Application of classification and time intervals for analysis

Application of the grading system was simple and accurate. Detailed manual analysis of electrograms showed that the percentage of a recording with continuous fractionation is relatively constant over time, with only 5% absolute difference between 3 and 10s. Accurate application of the classification system required 5 Seconds to give an accuracy of 90%.

These data therefore validate the classification system in terms of its accurate application. It was essential to establish whether different CFAE morphologies could be accurately distinguished before attempting to study the impact of

ablating those different CFAE morphologies. These data therefore demonstrate the feasibility of this approach, with operators grading fractionated electrograms by eye and allowing CFAE morphologies to be targeted in a specific order live during a clinical case. Having performed this necessary validation step it was thought reasonable to proceed with the study comprising Chapter 4 of this thesis.

Automated analysis of fractionated electrograms

These results show that all of the algorithms tested are good at detecting CFAE and selecting highly fractionated signals. The Ensite NavX CFAE mean algorithm gave the best results in terms of CFAE detection. Of the Carto algorithms, the ICL algorithm using factory settings was marginally better than the others tested. There was moderate correlation between the grade determined and the score for each algorithm. The Carto ICL-FS algorithm showed the best correlation with grade (Figure 3.1). None of the algorithms distinguished well between grades 1 and 2, or grades 3 and 4. The CFAE mean algorithm was therefore the most accurate in terms of CFAE detection, whereas the ICL-FS score correlated best with the degree of electrogram fractionation.

The few studies examining accuracy of automated CFAE detection have compared an operator's visual assessment to the automated scores using an arbitrary cut off.^{221, 247, 250, 251} This is the first study to validate automated assessment of degree of fractionation or to determine optimal cut-off for CFAE detection. The studies examining the NavX CFAE mean algorithm found similar sensitivity and specificity to that presented here.^{221, 247}

A study examining the Carto ICL algorithm found a sensitivity and specificity of 58 and 64% respectively using factory settings, but improved this to 90 and 91% respectively using their optimised settings (the settings used for the ICL-OS group).²⁵¹ A study comparing ICL and ACI found poor results for the ICL algorithm but a sensitivity and specificity both of 92% for ACI in detecting CFAE.²⁵⁰ Although no studies have assessed diagnostic accuracy of the SCI algorithm, retrospective application has shown that a low SCI predicted a significant increase in cycle length on ablation.⁹³ Studies using automated detection systems to guide CFAE ablation have been 'proof of concept' as they have not compared this approach to alternative means of identifying CFAE.^{221, 265, 266}

Limitations

Although this classification system is based on previous evidence regarding what constitutes CFAE and which are important to target, it is recognised that this evidence remains week. However, the classification of CFAE on morphological grounds is a necessary first step before one can study the effect of ablating these different morphologies (which is explored further in the chapters that follow).

The classification of electrograms by visual inspection to validate automated CFAE detection systems (rather than detailed manual assessment of all electrograms) is also a limitation. However, the initial step validating application of the grading system has demonstrated for the first time that this approach is accurate and hence reasonable to use as a surrogate for manual analysis. Previous studies examining automated CFAE detection have also used the

visual inspection method, as the volume of samples needed for meaningful validation precludes manual analysis.^{221, 247, 250, 251}

Conclusion

For the first time a precise definition of different CFAE sub-types has been given. The classification system proposed can be quickly and accurately applied by eye to distinguish between different patterns of CFAE. Adopting this standardised description of CFAE will enable clinical trials of CFAE ablation to use reproducible methodology and thus allow meaningful comparison of results. Having validated the application of this classification system, further work studying the impact of targeting different CFAE morphologies now appears feasible. Use of this grading system has also allowed validation of the current Carto and NavX algorithms. Chapter 4

Characterization of fractionated atrial electrograms critical for maintenance of AF: a randomized controlled trial of ablation strategies (the CFAE AF trial).

Abstract

Introduction: Whether ablation of complex fractionated atrial electrograms (CFAE) modifies AF by eliminating drivers or atrial de-bulking remains unknown. This randomised study aimed to determine the effect of ablating different CFAE morphologies compared to normal electrograms (i.e. de-bulking normal tissue) on the cycle length of persistent AF (AFCL).

Methods: After pulmonary vein isolation left and right atrial CFAE were targeted, until termination of AF or abolition of CFAE prior to DC cardioversion. 10s electrograms were classified according to a validated scale, with Grade 1 being most fractionated and grade 5 normal. Patients were randomised to have CFAE grades eliminated sequentially, from grade 1 to 5 (group 1) or grade 5 to 1 (group 2). An increase in AFCL (mean of left and right atrial appendage) \geq 5 ms following a lesion was regarded as significant.

Results: 968 CFAE were targeted in 20 patients. AFCL increased after targeting 51 \pm 35% of grade 1 CFAE, 30 \pm 15% grade 2, 12 \pm 5% grade 3, 33 \pm 12% grade 4, and 8 \pm 15% grade 5 CFAE (p < 0.01 for grades 1, 2, and 4 versus 5, 3 versus 5 not significant). The proportion of lesions causing AFCL prolongation was unaffected by the order in which CFAE were targeted. **Conclusion:** Targeting CFAE is not simply atrial de-bulking. Ablating certain grades of CFAE increases AFCL, suggesting they are more important in maintaining AF.

Clinical Trial Registration Information: www.clinicaltrials.gov NCT00894400.

Introduction

Although Nademanee demonstrated that CFAE ablation could eliminate AF,¹⁹⁴ there has been difficulty reproducing this success using CFAE ablation alone.^{222, 265, 267} Incremental benefit of CFAE ablation in addition to PVI has been demonstrated,^{191, 221, 222, 225} although not consistently.^{64, 224}

The variable definition of CFAE may partly explain these disparate results.^{194,} ²⁶⁷⁻²⁶⁹ It is uncertain what the various CFAE morphologies represent, and few studies have examined the importance of different electrogram characteristics of CFAE.^{241, 254} It therefore remains unclear whether CFAE are sites critical to the maintenance of AF or whether the slowing or termination of persistent AF is the inadvertent result of de-bulking electrically active atrial tissue.

It was hypothesised that certain CFAE morphologies are more likely to represent drivers of AF. To prove this, the impact of targeting different CFAE morphologies on the cycle length of persistent AF was assessed, with ablation performed according to a strict protocol as part of a randomised controlled trial.

Results

Patients and procedures

The characteristics of the 20 patients randomised are shown in Table 4.1. All patients had persistent AF, and 90% of these were long lasting persistent AF (i.e. \geq 1 year). Although the patients were older in group 2, the other baseline characteristics were well matched between groups. Procedural characteristics are shown in Table 4.2. There was no difference between groups in procedure time or fluoroscopy time (Table 4.2). The only procedural complication was 1 groin haematoma, which did not require any intervention.

Inter-operator variability

The CFAE grade determined by rapid visual inspection for the 968 electrograms targeted agreed with that at off-line manual measurement in 92.7%. The grade was in agreement within \pm 1 grade in 99.0%. There was agreement in assessment of amplitude (i.e. 'a' or 'b') in 99.1%. There was agreement for both number and letter in 91.9% (κ = 0.91). Inter-operator variability for measurement of AFCL was 0.3 \pm 0.2 ms.

Table 4.1: Patient Characteristics.

	Group 1	Group 2	p value
	(grade order 1 to 5)	(grade order 5 to	
		1)	
Number	10	10	-
Male	90%	80%	1.000
Age	60 ± 7	66 ± 6	0.042
Months of continuous AF	25 ± 19	20 ± 9	0.424
NYHA class	2.1 ± 0.6	2.3 ± 0.5	0.407
Hypertension	50%	50%	1.000
Ischaemic heart disease	20%	40%	0.629
Left atrial diameter	4.5 ± 0.8	4.6 ± 0.8	0.935
Ejection fraction	51 ± 13	46 ± 15	0.379

Legend to table 4.1: Data is presented as percentage of patients, or mean ± standard deviation.
	Group 1	Group 2	p value
	(grade order 1 to 5)	(grade order 5 to	
		1)	
Procedure time (mins)	300	305 (300-450)	0.327
Time targeting CFAE	90 (0-143)	96 (0-148)	0.500
(mins)			
Fluoroscopy time (mins)	63 (35-114)	57.5 (28-78)	0.456
CFAE lesions per patient	43 ± 16	68 ± 18	0.007
Termination of AF by	30%	30%	1.000
ablation			
Single procedure success	40%	20%	0.629
Recurrence due to AT/AF	4/2	3/5	0.592

Legend to Table 4.2: Data is presented as percentage of patients, mean ± standard deviation, or median (range).

Definition of AFCL prolongation

Baseline AFCL variability prior to any ablation over 10 successive cycles from each patient showed variation of 1.49 ± 1.74 ms. As mean + 2 standard deviations was 4.97 ms, ≥ 5.0 ms was subsequently regarded as significant AFCL prolongation. The impact of ablation on AFCL is shown in Figure 4.1, illustrating it's potential value in monitoring response to ablation.





Legend to Figure 4.1: The mean (± standard deviation) change in AFCL from baseline is shown at each stage of the procedure. The progressive prolongation of AFCL was more marked in patients whom AF was terminated during ablation.

Distribution of CFAE

Mean CFAE grade pre-PVI was lower in the LA than the right atrium (2.4 \pm 1.1 versus 3.7 \pm 1.2, p < 0.001) reflecting decreased organisation in the LA. The most common sites for highly fractionated electrograms (grade 1-2 CFAE) in the LA were the PVs (55-75%), the LA appendage ridge (75%), the high and low left septum (80% and 70%), and the high and mid anterior wall (75% and 65%). The most common sites for highly fractionated electrograms in the RA were the mid and low right septum (both 38%), the roof/SVC (38%), and the high, mid and low lateral wall (31-38%).

Impact of Ablation on CFAE grade

All 40 PV pairs were successfully isolated by WACA, and 36 of 40 PV pairs contained at least 1 highly fractionated electrogram (grade 1-2 CFAE). AFCL prolongation occurred after isolation of 23 PV pairs. As 2 patients reverted to sinus rhythm during PVI and 1 during LA CFAE ablation, 18 patients had full maps of the LA pre-PVI, post-PVI, and during CFAE ablation, and 17 patients had maps of the right atrium pre-PVI and during CFAE ablation. Because all 4 PVs were electrically silent post-PVI, in effect 18 LA and 16 right atrial segments were available for comparison with baseline maps (324 LA segments and 272 right atrial segments in total for each stage). PVI caused an increase in the mean grade of LA segments (representing increased organisation of electrograms) from 2.4 \pm 1.1 to 3.2 \pm 1.4 (p < 0.0001). During LA CFAE ablation there was a further increase in mean grade from 3.2 \pm 1.4 to 3.6 \pm 1.5 (p < 0.0001). Similarly, during right atrial CFAE ablation there was an increase in grade from 3.6 \pm 1.3 to 3.9 \pm 1.4 (p = 0.002). The impact of ablation on mean CFAE grade in the left and right atria are summarised in Figure 4.2.





Legend to Figure 4.2: Mean CFAE grade in the left and right atrium at different stages of the procedure.

Impact of targeting different CFAE grades on AF cycle length

There was a significant overall effect of CFAE grade on the mean proportion of lesions causing AFCL prolongation (p < 0.001; Figure 4.3A). The mean proportion of lesions which caused a significant increase in AFCL was significantly greater for grade 1, 2 and 4 CFAE compared to grade 5 (p < 0.01 for each). There was no difference between grade 3 and 5 in the proportion of lesions affecting AFCL, with prolongation occurring no more often than during baseline variability testing (i.e. during no ablation). There was no effect of the order of ablation on the proportion of lesions causing AFCL prolongation (p = 0.371), and no interaction between grade and the order of ablation (p = 0.449; Figure 4.3B).

Analysis of the proportion of lesions causing AFCL prolongation pooled across all CFAE showed a similar pattern of response to ablation across grades (Figures 4.5A & 4.5B). Binary logistic regression confirmed the effect of grade on the proportion of lesions causing AFCL prolongation (p < 0.001), but showed no effect of group (p = 0.320), amplitude (p = 0.717; Figure 4.4A), or location in the left or right atrium (p = 0.987; Figure 4.4B).

The CL of grade 4 CFAE was > the appendage CL of the atria in which it was located in 77% of cases , and this did not affect the proportion of lesions causing AFCL prolongation (31% when CL was shorter and 34% when CL was longer than that in the appendage CL, p = 0.683)

A. Overall impact of CFAE grade.



B. Impact of order of CFAE ablation .





Figure 4.4: Proportion of CFAE lesions causing AFCL prolongation.

A. Impact of CFAE amplitude.



B. Impact of CFAE location.



Legend to Figure 4.4: The percentage of all lesions causing AFCL prolongation by grade, divided according to (A) amplitude (either high 'a' or low 'b'), and (B) location in the left or right atrium.

Location of CFAE targeted

No CFAE were targeted inside the PVs (since they were electrically silent post WACA), or the vena cavae. Otherwise, pooling CFAE lesions from all patients, the proportion of lesions per region (divided as shown in Figure 4.1) was normally distributed with $3.0 \pm 2.2\%$ of lesions per region. The most targeted regions in the LA were the border of the LA appendage (7.3% of all lesions), the mid anterior wall (7.2%), the roof (7.1%), the lateral wall bordering the left atrial appendage (6.9%), the ridge between the left atrial appendage and the left PVs (6.0%), and the mid septum (5.9%). The most targeted regions in the right atrium were the high and mid lateral wall (5.7 and 3.3% of all lesions respectively), the high septum (5.1%), the roof bordering the SVC (3.6%), and the right atrial appendage (2.6%). The proportion of lesions that prolonged AFCL was also normally distributed between regions (30 \pm 11% of lesions). The number of lesions per region was insufficient to allow meaningful comparison of these small regional differences.

Impact of order of ablation on the number of CFAE encountered

There was a significant overall effect of the order of ablation on the mean number of CFAE targeted per patient for each grade (p < 0.01; Figure 4.5). Fewer grade 3 and 4 CFAE were encountered per patient in group 1 than group 2 (both p < 0.05; Figure 4.5) suggesting that elimination of the most fractionated electrograms (grade 1 and 2) changed the degree of fractionation of electrograms at other sites. This translated to a lower total number of lesions per patient in group 1 (p < 0.01; Figure 4.5). There was no difference between groups in the number of grade 1 or 2 CFAE ablated, or the number of grade 5 lesions created.



Legend to Figure 4.5: The mean number of CFAE targeted per patient in groups 1 and 2. Bars show 95% confidence intervals.

Impact of order of CFAE ablation on outcome

Three patients were ablated to sinus rhythm in each group (two via an atrial tachycardia in each group). In group 1, this occurred once during PVI, once during CFAE ablation, and once during linear lesions. In group 2, this occurred once during PVI, and twice during CFAE ablation. The number free from AF after a single procedure at 12 months off anti-arrhythmic drugs, and the proportion of recurrence due to AF/AT did not differ between groups (Table 4.2).

Discussion

This study is the first to prospectively compare the effect of targeting different CFAE morphologies in persistent AF. The grading of CFAE using our classification system was easily applied, accurate, and reproducible, and enabled distinction between CFAE subtypes which produce a differential effect on AFCL when ablated. Importantly, targeting normal electrograms had no significant effect. PVI had an organising effect on electrograms in all locations. Ablation of highly fractionated electrograms first resulted in a reduction in the number of grade 3 and 4 CFAE encountered subsequently, and consequently a reduction in the total number of lesions delivered.

Mapping studies have shown that targeting areas with concentric activation or slow conduction prolong AFCL, although these mechanisms may be difficult to infer from an ablation catheter electrogram.^{241, 255} Takahashi *et al.* analysed electrogram characteristics associated with AFCL prolongation during CFAE ablation.²⁴¹ Although dominant frequency and electrogram amplitude had no effect, fractionated activity for \geq 70% of the recording was associated with AFCL prolongation. Our study has confirmed this firstly by prospectively targeting CFAE with this characteristic, and secondly by varying the order of CFAE ablation to ensure this effect was not a result of targeting this characteristic first or last.

Lin *et al* demonstrated improved outcomes after PVI with selective targeting of CFAE which were 'consistent', defined using an automated algorithm over a 1 minute recording.²²⁵ Sites with uninterrupted fractionated activity \geq 1 second

have been proposed as targets for ablation based on the observation that they are more prevalent and more diffuse in patients with persistent AF than paroxysmal AF.²¹⁶ The current study has demonstrated the incremental importance of these sites over those with interrupted fractionation.

Fractionated activity may represent areas within a few millimetres of focal drivers, whether they are rotors or rapidly discharging foci.^{207, 208} Ibutilide has been shown to limit re-entry in an animal model of AF using high density mapping, but did not affect focal sources.²⁷⁰ Similarly, procainamide has been shown to organise electrograms with either multiple deflections or limited fractionation in an animal model of AF, but had little effect on more fractionated signals.²⁷¹ These authors concluded that continuous fractionated activity (perhaps analogous to grades 1 and 2 in the present study) may represent focal mechanisms, whereas less fractionated signals (more like grades 3 and 4) are more likely to represent re-entry.^{270, 271}

The results of the present study would be compatible with grade 1 and 2 CFAE representing such focal drivers. The increased efficacy when ablating areas with uninterrupted fractionated activity (grade 1 CFAE) may suggest greater proximity to these foci, or perhaps that the drivers are more stable spatially and temporally. We did not incorporate a grade for rapid regular electrograms because in Chapter 3 these were found to be invariably interspersed with fractionated activity, and hence met the criteria for other grades of CFAE. Therefore, more consistent CFAE (grade 1) may have had different organisational characteristics which were not discernable by eye.

An interesting finding was that an apparently less fractionated electrogram (grade 4) had a greater effect than a more fractionated electrogram (grade 3). We postulate that grade 3 electrograms are produced by passive wave front phenomena or superimposition of far-field and local electrograms, which are not critical for maintenance of AF. Grade 4 electrograms were not rapid, and in particular were not usually faster than the AFCL of the atria in which they were located. Therefore, whilst grade 4 CFAE are unlikely to be rapid drivers, they may represent other phenomena which facilitate AF, such as zones of slow conduction, pivot points, or wave-break.^{47, 214}

The optimal amplitude of CFAE to target is controversial. Whilst some authors consider only low amplitude signals (< 0.5 mV) to be CFAE,¹⁹⁴ others disregard amplitude.²⁶⁸ Our data suggest that electrogram amplitude does not predict response to ablation.

Ablation of right atrial CFAE is also controversial. Although a small randomised controlled trial showed that right atrial CFAE ablation in addition to PVI and LA CFAE did not improve outcome,²⁷² another study demonstrated that in those with continuing AF despite PVI and LA CFAE ablation, right atrial CFAE ablation prolonged AFCL and terminated AF in 55%.²⁷³ This study suggests that targeting CFAE in the right atrium was equally efficacious as in the left.

The lesions which caused AFCL prolongation were evenly distributed throughout the atria. A previous study which targeted CFAE in a randomised order of locations found no effect of ablation location on AFCL.²⁴¹ However, it

remains possible that CFAE are surrogate markers for ganglionated plexi, since their anatomy is variable.

The impact of PVI and CFAE ablation on electrogram organisation

The reduction in LA CFAE burden after PVI has been demonstrated by others.^{202, 274} This may simply reflect the removal of PV drivers, although this would not fully account for (a) the impact at sites distant to the PV ostia, and (b) the impact on areas with continuous fractionation suggestive of focal drivers.

Injection of epicardial fat pads with acetylcholine has been shown to cause continuous fractionation or rapid regular 'rotor-like' electrograms, both locally and at distant atrial sites due to a wider activation of the cardiac neural network.²¹² Targeting of ganglionated plexi eliminated these areas of continuous fractionation, both locally and at distant sites.^{212, 270} Hence, PVI may impact on atrial CFAE by reducing ganglionated plexi innervation.

Significantly fewer CFAE were targeted in group 1, powered by the reduction in grade 3 and 4 CFAE. To some extent these grades may be epi-phenomena, with a greater functional component supported by the highly fractionated grade 1 and 2 CFAE. The number of grade 1 and 2 CFAE were unaffected by prior ablation of grades 3 and 4, consistent with their proposed focal mechanisms.

Limitations

This mechanistic study was not designed to assess the impact of CFAE ablation on outcomes, nor was it intended or powered to demonstrate superiority of either targeting strategy in terms of clinical end-points. Nevertheless, by

studying the response to ablation of different CFAE morphologies we have clarified many key issues in CFAE ablation. Although this information could not have been gleaned from conventional randomised controlled trials looking at clinical outcomes, we recognise that such studies remain essential for determining the optimal approach to CFAE ablation.

Although ablation to sinus rhythm is a hard end-point, this was achieved in a minority, and it is recognised that the alternative of elimination of all CFAE is more subjective. However, this cohort consisted mostly of patients with dilated atria and long-lasting persistent AF, and hence although the proportion ablated to sinus rhythm and the proportion free from AF at 1 year were disappointing, this was in keeping with reports for comparable cohorts.^{64, 182, 275}

Conclusion

The differential effect of targeting different CFAE morphologies provides strong support for the hypothesis that certain CFAE represent focal drivers of AF. Therefore targeting of CFAE is not simply de-bulking the atria. These results support ablating certain CFAE morphologies whether in the left or right atria, and regardless of their amplitude. A selective strategy targeting only certain CFAE (grades 1, 2 and 4) and starting with the most fractionated (grades 1 and 2) should minimize LA destruction and time spent targeting CFAE.

Chapter 5

Left atrial wall stress distribution and its relationship to electrophysiologic remodelling in persistent atrial fibrillation.

<u>Abstract</u>

Background: Atrial stretch causes remodelling that predisposes to atrial fibrillation (AF). We tested the hypothesis that peaks in left atrial (LA) wall stress are associated with focal remodelling.

Methods: 19 patients underwent LA mapping prior to catheter ablation for persistent AF. Finite Element Analysis was used to predict wall stress distribution based on LA geometry from CT. The relationship was assessed between wall stress and (1) electrogram voltage, and (2) complex fractionated atrial electrograms (CFAE) using CFAE mean (the mean interval between deflections).

Results: Wall stress varied widely within atria and between subjects (median 36 kPa, IQR 26 – 51 kP). Peaks in wall stress (\geq 90th percentile) were common at the pulmonary vein (PV) ostia (93%), the appendage ridge (100%), the high posterior wall (84%), the anterior wall and septal regions (42-84%). Electrogram voltage showed an inverse relationship across quartiles for wall stress (19% difference across quartiles, p = 0.016). There was no effect on CFAE mean across quartiles of wall stress. ROC analysis showed high wall stress was associated with low voltage (i.e. < 0.5 mV) and electrical scar (i.e. < 0.05 mV; both p < 0.0001), and with absence of CFAE (i.e. CFAE mean < 120ms; p < 0.0001). However, peaks in wall stress and CFAE were found at 88% of PV ostia.

Conclusions: Peaks in wall stress were associated with areas of low voltage suggestive of focal remodelling. Although peaks in wall stress were not associated with LA CFAE, the PV ostia may respond differently.

Introduction

Increased atrial stretch is a common aetiological factor in patients with AF.¹³ Chronic stretch causes atrial dilatation and heterogenous changes in atrial architecture, including focal myocyte hypertrophy and fibrosis.^{134, 137, 139, 140} Electrophysiologic sequelae of atrial stretch include slowing of conduction, prolongation of the effective refractory period, areas of low voltage and electrical scar, double potentials and fractionated electrograms, and increased inducibility of AF.^{94, 132-137, 139, 140}

Although PVI is a successful treatment for paroxysmal AF,¹⁹¹ additional substrate modification in some form or another appears to be necessary to achieve acceptable results for persistent AF.^{191,228} Greater understanding of the relationship between atrial stretch and remodelling may allow refinement of substrate modification. Computer modelling has been used to better understand complex processes such as excitation contraction coupling and mechanical function,^{276,277} and may help understand how stretch is distributed in the walls of the LA and how this impacts on atrial remodelling. The relationship between this remodelling process and CFAE is of particular interest, since CFAE localising to foci of remodelling could feasibly be more mechanistically important in maintaining AF than those found in healthy tissue.

We hypothesized that peaks in LA wall stress are associated with focal electrophysiologic remodelling which maintains AF. There were three stages required to address this, each dependent on the success of the preceding stage:

- A computer model was established to simulate LA wall stress in 3D reconstructions of the LA from CT scans.
- 2) Electrophysiologic data were collected at the time of catheter ablation for persistent AF and compared to simulated wall stress data using a patient specific LA geometry derived from a pre-procedure CT scan. This allowed correlation between wall stress and electrophysiologic parameters, in particular areas of low voltage and CFAE.
- 3) The importance of regions with high wall stress in maintaining AF was evaluated by examining how wall stress impacts on the response to CFAE ablation, as determined by change in AFCL.

<u>Results</u>

Patients

Although 20 patients were recruited, one patient had poor quality CT imaging and was excluded from the analysis Patient demographics for the 19 patients forming the study group are shown in Table 5.1. All patients had persistent AF, and 84% had long lasting persistent AF (i.e. \geq 1 year). There was a high incidence of structural heart disease and LA were dilated. No patients had significant valvular heart disease.

Stress Distribution

Figure 5.1 shows examples of wall stress distribution. Wall stress varied widely from region to region, with a median value of 36.4 kPa and an inter quartile range of 26.2 - 51.6 kPa. Figure 5.2 shows the proportion of patients who had peaks in wall stress over the different regions shown in Figure 5.1. Peaks in wall stress were particularly common around the ostia of the PVs (left PVs both 100%, and right PVs 84 and 89%), the LA appendage ridge (100%), the high posterior wall and roof (84 and 47% respectively), the anterior wall regions (68-84%), and the septal regions (42-74%). There was no significant correlation between LA volume and median wall stress (Pearson's r = 0.184, p = 0.451). The distribution of peaks in wall stress in the areas shown in Figure 5.1 did not differ when comparing the 9 most dilated LA to the 9 smallest.

Male	84%
Age	64 ± 7 yrs
Months of continuous AF	23 ± 16
Hypertension	53%
Ischaemic heart disease	32%
Left atrial volume	159.0 ± 46.8 ml
Ejection fraction	48 ± 14 %

Table 5.1: Patient Characteristics.

Legend to table 5.1: Data is presented as percentage of patients, or mean ± standard deviation.

Figure 5.1: Left atrial wall stress distribution.



Legend to Figure 5.1: Colour coded maps of the left atrium showing wall stress distribution in 3 patients (A-C). The scale is kPa.

Figure 5.2: Distribution of peaks in wall stress and CFAE.



Legend to Figure 5.2: The proportion of patients with peaks in wall stress (>90th percentile) and CFAE (CFAE mean < 120 ms) in each region of the left atrium. Abbreviations: PV, pulmonary vein; LAA, left atrial appendage; CS, coronary sinus; H, high; M, middle; L, low.

Electrophysiologic data points

A total of 8 214 data points were acquired. After removing points >5 mm from the LA shell, there were 6 770 points remaining for analysis, 356 ± 80 per patient.

Relationship between wall stress and electrophysiologic parameters

Electrogram amplitude showed a linear inverse relationship across quartiles for wall stress meaning lower electrogram amplitude at sites of higher wall stress, with a 19% difference between the highest and lowest quartiles for wall stress (p = 0.016, Figure 5.3A). There was a trend towards higher CFAE mean (meaning less fractionated electrograms) at higher wall stress, but values for CFAE mean were highly variable between subjects, and this effect was not significant (p = 0.256, Figure 5.3B).

Relationship between remodelling and CFAE

There was a significant decrease in CFAE mean across quartiles of voltage amplitude (Figure 5.4; p < 0.0001). The lowest quartile for electrogram voltage had a markedly higher CFAE mean value (meaning less fractionated electrograms). The lowest quartile for electrogram voltage likely contained the most points with poor contact, and the absence of detected deflections at these points may therefore have artificially increased the CFAE mean score. However, even if the lowest quartile of electrogram voltage is discarded, the decrease across the remaining 3 quartiles was still significant (p < 0.0001). Notably the percentage of the LA that was occupied by CFAE correlated with median left atrial voltage for each patient the (Pearson's r = 0.71, p < 0.001), and was inversely proportional to the percentage of the LA meeting the criterion for electrical scar (r = -0.54, p = 0.017).





B. CFAE mean across quartiles of wall stress.





parameters (mean and 95% confidence interval) across quartiles for wall stress (1 being lowest and 4 being highest), (4A) shows electrogram voltage amplitude and (4B) shows CFAE mean. Significance was tested using repeated measures ANOVA. LA volume correlated with the percentage of the LA meeting the criterion for electrical scar (r = 0.46, p = 0.046), but did not correlate with the percentage of the LA occupied by CFAE (Pearson's r = 0.07, p = 0.790). There was no significant interaction between the effects of LA volume and increasing wall stress on LA voltage (p = 0.587).

ROC analysis

There was an association between high wall stress and electrical scar: A wall stress value \geq 39.6 kPa had a sensitivity of 56.1% and specificity 57.0% for predicting electrical scar (area under curve 0.574, p < 0.0001; Figure 5.4A). There was a modest association between high wall stress and low voltage, with a wall stress value \geq 35.5 kPa there was a sensitivity and specificity both of 54.0% for predicting low voltage (area under curve 0.550, p < 0.0001; Figure 5.4B). High wall stress was associated with absence of CFAE (area under curve 0.453, p < 0.0001; Figure 5.4C).

Assessment of relationships by region

Low voltage electrograms and electrical scar were present in all areas precluding meaningful analysis of any relationship by region. CFAE occurred in more discreet areas and the distribution is shown in Figure 3. CFAE and peaks in wall stress co-exist in certain areas but not others, and hence their 'agreement' (both phenomena being present or absent) was variable. Since both phenomena were almost always present to some extent in the PVs, the agreement there was high (95-100% in the left PVs, and 79% in both right PVs). Overall agreement occurred in 61%.

Figure 5.4: Relationship between high wall stress and electrophysiologic

abnormalities.



A. Wall stress as a predictor of scar.

B. Wall stress as a predictor of low voltage.



C. Wall stress as a predictor CFAE.



Legend to Figure 5.4: Receiver operating characteristic curves demonstrating the relationship between high wall stress and electrophysiologic abnormalities: 5A electrical scar (defined as voltage amplitude < 0.05 mV; 5B low voltage (defined as < 0.5 mV), and 5C CFAE (defined as CFAE mean < 120ms). Area under curve and confidence intervals (CI) are shown.

Wall stress and response to ablation

Baseline AFCL variability was 1.50 ± 1.75 . Therefore AFCL prolongation ≥ 5.0 ms was considered significant. In total 933 CFAE were targeted (49 ± 26 lesions per patient). Of these, 614 were in the LA. The 425 LA lesions within 5 mm of the left atrial shell were included for analysis. Of the 425 lesions, 108 caused significant AFCL prolongation.

Wall stress values at sites where CFAE ablation caused AFCL prolongation was 40.1 (27.7 – 58.4) kPa compared to 40.8 (27.9 – 67.0) kPa at sites where AFCL did not change (p = 0.408). Receiver operating characteristic analysis showed that wall stress could not be used to distinguish between areas that would and would not cause AFCL prolongation during CFAE ablation (area under curve 0.530, p = 0.355).

Impact of variations in the model

The simulation was comprised of 57 276 \pm 12 646 elements. An increase in the trans-mural pressure gradient from 10 to 20 mmHg caused a mean increase in wall stress of 83.6 \pm 7.9% for each element. When elements were ranked based on their wall stress value, an increase in trans-mural pressure from 10 to 20 mmHg caused a change in the mean percentile ranking of 2.9 \pm 1.0%.

The changes in wall stress distribution produced by an increase in wall thickness to 3mm at the left atrial appendage and the inter-atrial septum were largely confined to these areas. The median wall stress was reduced from 21.8 \pm 4.8 kPa to 16.5 \pm 4.3 kPa in the left atrial appendage (p < 0.0001), and 39.5 \pm 11.1 to 30.5 \pm 9.9 kPa in the septum (p < 0.0001). The proportion of the septum occupied by peaks in wall stress was reduced from 9.3 \pm 11.3 % to 2.7 \pm 4.2 % (p = 0.002). There were no peaks in wall stress in the left atrial appendage at either wall thickness.

When wall thickness at the left atrial appendage and the septum were increased to 3mm, the relationship with electrophysiologic parameters was preserved. The decreasing electrogram amplitude across quartiles of wall stress remained evident (p = 0.009). The trend towards higher CFAE mean at higher wall stress was strengthened but remained non-significant (p = 0.058). ROC analysis showed that high wall stress was still associated with electrical scar (area under curve 0.579, 95% confidence intervals 0.548-0.610, p < 0.0001) and absence of CFAE (area under curve 0.469, 95% confidence intervals 0.453-0.485, p < 0.0001).

Discussion

Major findings

LA wall stress varies widely in different regions of the same LA, and also in the same regions between subjects. There was an inverse relationship between regional wall stress and electrogram voltage, and foci of high wall stress were associated with low voltage and electrical scar. Areas with high wall stress were less likely to support CFAE, although the PV ostia may be an exception in that they were consistently high stress and harboured CFAE. Following PV isolation, regional LA wall stress did not predict response to CFAE ablation.

Cardiac modelling and wall stress

Clearly, the first step in this study was to establish a working computer model to simulate wall stress. Increasingly complex 'multi-scale models' are being used to further understanding of complex interacting processes, such as excitation contraction coupling and mechanical function,^{276, 277} and the role of myocardial stretch in arrhythmia in the context of *commotio cordis*.²⁷⁸ This numerical model

predicted wall stress based purely on LA anatomy by assuming the LA to be a linear elastic shell. Since the anatomy of the LA is highly variable wall stress varied widely between subjects. Wall stress was raised at 'saddle points' where invagination of the LA surface occurred, for example at the PV ostia and the appendage ridge. More subtle examples include the imprint produced by the aortic root on the anterior wall, the septum, and the roof/high posterior wall (Figures 5.1 & 5.2).

As this model was entirely novel it has necessarily taken a simplified view of LA biomechanics as the first step towards understanding LA wall stress distribution. Although the accuracy of the geometry is the most important factor in determining wall stress,²⁵⁸ two other important factors that are difficult to fully account for are: (i) regional differences in wall thickness (since this is beyond the resolution of current imaging technologies), and (ii) the complexities of regional and temporal variations in the trans-mural pressure gradient, which is influenced by extra-cardiac structures and changes over time with intra-cardiac pressure during the cardiac cycle and intra-thoracic pressure with respiration.

Variations in the model were tested to evaluate the impact of these factors. Although doubling of the trans-mural pressure gradient from 10 to 20 mmHg caused a uniform increase in wall stress, there was only a minimal change in the percentile ranking of wall stress for each element, suggesting that the relative distribution of wall stress was effectively unchanged. Therefore, changes in trans-mural pressure which are relatively uniform (such as those caused by changing intra-atrial pressure and intra-thoracic pressure) would not be expected to significantly alter wall stress distribution. Another variation tested

was to increase the wall thickness at sites where the atrial wall was thought to be thicker, in particular the inter-atrial septum and the left atrial appendage.²⁵⁹ Increasing wall thickness from 2 mm to 3 mm at these sites caused a small reduction in wall stress locally, although this did not affect the overall relationship with electrophysiologic parameters.

LA structural and electrophysiologic response to stretch

Increased atrial stretch is a consistent aetiological factor in the development of AF.^{13, 132-136} Chronic stretch causes LA dilatation, with heterogenous remodelling of atrial architecture including myocyte hypertrophy, fibrosis, and gap junction remodelling.^{134, 137, 139, 140, 279} Electrophysiologic effects include conduction heterogeneity and anisotropy, areas of low voltage and electrical scar, prolonged effective refractory period, a greater proportion of double potentials and CFAE, and greater inducibility of AF.^{94, 132-137, 139, 140}

Impact of wall stress on electrophysiology

The second stage of this study was to investigate the relationship between wall stress and electrophysiology. Our results showed an inverse relationship between LA wall stress and electrogram amplitude. Similarly, the ROC analysis demonstrated an association between areas of high wall stress and low voltage and electrical scar. Such areas have been interpreted as evidence of remodelling in AF.^{194, 280, 281} Areas of low voltage and electrical scar in persistent AF correlate with areas of late gadolinium enhancement suggestive of scar on MRI and predict a poor outcome after catheter ablation of AF.^{280, 281} Furthermore, low voltage may denote zones of slow conduction.²⁸²

Foci of high wall stress may induce remodelling by directly activating signalling pathways. Mechanical stretch of atrial tissue has been shown to cause upregulation of MMPs.^{144, 145} Likewise, mechanical stress can directly activate type 1 angiotensin II receptors by inducing a conformational change in the protein.^{152, 153} Stretch of ventricular cardiomyocytes increases superoxide anion production *in vitro*, suggesting a role for oxidative stress in this process.¹⁵⁶ Furthermore, inflammation plays a key role in atrial remodelling and could feasibly be affected by local stretch.^{124, 157, 158} However, the observation that an acute decrease in intra-atrial pressure can cause an immediate increase electrogram amplitude and conduction velocity suggests a possible role for focal activation of stretch activated ion channels.^{132, 283}

It is also noteworthy that voltage is lower when assessed in AF compared to sinus rhythm,^{198, 203} and the extent to which areas of low voltage in AF correspond to those in sinus rhythm is uncertain. ^{198, 203, 284} Proposed mechanisms by which voltage may be reduced in AF include propagation of wavefronts through partially repolarized tissue, a variable direction of wavefront propagation, and electrical dissociation of myocardial fibres reducing the summation of local potentials.^{198, 203}

Wall stress and CFAE

There was a trend towards increasing CFAE mean across quartiles of wall stress (suggesting more organized and less rapid electrical activity at higher wall stress) although this did not reach significance. The ROC analysis showed that high wall stress was associated with absence of CFAE. This suggests a

weak relationship whereby high wall stress reduces the propensity of the atrial tissue to support at least some mechanisms of CFAE.

Our data also showed an inverse correlation between CFAE mean and voltage, suggesting increased fractionation at higher voltage. Furthermore, the percentage of the LA occupied by CFAE was inversely proportional to the percentage occupied by scar, suggesting fewer CFAE in more remodelled atria. This is in keeping with other recent studies showing that CFAE are not associated with areas of low voltage^{198, 200-203} but is at odds with conventional wisdom.¹⁹⁴

Focal remodelling might be expected to contribute to zones of slow conduction, pivot points, or block,⁵⁶ and resultant micro- or macro-reentry,²⁷¹ but is less likely to bear any relationship to rotors or rapidly discharging foci which may be more dependent on autonomic drive and proximity to ganglionated plexi. ²⁷¹ Therefore, although atrial remodelling promotes AF,^{94, 132-137, 139, 140} peaks in wall stress and areas of remodelling are actually less likely to support CFAE. One plausible explanation is that stretch and remodelling might lengthen atrial refractoriness^{133-136, 139} which may limit localized reentry and automaticity.

Peaks in wall stress and CFAE were found to coexist at the PV ostia. Although this may suggest an excitatory response there are numerous proposed mechanisms for CFAE at the PV ostia and they may simply reflect proximity to PV drivers. Stretch has been shown to increase the frequency of depolarization at the PVs without affecting the body of the LA.^{78, 285} This may owe to activation of stretch activated ion channels causing membrane depolarization, although it

is unclear why the muscular sleeves surrounding the proximal PVs should respond differently to LA myocardium. The PV ostia can dilate in response to chronic atrial stretch,²⁸⁶ potentially altering wall stress distribution and further exacerbating stretch at the ostia and proximal PVs. This therefore provides a rationale for the association between acutely and chronically elevated LA pressure and increased PV ectopy and initiation of AF.

Wall stress and response to ablation

It was initially uncertain whether it would be meaningful to study the impact of regional wall stress on the response to CFAE ablation. The results of Chapter 5 suggested that CFAE are important in maintaining AF and that there is an acute response to ablation which is to some extent measurable using AFCL. The preceding stages of this chapter of the thesis had been successful, firstly in establishing the computer model to simulate wall stress distribution, and secondly that despite the model's limitations a relationship had been demonstrated between regional wall stress and electrophysiology. Therefore, given that the response to CFAE ablation was quantifiable and the model was shown to have measurable electrophysiologic correlates, it was thought appropriate to proceed with this third line of investigation. However, local wall stress had no impact on whether CFAE ablation caused cycle length prolongation, suggesting that it is unlikely to be useful in guiding LA CFAE ablation. However, as LA CFAE ablation was always performed following wide area circumferential ablation, it remains uncertain whether the peaks in wall stress at the PV ostia were important in maintaining AF.

Limitations

It is difficult to validate wall stress simulation by finite element analysis. However, it has been widely used in biomechanics and has produced results that correlate with both clinical findings²⁸⁷ and biophysical properties when direct testing is feasible.²⁸⁸ It is recognized that this novel model has necessarily taken a simplified view of LA biomechanics. Patient specific and site specific data on LA material properties were not available, although variation in these parameters has only a modest effect on predicted wall stress.²⁵⁸ The resolution of current imaging modalities does not allow regional differences in wall thickness to be incorporated into the model and this is accepted as a limitation. It is also difficult to account for the impact of temporal and regional variation in transmural pressure. However, the accuracy of the geometry is the main determinant of wall stress²⁵⁸ and although refinement of the model may alter the simulated wall stress distribution to some extent, the variations in the model that we have tested suggest these changes are likely to be small and are therefore more likely to clarify the relationship with electrophysiology than change it altogether.

Although areas of low voltage and electrical scar in persistent AF are thought to represent atrial remodelling and correlate with areas suggestive of scar on MRI, ^{194, 280, 281} it is recognized that such areas may not all represent scar. ^{198, 203} Further exploration of the relationship between wall stress and areas of low voltage in sinus rhythm is warranted.

Conclusions

The novel computer model described in this study has provided the first data on LA wall stress distribution. Peaks in LA wall stress were associated with areas of low voltage and electrical scar. Regional differences in wall stress may explain the heterogenous remodelling that results from elevated intra-atrial pressure and promotes AF. However, peaks in wall stress were associated with absence of CFAE and did not predict response to CFAE ablation, suggesting that foci of remodelling do not act as drivers of AF. The observation that the PV ostia had consistently high wall stress and harboured CFAE is compatible with the observations by others that stretch may elicit an excitatory response at the PV ostia without doing so elsewhere in the LA,^{78, 285} suggesting a potential mechanism by which elevated intra-atrial pressure might facilitate initiation of AF.

Chapter 6

Long term efficacy of catheter ablation for AF:

impact of additional targeting of fractionated

electrograms.
<u>Abstract</u>

Introduction: We investigated the long term efficacy of catheter ablation for AF and the impact of ablating complex or fractionated electrograms (CFAE) in addition to pulmonary vein isolation (PVI) and linear lesions in persistent AF. **Methods**: Consecutive cases from 2002-2007 were analysed. All patients underwent wide area circumferential ablation with confirmation of electrical isolation. For persistent AF linear lesions were added, with additional targeting of CFAE from 2005. Data were collected in a prospective database. Attempts were made to contact all patients for follow-up.

Results: 285 patients underwent 530 procedures. Mean age was 57±11 years, 75% male, 20% had structural heart disease and 53% paroxysmal AF. Mean number of procedures was 1.9 per patient (1.7 for PAF and 2.0 for persistent AF). Procedural complications included stroke or TIA in 0.6% and pericardial effusion requiring drainage in 1.7%. During 2.7 (0.2 to 7.4) years of follow-up from the last procedure, there were 7 deaths (unrelated to their ablation or AF) and 3 strokes or TIA (0.3% per year). Freedom from AF/AT was 86% for PAF and 68% for persistent AF. Late recurrence was 3/100 years of follow up after >3 years. Kaplan-Meier analysis showed CFAE ablation improved outcome for persistent AF after the first cluster of procedures (p=0.049), with a trend towards improved final outcome (p=0.130).

Conclusion: Long term freedom from AF is achievable in the majority of patients with PAF and persistent AF with low rates of late recurrence. Additional targeting of CFAE improves outcome for persistent AF. Late adverse events including stroke are few.

Introduction

Catheter ablation is now successful in restoring sinus rhythm for the majority of patients with paroxysmal and persistent AF in the short term, with studies typically reporting freedom from AF or other AT in 70-90% of patients up to a year.^{159, 167, 169, 171, 174, 191} However, follow-up is often short and success is usually reported after the last procedure, meaning patients with late recurrence who undergo successful repeat procedures are counted as successes. This may distort perception of success and patterns of recurrence.

Most studies quote a marked difference in success rates for paroxysmal and persistent AF suggesting a need for further ablation beyond PVI, but some studies do not.^{174, 182, 289} There have been several randomised trials investigating the impact of CFAE ablation for AF (see Table 1.5 for summary). On balance, these suggest a positive impact when CFAE are ablated as an adjunct to PVI for persistent AF.²⁹⁰ However, these studies have typically examined outcome at approximately 1 year and there remains concern that the widespread scar created by CFAE ablation might be pro-arrhythmic over the long term.

To address these issues it was hypothesised firstly that once sinus rhythm is successfully restored following catheter ablation of AF, late recurrence occurring more than a year later is uncommon, as is typically reported for final procedure success in the literature.^{169, 172, 291, 292} Secondly, it was hypothesised that long term freedom from arrhythmia is achieved in significantly fewer patients with persistent AF than with paroxysmal AF. A third hypothesis was

that catheter ablation of CFAE in addition to PVI and linear lesions improves long term freedom from arrhythmia for patients with persistent AF.

To ascertain this, a prospective registry at St Bartholomew's was analysed and patients followed up to determine long term freedom from AF. Catheter ablation of AF at St Bartholomew's has consistently used wide area circumferential ablation (WACA) with confirmation of electrical isolation of the PVs as a procedural end-point since 2002.²⁹³ For persistent AF additional substrate modification has been performed. This was initially limited to linear lesions but has incorporated targeting of complex or fractionated electrograms (CFAE) since 2005. The introduction of CFAE ablation to an otherwise consistent lesion set therefore allowed a unique opportunity to study the impact of CFAE ablation on long term outcome.

Results

Patients & procedures

Analysis included 285 patients aged 56.5 \pm 10.5 years. 14% were over 65 years of age, 75% were male. 151 (53%) had PAF, 134 (47%) had persistent AF and the majority of these (84%) were long lasting persistent AF (i.e. continuous for >1 year). 20% had structural heart disease, 37% had hypertension, and 5% had prior stroke or TIA. Left atrial diameter was 4.3 \pm 0.8cm and 17% had left ventricular systolic dysfunction (ejection fraction < 50%). In total 530 procedures were performed, with a mean per patient of 1.9 ± 1 (1.7 ± 0.9 for PAF, 2.0 ± 1.0 for persistent AF). 122 patients had 1 CA, 105 had 2, 41 had 3, 11 had 4, 5 had 5, and 1 had 6. Patients underwent 1.5 ± 0.7 procedures in their initial cluster, with a further 0.4 ablations for late recurrence. Mean time between procedures in the first cluster was 6.9 months. The mean period between the first cluster of procedures and ablation for late recurrence was 1.4 years. Of those with recurrent arrhythmia 70% were AF, 29% were left atrial flutter, and 1% were typical right atrial flutter.

Median procedure time was 240 (145 - 510) minutes, with fluoroscopy time 53 (17 - 120) minutes. Ablation to sinus rhythm occurred in 12.5% of catheter ablations for persistent AF. Procedural complications (shown in Table 6.1) included stroke or TIA in 0.6% and pericardial effusion requiring drainage in 1.7%, Of these 9 tamponades, 2 occurred during transseptal puncture, 1 occurred after a pop heard whilst isolating the right sided veins, and 6 occurred late despite the absence of an effusion on the echocardiogram routinely performed after cases (5 within 12 hours and one presented to another hospital at 10 days).

Follow up

Of 285 patients 15 could not be traced and were excluded from the analysis, leaving 270 patients. Of these 125 (46%) had persistent AF and 145 (54%) had PAF. Patients were followed-up for a median of 3.3 (2.4-7.5) years from their first procedure, 3.1 (1.3-7.5) years from their initial cluster of procedures, and 2.7 (0.2-7.4) years from their last procedure.

Procedural Complications	Frequency of	% of	% of
	530 procedures	procedures	patients
Procedural death	0	0	0
TIA or stroke (all resolved)	3	0.6	1.1
Tamponade			
(all drained without sequelae)	9	1.7	3.0
Symptomatic PV stenosis	3	0.6	1.1
Groin haematoma	77	14.5	27.0
Haematoma delaying discharge			
or causing readmission	17	3.2	5.9
Femoral pseudo-aneurysm			
(treated with thrombin injection)	1	0.2	0.4

Table 6.1: Procedural complications of catheter ablation for AF.

Legend to Table 6.1: Procedural complications of catheter ablation are given in total for the 530 procedures, as a percentage per procedure, and as a percentage overall per patient (assuming a mean of 1.9 procedures per patient).

Adverse events during follow-up

There were 7 deaths in the cohort, 2 of which were cardiac. One occurred at 27 days post procedure due to myocardial infarction, the other was a sudden cardiac death in a patient with pre-existing heart failure and an ICD in situ more than 2 years post ablation. The non-cardiac deaths were due to 3 malignancies and 2 pneumonias complicating pre-existing pulmonary disease. Other adverse events during follow-up included 1 myocardial infarction, 2 TIAs and a stroke

which resolved without long term neurological deficit. There were no cases of new onset heart failure. 2 patients went on to have AV node ablation and pacemaker implantation.

Freedom from AF

Freedom from AF/AT with and without anti-arrhythmic medication is shown in Table 6.2. AF free survival was significantly better for PAF than PeAF following the first procedure, the initial cluster, and the final procedure (p < 0.001 for each; Figure 1). There was no difference in success for repeat procedures whether the recurrent arrhythmia was AF (53%) or left atrial tachycardia (47%).

	All patients (%)	PAF (%)	Persistent AF (%)
After first procedure	32.3	40.6	22.5
(off drugs)	(30.0)	(38.5)	(20.0)
After first cluster	58.9	68.5	47.5
(off drugs)	(52.1)	(62.9)	(39.2)
After last procedure (off	77.9	86.0	68.3
drugs)	(70.3)	(79.0)	(60.0)
Last 6 months	83.3	90.2	75.0
(off drugs	(73.8)	(81.1)	(65.0)

Table 6.2: Freedom from AF post catheter ablation.

Legend to Table 6.2: Figures are percentage of patients free from any detected atrial tachyarrhythmia lasting >30 seconds. Numbers in brackets are those off any antiarrhythmic medication. The breakdown is shown for patients with PAF and persistent AF.



A. Survival free of AF/AT following first procedure.

B. Survival free of AF/AT following first cluster of procedures.



C. Survival free of AF/AT following last procedure.



Legend to Figure 6.1: Kaplan-Meier curves showing AF free survival (A) following the first procedure, (B) following the first cluster of procedures, and (C) following the final procedure. Significance was assessed using the Log rank test. Late recurrence of AF/AT was analysed starting from the last procedure in the cluster (B), since recurrence of AF/AT following the final procedure (C) does not taken into account late recurrence occurring prior to successful repeat procedures. PAF denotes paroxysmal AF. PeAF denotes persistent AF.

Symptom severity assessed using the CCS-SAF scale is shown in Figure 6.2. Overall 95.1% of patients reported improved symptoms compared to preablation.



Figure 6.2: Symptomatic benefit following catheter ablation of AF.

Legend to Figure 6.2: This bar chart shows the symptomatology of patients at follow-up. Symptoms were assessed using the Canadian Cardiovascular Society Severity of AF (CCS-AF) scale. On this validated scale patient symptoms and limitation are scored from 0 (asymptomatic) to 4 (disabling symptoms). PAF denotes paroxysmal AF. PeAF denotes persistent AF.

At final follow-up 24.4% of the cohort remained on antiarrhythmic drugs: 1.1% on amiodarone, 3.8% on digoxin, 5.7% on class 1 agents, 5.0% on sotalol, 11.0% on other ß-blockers, and 9.9% on rate controlling calcium channel blockers.

Late recurrence

Kaplan-Meier analysis showed that most recurrences occur within 1-2 years (Figure 6.1). Actuarial analysis of the rate of recurrence per 100 patient years of follow-up showed recurrence beyond 3 years in only 3%per year (Table 6.3).

Multivariate analysis

Patient factors predicting success after the final procedure are shown in Figure 6.3A. Independent predictors of recurrence were persistent AF (p < 0.01), female gender (p < 0.05), and structural heart disease (p < 0.001), with a non significant trend towards an effect of time spent in AF (p = 0.148). No procedural factors analysed impacted significantly on first procedure success (Figure 6.3B). Analysing persistent AF cases alone, there was a trend towards improved first procedure success with the use of image integration (p = 0.059; Figure 6.3C). There was no independent effect of a later time of inclusion in the cohort.

Table 6.3: Actuarial analysis of recurrence of AF/AT following the first

cluster of ablation procedures for AF.

	0-1 years	1-2 years	2-3 years	>3 years
All AF	30.0%	6.4%	4.0%	3.0%
(patient years studied)	(270)	(267)	(200)	(164)
PAF	24.1%*	4.2%	2.8%	4.2%
(patient years studied)	(145)	(143)	(109)	(72)
Persistent AF	36.8%	8.9%	5.5%	2.2%
(patient years studied)	(125)	(123)	(91)	(93)
Persistent AF - CFAE targeted	34.2%	7.0%	2.2%	0%
(patient years studied)	(73)	(72)	(46)	(16)
Persistent AF - CFAE not targeted	40.2%	11.6%	8.8% ^A	2.6%
(patient years studied)	(52)	(52)	(45)	(77)

Legend to Table 6.3: Figures show number of recurrences of AF/AT following the first cluster of procedures per 100 years of patient follow-up. This eliminates the effect of diminished numbers followed up on the apparent recurrence rate. The figure in brackets show the number of patient years of follow-up studied. * denotes significant difference for PAF versus persistent AF. ^A denotes trend towards significance with p = 0.086.

Figure 6.3: Multivariate analysis of factors predicting recurrence of AF.



A. Patient factors predicting recurrence of AF after final procedure.

B. Procedural factors predicting failure after first procedure for all AF.





C. Procedural factors predicting failure after first procedure for Persistent AF.

Legend to Figure 6.3: Figures show hazard ratios for recurrence of AF derived from Cox regression analysis, with p values shown to the right. (A) shows patient factors predicting recurrence after the final procedure. (B) shows procedural factors affecting recurrence after a single procedure. (C) shows procedural factors affecting recurrence for patients with persistent AF after a single procedure.

Impact of CFAE ablation on outcome

AF free survival was assessed according to whether patients had CFAE targeted during their first procedure (49% of cohort, Figure 6.4A), whether they had CFAE targeted in at least one procedure in their first cluster (59% of cohort, Figure 6.4B), and whether CFAE were targeted at least once in any of their procedures (65% of cohort, Figure 6.4C). Since CFAE were targeted only from 2005 onwards, those who did not have CFAE targeted were followed up longer. To avoid temporal bias the log rank test was calculated for follow-up truncated at 3 years. Although there was no effect of CFAE ablation on single procedure outcome, there was a 21.6% absolute increase in success after the first cluster of procedures (p = 0.049). This translated to a non-significant trend towards improved final outcome with CFAE ablation (13.4% absolute difference; p =0.130). There was also a non significant trend towards reduced late recurrence with CFAE ablation (p = 0.086 for recurrences between 2 and 3 years; Table 6.3). There was no difference in the procedure time or the number of procedures (in the first cluster or in total). CFAE ablation did not affect the proportion of recurrences after the first procedure due to left atrial tachycardia (22.0% in those who had CFAE targeted versus 17.5% in those who did not; not significant).

<u>AF.</u>



A. Survival free of AF/AT following first procedure

B. Survival free of AF/AT following first cluster of procedures.







Legend to Figure 6.4: Kaplan-Meier curves showing AF free survival (A) following the first procedure, (B) following the first cluster of procedures (i.e. when AF is first eliminated whether after 1 catheter ablation or several), and (C) following the final procedure. The cohort has been divided according to whether patients had CFAE targeted during their first procedure (A), whether they had CFAE targeted in at least one procedure in their first cluster (B), and whether CFAE were targeted at least once in any of their procedures (C). Significance was assessed using the Log rank test. Since CFAE were targeted only from 2005 onwards, those who did not have CFAE targeted were followed up longer. To avoid temporal bias the log rank test was calculated for follow-up truncated at 3 years.

Discussion

Main findings

Long term freedom from AF is achievable in a majority of patients after catheter ablation. Recurrence occurs mostly in the first year, with an annual recurrence rate of approximately 3-5% from 1-3 years, falling to 3% per year thereafter. The success rate was significantly higher for patients with paroxysmal AF than persistent AF (86% off AADs for paroxysmal AF versus 68% for persistent AF). Despite conflicting evidence previously, we have demonstrated incremental benefit in targeting CFAE in persistent AF. This benefit was maintained at long term follow up without any excess of late recurrence of AF or AT in those undergoing CFAE ablation.

Efficacy of catheter ablation for AF

The final procedure success was comparable to other high turnover centres, typically in the region of 70-90%.^{167, 169, 174, 191} The low CCS-SAF scores suggest that those with recurrent AF may still have derived symptomatic benefit, indeed 95% of patients reported improved symptoms.

The single procedure efficacy of catheter ablation for persistent AF was disappointing, but in keeping with other reports.^{64, 168, 182, 191, 267} A recent study reported excellent long term single procedure success. Their use of intracardiac echo to monitor tissue contact may have reduced PV reconnection.¹⁷⁴ However, 5 year outcome reported by the Bordeaux group suggest a low single procedure success rate more in keeping with these data. ¹⁸² New technologies such as robotic navigation to improve catheter stability, catheters that allow

monitoring of tissue contact, or advanced mapping techniques that allow targeting of rotors may improve outcomes.

Multivariate analysis of patient factors impacting on outcome identified structural heart disease, persistent AF and female gender as independent predictors of recurrent arrhythmia. The impact of gender has been noted previously and may relate to subtle differences in cardiac anatomy or possibly more non-PV triggers.^{174, 294} However, it has also been noted that fewer women are referred for ablation and that they generally seem to be referred later in their disease process, having been in AF longer and failed more antiarrhythmic drugs than male patients referred for ablation.²⁹⁴ This gender bias in referral patterns may therefore mean that women presenting for ablation have more remodelled atria than male patients. LA size was not an independent predictor of recurrence despite being identified by others previously, perhaps as there is a relationship between this and time spent in AF.¹⁷⁴

A multivariate analysis of procedural factors impacting on outcome showed no discernable effect of technologies introduced over the course of the study period. In particular the use of steerable sheaths, irrigated catheters, and image integration for mapping systems had no effect.

Patterns of recurrence

Studies report flattening of the AF free survival curve after 1-3 years.^{169, 172, 291, 292} However, this effect may be artificial due to diminished numbers at longer follow-up, and re-listing patients with late recurrence preventing them counting as failures. To circumvent these issues we examined recurrence following the

initial cluster of procedures, with late recurrences counted as failures. Most recurrences occurred by 1 year. Kaplan-Meier curves flattened by 3 years, with only 3 recurrences/100 years of follow-up subsequently (i.e. 3% per year).

Impact of CFAE ablation

There has been difficulty reproducing Nademanee's early success using CFAE ablation alone.^{265, 267} Incremental benefit of CFAE ablation in addition to PV isolation has been demonstrated over the short term,^{191, 221, 225} although not consistently.^{64, 224}

The lack of benefit following a single procedure in this study may reflect the fact that most early recurrence is associated with PV reconnection.²²⁶ Once AF was eliminated following the first cluster of procedures, CFAE ablation resulted in a 21.6% absolute increase in the number maintaining sinus rhythm long term. Hence the decreased ability of the modified atrial substrate to initiate and sustain AF may not become apparent until PV triggers/drivers are removed.

Although Kaplan-Meier analysis showed an early benefit of CFAE ablation, there was also a trend towards reduced late recurrence. CFAE ablation did not affect the proportion of recurrence due to AF and AT, suggesting fears over increased propensity to macro-reentry are unfounded. Notably there was only a trend towards improved final outcome with CFAE ablation (13.4% absolute difference). However, many patients with late recurrence had additional CFAE ablation at their repeat procedure, meaning that the majority of patients with recurrent arrhythmias would have crossed over into the CFAE ablation group. This artefact may have obscured any benefit derived by CFAE ablation

Safety of catheter ablation of AF

The 3.1% major complication rate is comparable to that reported by other high turnover centres (typically 2-3%), and consisted mostly of stroke/TIA and tamponade.^{167-169, 172, 191, 194, 267} Stroke/TIA was infrequent (0.6%) and all resolved. However, our aggressive anticoagulation policy may have resulted in a slightly higher tamponade rate of 1.7% (0.4-1.3% in other large series), although all were drained without sequelae.^{159, 170, 174} Two thirds of tamponades were late, emphasizing the need for vigilance post procedure. The 3 PV stenoses occurred in the first 50 cases, and with more caution to avoid the PV ostia there were none subsequently.

Over 3.3 years the 7 deaths were unrelated to CA or AF. The CHADS2 score for the cohort was 0.8 with an expected stroke rate of 2-3% (1% if anticoagulated).²³⁹ The rate of 0.3% per year confirms the low stroke rate after catheter ablation of AF.^{167, 169, 174}

Limitations

Aggressive screening has revealed that a proportion of apparently cured patients have episodes of asymptomatic AF.²⁹⁵ Although patients underwent ambulatory monitoring, it is recognised that further screening may uncover an increment in asymptomatic recurrent AF. However, the extent to which asymptomatic patients were screened for arrhythmia was comparable to that reported for many other registries and trials.^{64, 159, 167-169, 224, 225}

Over the 5 years of this cohort it is possible that factors other than CFAE ablation have improved outcome in later patients. However, (i) the procedure has been consistent throughout other than the addition of CFAE ablation, (ii) multivariate analysis did not show a significant effect of any procedural factors, and (iii) inclusion of time as a covariate showed no benefit of later inclusion in the cohort. Nevertheless we acknowledge that registry data can be flawed and it is possible there may have been some confounding due to this.

Conclusion

Catheter ablation of AF can achieve long term sinus rhythm for a majority of patients. As most recurrences occur within a year, trials reporting efficacy of catheter ablation for AF should perhaps consider this a minimum for reporting results. The success rate following catheter ablation of persistent AF is still significantly lower than for paroxysmal AF. The addition of CFAE ablation to PVI may improve long term outcome for those with persistent AF. Importantly, CFAE ablation does not appear to be pro-arrhythmic over the long term and does not increase rates of late recurrence with AF or AT.

Chapter 7

Conclusions

Conclusions

The first essential part of this thesis was to establish a detailed definition and classification of CFAE which could be applied in real time live during cases. The description provided for each grade of CFAE was broad enough that all electrograms met the criteria for one grade or another and detailed enough that it could be reproducibly applied during clinical cases. This was a crucial part of this thesis, as clearly it was necessary to accurately distinguish between different CFAE morphologies in order to target them separately and study the effect of ablating them.

Although this was the primary purpose of this chapter of the thesis, it has provided further useful information in two respects. Firstly, this classification has provided a framework that other operators and clinical trialists could use to ensure reproducibility in the targeting CFAE, and indeed allow others to interpret their clinical results with a fuller understanding of exactly what they targeted. Secondly, it was possible to use this grading of fractionation to validate automated CFAE detection algorithms on the two commonly used 3D mapping systems, not only in terms of the accuracy of detection, but also in assessing the degree of electrogram fractionation. The CFAE mean algorithm on the Ensite NavX system and the ICL algorithm on Carto both fared well with similar accuracy, but the other algorithms on Carto such as the ACI and SCI were not as accurate. Although other studies have looked at the accuracy of these algorithms with similar conclusions, ^{221, 247, 250, 251} this study was the first to investigate how well they quantify electrogram fractionation. This is clinically useful, since CFAE burden can be high in some patients covering most of the

atria. Some groups therefore elect to begin by targeting only the most fractionated electrograms on a CFAE map and then remapping before ablating more widely.^{221, 296}

During the course of this work, other descriptions of CFAE have been published. Kremen et al,²⁶⁴ categorized electrograms as either (1) normal, (2) mildly fractionated, (3) moderately fractionated, or (4) severely fractionated. Although they demonstrated a low inter-observer variability, they did not fully define the characteristics of these 4 categories and hence it would be difficult for other centres to adopt the system in a reproducible manner. A physiological classification of CFAE has also been described by Narayan et al, who measured monophasic action potential recordings at CFAE sites and showed that a small proportion of these sites have evidence of rapid depolarisations suggestive of drivers.²¹⁷ These sites of rapid depolarisation were associated with more continuous electrical activity, a shorter cycle length and a lower voltage amplitude. Although this work was physiologically interesting and broadly supports the notion of targeting rapid electrograms or those with continuous fractionation, the classification could not be translated directly into the clinical setting due to its reliance on special equipment.

After establishing that CFAE could be accurately classified using this system, it was then possible to study the effect of ablating different CFAE morphologies. There are a limited number of ways to assess the impact of ablation. Arguably the most definitive effect of ablation is the termination of AF. However, this usually occurs no more than once in a procedure and indeed occurred in only 30% of the patients comprising chapter 4 of this thesis. For this reason, others

have used AFCL prolongation as a marker of response to ablation. ^{241, 254, 255} Although this is a surrogate end-point, it has been shown to correlate with clinical outcome and there is computer modelling which suggests that it may reflect elimination of drivers. ^{63, 253}

It is also recognised that there is a cumulative effect of ablation on AF cycle length, ⁶³ hence it was thought necessary to vary the order in which the different CFAE morphologies were targeted. The order could have been completely randomised, but instead patients were randomised to targeting of CFAE starting with the most fractionated grade first (i.e. grades 1 to 5), or starting with the least fractionated first (i.e. grades 5 to 1). This made it possible to study the effect of ablating CFAE in two distinct orders.

The data from 'The CFAE AF trial' in chapter 4 of this thesis showed that certain CFAE morphologies were more likely to cause AFCL prolongation than others. In particular, ablating CFAE with fractionation for \geq 70% of the sample, especially when there were segments of continuous electrical activity lasting \geq 1 second (i.e. grade 1 & 2 CFAE), were more likely to prolong AFCL than ablation of normal electrograms. Ablation of less fractionated electrograms (\leq 70% of the sample, i.e. grade 3 CFAE) was no more likely to prolong AFCL than ablation of normal electrograms. Interestingly, ablation of more organised electrograms with multiple deflections (grade 4 CFAE) also caused cycle length prolongation compared to normal electrograms. These data strongly suggest that areas where certain CFAE morphologies are recorded are important in maintaining AF.

This was not a mapping study aimed at elucidating the underlying physiology at CFAE sites. The intention was to prove that certain CFAE morphologies are more likely to represent drivers of AF. The differential effect of targeting different CFAE morphologies certainly supports this hypothesis. However, several questions still remain. Since uncertainty remains as to how AF is maintained, these drivers could be a rotors, focal sources with radial activation, zones of slow conduction, or possibly other phenomena. Until these phenomena can be reliably distinguished it will not be possible to compare electrogram properties for each, and it therefore remains uncertain exactly what each CFAE morphology represents. Nevertheless, the classification of CFAE should be clinically useful as it allows an operator to distinguish which CFAE morphologies are important to target. At the time of writing, there have been no other studies prospectively evaluating the effect of targeting different CFAE morphologies.

Another remaining question is whether these data prove that CFAE ablation is not simply de-bulking atrial tissue. Targeting different CFAE morphologies certainly had a differential effect on AFCL, and targeting highly fractionated electrograms first organised the less fractionated electrograms meaning that fewer CFAE were targeted in total. Nevertheless, it could be argued that CFAE simply represent diseased tissue necessary for the maintenance of AF rather than physiologically active drivers. However, these data do not support this. Electrogram amplitude did not predict the response to ablation, meaning that ablation of low amplitude CFAE suggestive of scar tissue were no more likely to cause cycle length prolongation than ablation of high amplitude CFAE. By mapping the same patients in AF and in sinus rhythm, others have shown that areas where CFAE are recorded in AF do not correspond to fractionated or low

amplitude electrograms in sinus rhythm.^{199, 252, 297, 298} Furthermore, CFAE do not correspond to areas of scar on magnetic resonance imaging.²⁵² Taken in conjunction with the data in chapter 4 of this thesis, these data suggest that CFAE are functional phenomena rather than representing a fixed structural lesion. Ablation of certain CFAE morphologies therefore destroys functional phenomena important in maintaining AF rather than de-bulking unhealthy tissue.

In chapter 5, a novel computer model to simulate left atrial wall stress was described. This model, built in collaboration with biomedical engineers, simulated LA wall stress based on contour and geometry using a patient specific geometry from CT. By comparing this simulated wall stress data to electrophysiologic data recorded at the time of catheter ablation of AF, it was possible to firstly explore the relationship between wall stress and LA electrophysiologic remodelling, and secondly to test the importance of peaks in wall stress by assessing the response to ablation there.

It was found that peaks in LA wall stress were associated with areas of low voltage and electrical scar. There was also a trend towards less fractionated electrograms at peaks of wall stress. Furthermore, CFAE were found to be less likely to occur in areas of low voltage than elsewhere. Left atrial CFAE burden was actually inversely proportional to both the median LA voltage and the degree of LA scarring. This is in keeping with the findings of others discussed above, that CFAE do not correspond with areas of low voltage or scar on magnetic resonance imaging. ^{199, 252, 297, 298}

To evaluate the importance of peaks in wall stress in maintaining AF and to assess whether the computer model might have a role in guiding CFAE ablation, the impact of CFAE ablation on AFCL was assessed as a function of the local wall stress. Although the model remained simplistic, the above correlation with electrophysiologic data provided some internal validation for the wall stress simulation, suggesting that further analysis along these lines was reasonable. Furthermore, the results of Chapter 4 suggested that CFAE ablation is not simply de-bulking the atria and that some CFAE are important in maintaining AF, and hence that there is potential to refine CFAE ablation. It was also demonstrated that the acute effect of CFAE ablation can be quantified to some extent using AFCL.

However, there was found to be no difference between wall stress at sites where CFAE ablation caused cycle length prolongation compared to sites where it did not. Furthermore, receiver operating characteristic analysis showed that wall stress could not be used to distinguish between areas that would and would not cause AF cycle length prolongation during CFAE ablation.

Although these data do not suggest that peaks in wall stress are important in maintaining AF, nor do they entirely refute the hypothesis. It is possible that the model is too basic to elucidate such a relationship, although given that there was a demonstrable relationship between wall stress and electrophysiology, this ought not to have been the case. The distribution of peaks in wall stress was in many cases concentrated at the pulmonary vein ostia. As these were isolated by WACA prior to CFAE ablation, the impact of ablating here was not assessed. Furthermore, others have demonstrated an excitatory response with mechanical

stretch at the pulmonary vein ostia which is not elicited elsewhere in the atria.^{78, 285} There may therefore be important differences in the response to stretch at the pulmonary vein ostia where we did not observe the impact of ablation. Lastly, although AFCL may be a reasonable measure of the response to ablation, it is thought to gage whether drivers are being eliminated and is ultimately a surrogate end-point. The real end point of interest is the impact of ablation on long term maintenance of sinus rhythm. Rather than evaluating the impact of wall stress on response to ablation of CFAE, it may be that a more refined model could be used to target areas of advanced remodelling for ablation and that a procedure aiming to homogenise atrial scar might be successful regardless of the short term impact on AFCL.

As this model was entirely novel it necessarily took a simplified view of LA biomechanics as the first step towards understanding wall stress distribution. Although the accuracy of the geometry is the most important factor in determining wall stress,²⁵⁸ two other important factors that are difficult to fully account for are: (i) regional differences in wall thickness, and (ii) the regional and temporal variations in the trans-mural pressure gradient.

The impact of small changes in regional wall thickness and of changes in the global trans-mural pressure gradient were explored in Chapter 5 and appeared to have a very limited effect on the relative distribution of wall stress. However, the scale of the complexities *in vivo* are far greater. The anatomical complexities are not limited simply to differences in regional wall thickness, but also differences in fibre orientation and layering. Furthermore, changes in the trans-mural pressure gradient are not uniform and are impacted by extra-

cardiac structures and changes over time with intra-cardiac pressure during the cardiac cycle and intra-thoracic pressure with respiration.

The fact that there was a demonstrable relationship between simulated LA wall stress and left atrial electrophysiology provides some internal validation for this model. Nevertheless it is recognised that the model is at an early stage and needs further work to enrich it and make it more realistic. Further work plans to derive generic LA anatomical data from cadaveric specimens, so that data on regional wall thickness, fibre layering and orientation can be included in the model. Furthermore, we plan to record intra-atrial pressures and regional pericardial pressures in patients undergoing catheter ablation for ventricular tachycardia to determine regional atrial transmural pressure gradients for inclusion in the model.

Other than refinements of the model, there are other methodological differences that might be incorporated into further work. The intention of the study comprising Chapter 5 of the thesis was not just to establish the wall stress model and to examine the relationship with left atrial electrophysiology, but to examine the importance of regions with high wall stress in maintaining AF, and ultimately whether wall stress might be useful in guiding CFAE ablation. Clearly this is several steps at once. Further work will focus on better defining the relationship between LA wall stress and electrophysiology in the first instance. In particular, there is now evidence that electrogram voltage amplitude in AF may not correlate very well with that in sinus rhythm. ^{198, 203} It would therefore be useful to re-examine the relationship between wall stress and electrogram voltage and electrogram voltage in sinus rhythm. This would also allow assessment of the impact on

conduction velocity and refractory periods. Furthermore, the current study used a pulmonary vein mapping catheter to acquire electroanatomic mapping data points as several can be acquired simultaneously. However, this inevitably means that some of the points assumed to be low voltage or electrical scar were in fact just poor contact between the electrodes and the myocardium. Future studies will therefore use point by point data collection. Since this data was acquired, catheters capable of measuring contact force have also become available. Using a catheter to collect data points one by one with a pre-specified contact force will be the ideal way to collect further data.

Chapter 6 of this thesis examined the long term outcome after catheter ablation of AF, the rates of late recurrence, and the difference in outcomes for paroxysmal and persistent AF. This enabled an assessment of how CFAE ablation impacts on long term outcome in patients with persistent AF, complementing the work in the other chapters of this thesis examining the acute effects of CFAE ablation.

Other studies examining long term outcome after catheter ablation of AF are summarised in Table 1.4. The data presented in Chapter 6 still represents one of the longest follow-up studies to date following catheter ablation of AF. The dataset has been expanded subsequently as part of other studies examining long term outcome,²⁹⁹⁻³⁰¹ and have recently been included in a meta-analysis.²⁸⁹ These data show that the long term outcome after catheter ablation remains relatively poor after a single procedure, particularly for persistent AF. However the outcome after repeated procedures (a mean of 1.7 procedures for paroxysmal AF or 2.0 for persistent AF) was actually much better, with sinus

rhythm maintained in 86% for paroxysmal AF and 68% for persistent AF off anti arrhythmic drugs at 2.7 years from the last ablation procedure. Late recurrence at greater than 3 years following the last procedure was uncommon at approximately 3% per year. These data remain an important part of the literature on outcome after catheter ablation of AF. Much of the long term follow up data following catheter ablation of AF has been published by the Natale group, who quote much higher success rates with few repeat procedures and only very rare complications.^{174, 289} The data from the current study therefore forms part of an important counterbalance to the literature and may arguably better reflects the experience of many other centres.¹⁶⁰

These registry data pre-date the work in Chapters 3-5 aiming to refine CFAE ablation. Chapter 6 therefore examines the clinical impact of a conventional approach to CFAE ablation. Although there was no impact of targeting CFAE in persistent AF after a single procedure, there was a 22% absolute increase in the success rate following repeat procedures. It is unclear why this effect was evident only after repeated procedures. It is possible that many of the early recurrences were due to pulmonary vein reconnection, and that the impact of CFAE ablation may not be evident until after lasting PVI has been achieved. Table 1.4 summarizes randomised controlled trials investigating the efficacy of CFAE ablation for AF. The majority of these studies support CFAE ablation for persistent AF, and a recent meta-analysis also concluded that this was the case.²⁹⁰ The data from Chapter 6 of this thesis also suggest a positive impact of CFAE ablation on long term outcome and add to the literature in two respects. Firstly, CFAE ablation was performed as an adjunct to both PVI and linear lesions, whereas the majority of previous studies evaluated CFAE ablation as

an adjunct to PVI alone. Secondly, follow up for previous studies were typically up to 1 year, with concern from some quarters that long term outcome might be poor due to LA scar post CFAE ablation. The current study provides the longest follow up to date following CFAE ablation at 3.3 years. These data are therefore reassuring in that the rates of late recurrence (AF or AT) are certainly no higher after CFAE ablation, and may actually be lower than the control group.

The main limitation of the data comprising Chapter 6 is that it is a single centre retrospective study. Outcome was examined before and after the incorporation of CFAE ablation into an otherwise consistent lesion set. Nevertheless, it is possible that other factors which changed over this time period may have influenced the results. Although a multivariate analysis did not show a significant effect of any of these other changes, and in particular inclusion of time as a covariate did not show any benefit of later inclusion in the cohort, it is difficult to fully account for these factors and there may be a degree of confounding relating to this.

When this thesis was originally conceived, Nademanee's work showing high success rates with CFAE ablation as a standalone strategy for AF had recently been published. The Morady group had also published their experience with CFAE ablation, showing much the opposite. There was therefore immense interest and controversy surrounding CFAE ablation. Over the subsequent years the randomised studies summarised in Tale 1.5 were published. There remains controversy, but meta-analysis suggests that CFAE ablation improves outcomes when performed in addition to PVI for persistent AF.²⁹⁰ Unfortunately,

there has arguably been little other progress in the field of CFAE ablation, with few publications on how CFAE ablation might be refined.

Although performing CFAE ablation as an adjunct to PVI and linear lesions may improve outcomes, the technique as it stands has significant draw backs. It is not an ideal way of targeting drivers, since many patients remain in AF following elimination of CFAE, and ablation of many CFAE produces no impact whilst causing unnecessary scarring. CFAE are therefore not terribly sensitive or specific markers of drivers in AF. At the time of writing there is ongoing work by others attempting to refine CFAE ablation.

The Selective CFAE targeting for AF (SELECT AF) study is currently randomising 80 patients with AF to PVI followed by either conventional targeting of CFAE to eliminate all CFAE, or targeting of only CFAE with continuous electrical activity.²⁹⁶ The primary end-point is freedom from AF at 1 year. This will demonstrate whether targeting a limited number of CFAE can achieve the same clinical results without destroying so much atrial tissue leaving scar that is potentially pro-arrhythmic. Similarly, the Modified Ablation Guided by Ibutilide in Chronic AF (MAGIC AF) study is currently enrolling and is randomising 200 patients with persistent AF to PVI followed by either conventional CFAE ablation or CFAE ablation after administration of Ibutilide.³⁰² The hope is that Ibutilide administration may organise AF, reduce CFAE burden and thereby limit the amount of ablation required to eliminate important drivers, with the primary endpoint being freedom from AF at 1 year. Data from these studies will help refine CFAE ablation, maximising efficacy whilst minimising collateral damage to the atria. However, data from this thesis and elsewhere suggest that CFAE ablation

is likely to remain an imprecise way of targeting drivers in AF. Ultimately it may be that these drivers can be mapped directly,^{48, 49, 303} perhaps dispensing with the need for ablation of surrogates such as CFAE at all.

In conclusion, these data demonstrate that it is possible to reliably discern different CFAE morphologies by eye. Furthermore, ablation of certain CFAE morphologies are more likely to prolong AFCL, suggesting firstly that CFAE ablation is not simply de-bulking the atria, and secondly that these CFAE are important in maintaining AF. However, targeting CFAE remains an imprecise process and ablation should be limited to those CFAE most likely to have an effect. Correlating electrophysiologic data with simulated wall stress demonstrated a relationship between peaks in wall stress and areas of low voltage areas and electrical scar, suggesting that peaks in wall stress may directly induce foci of remodelling. However, peaks in wall stress did not cause CFAE and there was in fact a weak relationship whereby less fractionated electrogram were found in areas of higher wall stress. These preliminary data do not suggest that these foci of remodelling act as drivers maintaining AF, and furthermore do not suggest a role for wall stress simulation in guiding or refining CFAE ablation. These data confirm that there remains a difference in long term outcomes following catheter ablation of paroxysmal and persistent AF, but that CFAE ablation in addition to PVI and linear lesions improves outcomes for persistent AF. Importantly, the rate of late recurrence due to AF or AT was not higher with CFAE ablation, suggesting that the widespread scar that can be created by CFAE ablation did not seem to be proarrhythmic over the long term. Although these data support conventional targeting of CFAE when it is performed as an adjunct to PVI and linear lesions for persistent AF, selective

targeting of CFAE based on electrogram morphology may help limit unnecessary damage to the atria. Further refinement of CFAE ablation, or ultimately its replacement by a more precise means of targeting mechanisms sustaining AF remains desirable.
References

- Ryder KM, Benjamin EJ. Epidemiology and significance of atrial fibrillation. *Am J Cardiol* 1999;84:131R-8R.
- (2) Go AS, Hylek EM, Phillips KA, Chang Y, Henault LE, Selby JV, Singer DE. Prevalence of diagnosed atrial fibrillation in adults: national implications for rhythm management and stroke prevention: the AnTicoagulation and Risk Factors in Atrial Fibrillation (ATRIA) Study. *JAMA* 2001;285:2370-5.
- (3) Reardon M, Camm AJ. Atrial fibrillation in the elderly. *Clin Cardiol* 1996;19:765-75.
- (4) Gibbs CR, Lip GY. Atrial fibrillation and ethnicity. *Circulation* 1999;100:e153.
- (5) Lloyd-Jones DM, Wang TJ, Leip EP, Larson MG, Levy D, Vasan RS, D'Agostino RB, Massaro JM, Beiser A, Wolf PA, Benjamin EJ. Lifetime risk for development of atrial fibrillation: the Framingham Heart Study. *Circulation* 2004;110:1042-6.
- (6) Stewart S, Murphy NF, Walker A, McGuire A, McMurray JJ. Cost of an emerging epidemic: an economic analysis of atrial fibrillation in the UK. *Heart* 2004;90:286-92.
- (7) Benjamin EJ, Wolf PA, D'Agostino RB, Silbershatz H, Kannel WB, Levy
 D. Impact of atrial fibrillation on the risk of death: the Framingham Heart
 Study. *Circulation* 1998;98:946-52.

- (8) Nieuwlaat R, Capucci A, Camm AJ, Olsson SB, Andresen D, Davies DW, Cobbe S, Breithardt G, Le Heuzey JY, Prins MH, Levy S, Crijns HJ. Atrial fibrillation management: a prospective survey in ESC member countries: the Euro Heart Survey on Atrial Fibrillation. *Eur Heart J* 2005;26:2422-34.
- (9) Nabauer M, Gerth A, Limbourg T, Schneider S, Oeff M, Kirchhof P, Goette A, Lewalter T, Ravens U, Meinertz T, Breithardt G, Steinbeck G. The Registry of the German Competence NETwork on Atrial Fibrillation: patient characteristics and initial management. *Europace* 2009;11:423-34.
- (10) Kerr CR, Humphries KH, Talajic M, Klein GJ, Connolly SJ, Green M, Boone J, Sheldon R, Dorian P, Newman D. Progression to chronic atrial fibrillation after the initial diagnosis of paroxysmal atrial fibrillation: results from the Canadian Registry of Atrial Fibrillation. *Am Heart J* 2005;149:489-96.
- (11) Jahangir A, Lee V, Friedman PA, Trusty JM, Hodge DO, Kopecky SL, Packer DL, Hammill SC, Shen WK, Gersh BJ. Long-term progression and outcomes with aging in patients with lone atrial fibrillation: a 30year follow-up study. *Circulation* 2007 June 19;115(24):3050-6.
- (12) Camm AJ, Kirchhof P, Lip GY, Schotten U, Savelieva I, Ernst S, Van Gelder IC, Al-Attar N, Hindricks G, Prendergast B, Heidbuchel H, Alfieri O, Angelini A, Atar D, Colonna P, De CR, De SJ, Goette A, Gorenek B, Heldal M, Hohloser SH, Kolh P, Le Heuzey JY, Ponikowski P, Rutten FH, Vahanian A, Auricchio A, Bax J, Ceconi C, Dean V, Filippatos G,

Funck-Brentano C, Hobbs R, Kearney P, McDonagh T, Popescu BA, Reiner Z, Sechtem U, Sirnes PA, Tendera M, Vardas PE, Widimsky P, Vardas PE, Agladze V, Aliot E, Balabanski T, Blomstrom-Lundqvist C, Capucci A, Crijns H, Dahlof B, Folliguet T, Glikson M, Goethals M, Gulba DC, Ho SY, Klautz RJ, Kose S, McMurray J, Perrone FP, Raatikainen P, Salvador MJ, Schalij MJ, Shpektor A, Sousa J, Stepinska J, Uuetoa H, Zamorano JL, Zupan I. Guidelines for the management of atrial fibrillation: the Task Force for the Management of Atrial Fibrillation of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC). *Europace* 2010;12:1360-420.

- (13) Kannel WB, Abbott RD, Savage DD, McNamara PM. Epidemiologic features of chronic atrial fibrillation: the Framingham study. N Engl J Med 1982;306:1018-22.
- (14) Stewart S, Hart CL, Hole DJ, McMurray JJ. A population-based study of the long-term risks associated with atrial fibrillation: 20-year follow-up of the Renfrew/Paisley study. *Am J Med* 2002;113:359-64.
- (15) Wyse DG, Waldo AL, DiMarco JP, Domanski MJ, Rosenberg Y, Schron EB, Kellen JC, Greene HL, Mickel MC, Dalquist JE, Corley SD. A comparison of rate control and rhythm control in patients with atrial fibrillation. *N Engl J Med* 2002;347:1825-33.
- (16) Hohnloser SH, Kuck KH, Lilienthal J. Rhythm or rate control in atrial fibrillation--Pharmacological Intervention in Atrial Fibrillation (PIAF): a randomised trial. *Lancet* 2000;356:1789-94.

- (17) Carlsson J, Miketic S, Windeler J, Cuneo A, Haun S, Micus S, Walter S, Tebbe U. Randomized trial of rate-control versus rhythm-control in persistent atrial fibrillation: the Strategies of Treatment of Atrial Fibrillation (STAF) study. *J Am Coll Cardiol* 2003;41:1690-6.
- (18) Corley SD, Epstein AE, DiMarco JP, Domanski MJ, Geller N, Greene HL, Josephson RA, Kellen JC, Klein RC, Krahn AD, Mickel M, Mitchell LB, Nelson JD, Rosenberg Y, Schron E, Shemanski L, Waldo AL, Wyse DG. Relationships between sinus rhythm, treatment, and survival in the Atrial Fibrillation Follow-Up Investigation of Rhythm Management (AFFIRM) Study. *Circulation* 2004;109:1509-13.
- (19) Pedersen OD, Bagger H, Keller N, Marchant B, Kober L, Torp-Pedersen C. Efficacy of dofetilide in the treatment of atrial fibrillationflutter in patients with reduced left ventricular function: a Danish investigations of arrhythmia and mortality on dofetilide (diamond) substudy. *Circulation* 2001;104:292-6.
- (20) Friberg L, Hammar N, Edvardsson N, Rosenqvist M. The prognosis of patients with atrial fibrillation is improved when sinus rhythm is restored: report from the Stockholm Cohort of Atrial Fibrillation (SCAF). *Heart* 2009;95:1000-5.
- (21) Roy D, Talajic M, Nattel S, Wyse DG, Dorian P, Lee KL, Bourassa MG, Arnold JM, Buxton AE, Camm AJ, Connolly SJ, Dubuc M, Ducharme A, Guerra PG, Hohnloser SH, Lambert J, Le Heuzey JY, O'Hara G, Pedersen OD, Rouleau JL, Singh BN, Stevenson LW, Stevenson WG,

Thibault B, Waldo AL. Rhythm control versus rate control for atrial fibrillation and heart failure. *N Engl J Med* 2008;358:2667-77.

- (22) Waldo AL, Camm AJ, deRuyter H, Friedman PL, MacNeil DJ, Pauls JF, Pitt B, Pratt CM, Schwartz PJ, Veltri EP. Effect of d-sotalol on mortality in patients with left ventricular dysfunction after recent and remote myocardial infarction. The SWORD Investigators. Survival With Oral d-Sotalol. *Lancet* 1996;348:7-12.
- (23) Echt DS, Liebson PR, Mitchell LB, Peters RW, Obias-Manno D, Barker AH, Arensberg D, Baker A, Friedman L, Greene HL, Mortality and morbidity in patients receiving encainide, flecainide, or placebo. The Cardiac Arrhythmia Suppression Trial. N Engl J Med 1991;324:781-8.
- (24) Flaker GC, Blackshear JL, McBride R, Kronmal RA, Halperin JL, Hart RG. Antiarrhythmic drug therapy and cardiac mortality in atrial fibrillation. The Stroke Prevention in Atrial Fibrillation Investigators. J Am Coll Cardiol 1992;20:527-32.
- (25) Lewis T. Report CXIX: Auricular fibrillation: a common condition. Br Med J 2012;1909:1528.
- (26) Flegel KM. From delirium cordis to atrial fibrillation: historical development of a disease concept. Ann Intern Med 1995;122:867-73.
- (27) Mayer AG. Rhythmical pulsation in scyphomedusae. *Carnegie Institute* of Washington 1906;47:1-62.
- (28) Mines GR. On dynamic equilibrium in the heart. *J Physiol (Lond)* 1913;46:349-83.

- (29) Mines GR. On circulating excitation in heart muscle and their possible relation to tachycardia and fibrillation. *Trans R Soc Can* 1914;IV:43-52.
- (30) Schotten U, Verheule S, Kirchhof P, Goette A. Pathophysiological mechanisms of atrial fibrillation: a translational appraisal. *Physiol Rev* 2011;91:265-325.
- (31) Lewis T. *The mechanism and graphic registration of the heart beat. 3rd Edition.* London: Shaw & Sons; 1925.
- (32) Garrey we. Auricular fibrillation. *Physiol Rev* 1924;4:215-50.
- (33) Allessie MA, Bonke FI, Schopman FJ. Circus movement in rabbit atrial muscle as a mechanism of trachycardia. *Circ Res* 1973;33:54-62.
- (34) Allessie MA, Bonke FI, Schopman FJ. Circus movement in rabbit atrial muscle as a mechanism of tachycardia. II. The role of nonuniform recovery of excitability in the occurrence of unidirectional block, as studied with multiple microelectrodes. *Circ Res* 1976;39:168-77.
- (35) Allessie MA, Bonke FI, Schopman FJ. Circus movement in rabbit atrial muscle as a mechanism of tachycardia. III. The "leading circle" concept: a new model of circus movement in cardiac tissue without the involvement of an anatomical obstacle. *Circ Res* 1977;41:9-18.
- (36) Zaikin AN, Zhabotinsky AM. Concentration wave propagation in twodimensional liquid-phase self-oscillating system. *Nature* 1970;225:535-7.

- (37) Beaumont J, Davidenko N, Davidenko JM, Jalife J. Spiral waves in twodimensional models of ventricular muscle: formation of a stationary core. *Biophys J* 1998;75:1-14.
- (38) Comtois P, Kneller J, Nattel S. Of circles and spirals: bridging the gap between the leading circle and spiral wave concepts of cardiac reentry. *Europace* 2005;7 Suppl 2:10-20.
- (39) Laurita KR, Girouard SD, Rudy Y, Rosenbaum DS. Role of passive electrical properties during action potential restitution in intact heart. *Am J Physiol* 1997;273(3 Pt 2):H1205-H1214.
- (40) Davidenko JM, Pertsov AV, Salomonsz R, Baxter W, Jalife J. Stationary and drifting spiral waves of excitation in isolated cardiac muscle. *Nature* 1992;355:349-51.
- (41) Pertsov AM, Davidenko JM, Salomonsz R, Baxter WT, Jalife J. Spiral waves of excitation underlie reentrant activity in isolated cardiac muscle. *Circ Res* 1993;72:631-50.
- (42) Skanes AC, Mandapati R, Berenfeld O, Davidenko JM, Jalife J. Spatiotemporal periodicity during atrial fibrillation in the isolated sheep heart. *Circulation* 1998;98:1236-48.
- (43) Berenfeld O, Mandapati R, Dixit S, Skanes AC, Chen J, Mansour M, Jalife J. Spatially distributed dominant excitation frequencies reveal hidden organization in atrial fibrillation in the Langendorff-perfused sheep heart. J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol 2000;11:869-79.

- (44) Chen J, Mandapati R, Berenfeld O, Skanes AC, Gray RA, Jalife J. Dynamics of wavelets and their role in atrial fibrillation in the isolated sheep heart. *Cardiovasc Res* 2000;48:220-32.
- (45) Mandapati R, Skanes A, Chen J, Berenfeld O, Jalife J. Stable microreentrant sources as a mechanism of atrial fibrillation in the isolated sheep heart. *Circulation* 2000;101:194-9.
- (46) Mansour M, Mandapati R, Berenfeld O, Chen J, Samie FH, Jalife J.
 Left-to-right gradient of atrial frequencies during acute atrial fibrillation in the isolated sheep heart. *Circulation* 2001;103:2631-6.
- (47) Yamabe H, Morihisa K, Tanaka Y, Uemura T, Enomoto K, Kawano H, Ogawa H. Mechanisms of the maintenance of atrial fibrillation: role of the complex fractionated atrial electrogram assessed by noncontact mapping. *Heart Rhythm* 2009;6:1120-8.
- (48) Narayan SM, Krummen DE, Rappel WJ. Clinical mapping approach to diagnose electrical rotors and focal impulse sources for human atrial fibrillation. *J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol* 2012;23:447-54.
- (49) Narayan SM, Krummen DE, Shivkumar K, Clopton P, Rappel WJ, Miller JM. Treatment of Atrial Fibrillation by the Ablation of Localized Sources: CONFIRM (Conventional Ablation for Atrial Fibrillation With or Without Focal Impulse and Rotor Modulation) Trial. *J Am Coll Cardiol* 2012;60:628-36.
- (50) Winfree AT. Scroll-shaped waves of chemical activity in three dimensions. *Science* 1973;181:937-9.

- (51) Derakhchan K, Li D, Courtemanche M, Smith B, Brouillette J, Page PL, Nattel S. Method for simultaneous epicardial and endocardial mapping of in vivo canine heart: application to atrial conduction properties and arrhythmia mechanisms. *J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol* 2001;12:548-55.
- (52) de Groot NM, Houben RP, Smeets JL, Boersma E, Schotten U, Schalij MJ, Crijns H, Allessie MA. Electropathological substrate of longstanding persistent atrial fibrillation in patients with structural heart disease: epicardial breakthrough. *Circulation* 2010;122:1674-82.
- (53) Moe GK, Abildskov JA. Atrial fibrillation as a self-sustaining arrhythmia independent of focal discharge. *Am Heart J* 1959;58:59-70.
- (54) Moe GK, Rheinboldt WC, Abildskov JA. A computer model of atrial fibrillation. *Am Heart J* 1964;67:200-20.
- (55) Allessie MA, Lammers WJ, Bonke FI, Hollen J. Experimental evaluation of Moe's multiple wavelet hypothesis of atrial fibrillation. *Cardiac Electrophysiology and arrhythmias*.Olando: Grune and Stratton; 1985.
 p. 265-75.
- (56) Konings KT, Kirchhof CJ, Smeets JR, Wellens HJ, Penn OC, Allessie MA. High-density mapping of electrically induced atrial fibrillation in humans. *Circulation* 1994;89:1665-80.
- (57) Cox JL, Canavan TE, Schuessler RB, Cain ME, Lindsay BD, Stone C, Smith PK, Corr PB, Boineau JP. The surgical treatment of atrial fibrillation. II. Intraoperative electrophysiologic mapping and description of the electrophysiologic basis of atrial flutter and atrial fibrillation. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 1991;101:406-26.

- (58) Wijffels MC, Kirchhof CJ, Dorland R, Allessie MA. Atrial fibrillation begets atrial fibrillation. A study in awake chronically instrumented goats. *Circulation* 1995;92:1954-68.
- (59) Stulak JM, Sundt TM, III, Dearani JA, Daly RC, Orsulak TA, Schaff HV.
 Ten-year experience with the Cox-maze procedure for atrial fibrillation: how do we define success? *Ann Thorac Surg* 2007;83:1319-24.
- (60) SCHERF D, TERRANOVA R. Mechanism of auricular flutter and fibrillation. *Am J Physiol* 1949;159:137-42.
- (61) Haissaguerre M, Jais P, Shah DC, Takahashi A, Hocini M, Quiniou G, Garrigue S, Le MA, Le MP, Clementy J. Spontaneous initiation of atrial fibrillation by ectopic beats originating in the pulmonary veins. *N Engl J Med* 1998;339:659-66.
- (62) Chen SA, Hsieh MH, Tai CT, Tsai CF, Prakash VS, Yu WC, Hsu TL, Ding YA, Chang MS. Initiation of atrial fibrillation by ectopic beats originating from the pulmonary veins: electrophysiological characteristics, pharmacological responses, and effects of radiofrequency ablation. *Circulation* 1999;100:1879-86.
- (63) Haissaguerre M, Sanders P, Hocini M, Hsu LF, Shah DC, Scavee C, Takahashi Y, Rotter M, Pasquie JL, Garrigue S, Clementy J, Jais P. Changes in atrial fibrillation cycle length and inducibility during catheter ablation and their relation to outcome. *Circulation* 2004;109:3007-13.
- (64) Oral H, Chugh A, Yoshida K, Sarrazin JF, Kuhne M, Crawford T,
 Chalfoun N, Wells D, Boonyapisit W, Veerareddy S, Billakanty S, Wong
 WS, Good E, Jongnarangsin K, Pelosi F, Jr., Bogun F, Morady F. A
 226

randomized assessment of the incremental role of ablation of complex fractionated atrial electrograms after antral pulmonary vein isolation for long-lasting persistent atrial fibrillation. *J Am Coll Cardiol* 2009;53:782-9.

- (65) Schuessler RB, Grayson TM, Bromberg BI, Cox JL, Boineau JP. Cholinergically mediated tachyarrhythmias induced by a single extrastimulus in the isolated canine right atrium. *Circ Res* 1992;71:1254-67.
- (66) Ho SY, Cabrera JA, Tran VH, Farre J, Anderson RH, Sanchez-Quintana D. Architecture of the pulmonary veins: relevance to radiofrequency ablation. *Heart* 2001;86:265-70.
- (67) Jais P, Hocini M, MacLe L, Choi KJ, Deisenhofer I, Weerasooriya R, Shah DC, Garrigue S, Raybaud F, Scavee C, Le MP, Clementy J, Haissaguerre M. Distinctive electrophysiological properties of pulmonary veins in patients with atrial fibrillation. *Circulation* 2002;106:2479-85.
- (68) Ehrlich JR, Cha TJ, Zhang L, Chartier D, Melnyk P, Hohnloser SH, Nattel S. Cellular electrophysiology of canine pulmonary vein cardiomyocytes: action potential and ionic current properties. *J Physiol* 2003;551(Pt 3):801-13.
- (69) Po SS, Li Y, Tang D, Liu H, Geng N, Jackman WM, Scherlag B, Lazzara R, Patterson E. Rapid and stable re-entry within the pulmonary vein as a mechanism initiating paroxysmal atrial fibrillation. *J Am Coll Cardiol* 2005;45:1871-7.

- (70) Masani F. Node-like cells in the myocardial layer of the pulmonary vein of rats: an ultrastructural study. *J Anat* 1986;145:133-42.
- (71) Chen YJ, Chen SA, Chen YC, Yeh HI, Chan P, Chang MS, Lin CI. Effects of rapid atrial pacing on the arrhythmogenic activity of single cardiomyocytes from pulmonary veins: implication in initiation of atrial fibrillation. *Circulation* 2001;104:2849-54.
- (72) Chen YJ, Chen YC, Yeh HI, Lin CI, Chen SA. Electrophysiology and arrhythmogenic activity of single cardiomyocytes from canine superior vena cava. *Circulation* 2002;105:2679-85.
- (73) Arora R, Verheule S, Scott L, Navarrete A, Katari V, Wilson E, Vaz D, Olgin JE. Arrhythmogenic substrate of the pulmonary veins assessed by high-resolution optical mapping. *Circulation* 2003;107:1816-21.
- (74) Zhou S, Chang CM, Wu TJ, Miyauchi Y, Okuyama Y, Park AM, Hamabe A, Omichi C, Hayashi H, Brodsky LA, Mandel WJ, Ting CT, Fishbein MC, Karagueuzian HS, Chen PS. Nonreentrant focal activations in pulmonary veins in canine model of sustained atrial fibrillation. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* 2002;283:H1244-H1252.
- (75) Chen YJ, Chen SA, Chen YC, Yeh HI, Chang MS, Lin CI. Electrophysiology of single cardiomyocytes isolated from rabbit pulmonary veins: implication in initiation of focal atrial fibrillation. *Basic Res Cardiol* 2002;97:26-34.
- (76) Hocini M, Ho SY, Kawara T, Linnenbank AC, Potse M, Shah D, Jais P, Janse MJ, Haissaguerre M, De Bakker JM. Electrical conduction in

canine pulmonary veins: electrophysiological and anatomic correlation. *Circulation* 2002;105:2442-8.

- (77) Hamabe A, Okuyama Y, Miyauchi Y, Zhou S, Pak HN, Karagueuzian HS, Fishbein MC, Chen PS. Correlation between anatomy and electrical activation in canine pulmonary veins. *Circulation* 2003;107:1550-5.
- (78) Kalifa J, Jalife J, Zaitsev AV, Bagwe S, Warren M, Moreno J, Berenfeld O, Nattel S. Intra-atrial pressure increases rate and organization of waves emanating from the superior pulmonary veins during atrial fibrillation. *Circulation* 2003;108:668-71.
- (79) Ouyang F, Bansch D, Ernst S, Schaumann A, Hachiya H, Chen M, Chun J, Falk P, Khanedani A, Antz M, Kuck KH. Complete isolation of left atrium surrounding the pulmonary veins: new insights from the double-Lasso technique in paroxysmal atrial fibrillation. *Circulation* 2004;110:2090-6.
- (80) Kalman JM, Olgin JE, Karch MR, Hamdan M, Lee RJ, Lesh MD. "Cristal tachycardias": origin of right atrial tachycardias from the crista terminalis identified by intracardiac echocardiography. J Am Coll Cardiol 1998;31:451-9.
- (81) Kistler PM, Roberts-Thomson KC, Haqqani HM, Fynn SP, Singarayar S, Vohra JK, Morton JB, Sparks PB, Kalman JM. P-wave morphology in focal atrial tachycardia: development of an algorithm to predict the anatomic site of origin. J Am Coll Cardiol 2006;48:1010-7.

- (82) Morton JB, Sanders P, Das A, Vohra JK, Sparks PB, Kalman JM. Focal atrial tachycardia arising from the tricuspid annulus: electrophysiologic and electrocardiographic characteristics. *J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol* 2001;12:653-9.
- (83) Lin WS, Tai CT, Hsieh MH, Tsai CF, Lin YK, Tsao HM, Huang JL, Yu WC, Yang SP, Ding YA, Chang MS, Chen SA. Catheter ablation of paroxysmal atrial fibrillation initiated by non-pulmonary vein ectopy. *Circulation* 2003;107:3176-83.
- (84) Di Biase L, Burkhardt JD, Mohanty P, Sanchez J, Mohanty S, Horton R, Gallinghouse GJ, Bailey SM, Zagrodzky JD, Santangeli P, Hao S, Hongo R, Beheiry S, Themistoclakis S, Bonso A, Rossillo A, Corrado A, Raviele A, Al-Ahmad A, Wang P, Cummings JE, Schweikert RA, Pelargonio G, Dello RA, Casella M, Santarelli P, Lewis WR, Natale A. Left atrial appendage: an underrecognized trigger site of atrial fibrillation. *Circulation* 2010;122:109-18.
- (85) Kistler PM, Sanders P, Hussin A, Morton JB, Vohra JK, Sparks PB, Kalman JM. Focal atrial tachycardia arising from the mitral annulus: electrocardiographic and electrophysiologic characterization. *J Am Coll Cardiol* 2003;41:2212-9.
- (86) Yamada T, Murakami Y, Yoshida Y, Okada T, Yoshida N, Toyama J, Tsuboi N, Inden Y, Hirai M, Murohara T, McElderry HT, Epstein AE, Plumb VJ, Kay GN. Electrophysiologic and electrocardiographic characteristics and radiofrequency catheter ablation of focal atrial

tachycardia originating from the left atrial appendage. *Heart Rhythm* 2007;4:1284-91.

- (87) Hocini M, Shah AJ, Nault I, Sanders P, Wright M, Narayan SM, Takahashi Y, Jais P, Matsuo S, Knecht S, Sacher F, Lim KT, Clementy J, Haissaguerre M. Localized reentry within the left atrial appendage: arrhythmogenic role in patients undergoing ablation of persistent atrial fibrillation. *Heart Rhythm* 2011;8:1853-61.
- (88) Corrado A, Bonso A, Madalosso M, Rossillo A, Themistoclakis S, Di BL, Natale A, Raviele A. Impact of systematic isolation of superior vena cava in addition to pulmonary vein antrum isolation on the outcome of paroxysmal, persistent, and permanent atrial fibrillation ablation: results from a randomized study. *J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol* 2010;21:1-5.
- (89) Hwang C, Wu TJ, Doshi RN, Peter CT, Chen PS. Vein of marshall cannulation for the analysis of electrical activity in patients with focal atrial fibrillation. *Circulation* 2000;101:1503-5.
- (90) Morillo CA, Klein GJ, Jones DL, Guiraudon CM. Chronic rapid atrial pacing. Structural, functional, and electrophysiological characteristics of a new model of sustained atrial fibrillation. *Circulation* 1995;91:1588-95.
- (91) Ndrepepa G, Karch MR, Schneider MA, Weyerbrock S, Schreieck J, Deisenhofer I, Zrenner B, Schomig A, Schmitt C. Characterization of paroxysmal and persistent atrial fibrillation in the human left atrium during initiation and sustained episodes. *J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol* 2002;13:525-32.

- (92) Sueda T, Nagata H, Shikata H, Orihashi K, Morita S, Sueshiro M, Okada K, Matsuura Y. Simple left atrial procedure for chronic atrial fibrillation associated with mitral valve disease. *Ann Thorac Surg* 1996;62:1796-800.
- (93) Wu J, Estner H, Luik A, Ucer E, Reents T, Pflaumer A, Zrenner B, Hessling G, Deisenhofer I. Automatic 3D mapping of complex fractionated atrial electrograms (CFAE) in patients with paroxysmal and persistent atrial fibrillation. *J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol* 2008;19:897-903.
- (94) Roberts-Thomson KC, Stevenson I, Kistler PM, Haqqani HM, Spence SJ, Goldblatt JC, Sanders P, Kalman JM. The role of chronic atrial stretch and atrial fibrillation on posterior left atrial wall conduction. *Heart Rhythm* 2009;6:1109-17.
- (95) Tang M, Zhang S, Sun Q, Huang C. Alterations in electrophysiology and tissue structure of the left atrial posterior wall in a canine model of atrial fibrillation caused by chronic atrial dilatation. *Circ J* 2007;71:1636-42.
- (96) Tanaka K, Zlochiver S, Vikstrom KL, Yamazaki M, Moreno J, Klos M, Zaitsev AV, Vaidyanathan R, Auerbach DS, Landas S, Guiraudon G, Jalife J, Berenfeld O, Kalifa J. Spatial distribution of fibrosis governs fibrillation wave dynamics in the posterior left atrium during heart failure. *Circ Res* 2007;101:839-47.
- (97) Corradi D, Callegari S, Maestri R, Ferrara D, Mangieri D, Alinovi R, Mozzoni P, Pinelli S, Goldoni M, Privitera YA, Bartoli V, Astorri E,

Macchi E, Vaglio A, Benussi S, Alfieri O. Differential structural remodeling of the left-atrial posterior wall in patients affected by mitral regurgitation with or without persistent atrial fibrillation: a morphological and molecular study. *J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol* 2012;23:271-9.

- (98) Corradi D, Callegari S, Benussi S, Maestri R, Pastori P, Nascimbene S, Bosio S, Dorigo E, Grassani C, Rusconi R, Vettori MV, Alinovi R, Astorri E, Pappone C, Alfieri O. Myocyte changes and their left atrial distribution in patients with chronic atrial fibrillation related to mitral valve disease. *Hum Pathol* 2005;36:1080-9.
- (99) Markides V, Schilling RJ, Ho SY, Chow AW, Davies DW, Peters NS. Characterization of left atrial activation in the intact human heart. *Circulation* 2003;107:733-9.
- (100) Fareh S, Villemaire C, Nattel S. Importance of refractoriness heterogeneity in the enhanced vulnerability to atrial fibrillation induction caused by tachycardia-induced atrial electrical remodeling. *Circulation* 1998;98:2202-9.
- (101) Gaspo R, Bosch RF, Talajic M, Nattel S. Functional mechanisms underlying tachycardia-induced sustained atrial fibrillation in a chronic dog model. *Circulation* 1997;96:4027-35.
- (102) Kojodjojo P, Peters NS, Davies DW, Kanagaratnam P. Characterization of the electroanatomical substrate in human atrial fibrillation: the relationship between changes in atrial volume, refractoriness, wavefront propagation velocities, and AF burden. *J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol* 2007;18:269-75.

- (103) Kumagai K, Akimitsu S, Kawahira K, Kawanami F, Yamanouchi Y, Hiroki T, Arakawa K. Electrophysiological properties in chronic lone atrial fibrillation. *Circulation* 1991;84:1662-8.
- (104) Sun H, Chartier D, Leblanc N, Nattel S. Intracellular calcium changes and tachycardia-induced contractile dysfunction in canine atrial myocytes. *Cardiovasc Res* 2001;49:751-61.
- (105) Yue L, Melnyk P, Gaspo R, Wang Z, Nattel S. Molecular mechanisms underlying ionic remodeling in a dog model of atrial fibrillation. *Circ Res* 1999;84:776-84.
- (106) Dobrev D, Friedrich A, Voigt N, Jost N, Wettwer E, Christ T, Knaut M, Ravens U. The G protein-gated potassium current I(K,ACh) is constitutively active in patients with chronic atrial fibrillation. *Circulation* 2005;112:3697-706.
- (107) Narayan SM, Franz MR, Clopton P, Pruvot EJ, Krummen DE.
 Repolarization alternans reveals vulnerability to human atrial fibrillation.
 Circulation 2011;123:2922-30.
- (108) El-Armouche A, Boknik P, Eschenhagen T, Carrier L, Knaut M, Ravens
 U, Dobrev D. Molecular determinants of altered Ca2+ handling in
 human chronic atrial fibrillation. *Circulation* 2006;114:670-80.
- (109) Narayan SM, Bayer JD, Lalani G, Trayanova NA. Action potential dynamics explain arrhythmic vulnerability in human heart failure: a clinical and modeling study implicating abnormal calcium handling. J Am Coll Cardiol 2008;52:1782-92.

- (110) Narayan SM, Kazi D, Krummen DE, Rappel WJ. Repolarization and activation restitution near human pulmonary veins and atrial fibrillation initiation: a mechanism for the initiation of atrial fibrillation by premature beats. *J Am Coll Cardiol* 2008;52:1222-30.
- (111) Pruvot EJ, Katra RP, Rosenbaum DS, Laurita KR. Role of calcium cycling versus restitution in the mechanism of repolarization alternans. *Circ Res* 2004;94:1083-90.
- (112) Yu WC, Lee SH, Tai CT, Tsai CF, Hsieh MH, Chen CC, Ding YA, Chang MS, Chen SA. Reversal of atrial electrical remodeling following cardioversion of long-standing atrial fibrillation in man. *Cardiovasc Res* 1999;42:470-6.
- (113) Todd DM, Fynn SP, Walden AP, Hobbs WJ, Arya S, Garratt CJ. Repetitive 4-week periods of atrial electrical remodeling promote stability of atrial fibrillation: time course of a second factor involved in the self-perpetuation of atrial fibrillation. *Circulation* 2004;109:1434-9.
- (114) Stiles MK, John B, Wong CX, Kuklik P, Brooks AG, Lau DH, Dimitri H, Roberts-Thomson KC, Wilson L, De SP, Young GD, Sanders P.
 Paroxysmal lone atrial fibrillation is associated with an abnormal atrial substrate: characterizing the "second factor". *J Am Coll Cardiol* 2009;53:1182-91.
- (115) Gaspo R, Bosch RF, Bou-Abboud E, Nattel S. Tachycardia-induced changes in Na+ current in a chronic dog model of atrial fibrillation. *Circ Res* 1997;81:1045-52.

- (116) van der Velden HM, Ausma J, Rook MB, Hellemons AJ, van Veen TA, Allessie MA, Jongsma HJ. Gap junctional remodeling in relation to stabilization of atrial fibrillation in the goat. *Cardiovasc Res* 2000;46:476-86.
- (117) Kanagaratnam P, Cherian A, Stanbridge RD, Glenville B, Severs NJ, Peters NS. Relationship between connexins and atrial activation during human atrial fibrillation. *J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol* 2004;15:206-16.
- (118) Khan MN, Jais P, Cummings J, Di BL, Sanders P, Martin DO, Kautzner J, Hao S, Themistoclakis S, Fanelli R, Potenza D, Massaro R, Wazni O, Schweikert R, Saliba W, Wang P, Al-Ahmad A, Beheiry S, Santarelli P, Starling RC, Dello RA, Pelargonio G, Brachmann J, Schibgilla V, Bonso A, Casella M, Raviele A, Haissaguerre M, Natale A. Pulmonary-vein isolation for atrial fibrillation in patients with heart failure. *N Engl J Med* 2008;359:1778-85.
- (119) Vaziri SM, Larson MG, Benjamin EJ, Levy D. Echocardiographic predictors of nonrheumatic atrial fibrillation. The Framingham Heart Study. *Circulation* 1994;89:724-30.
- (120) Henry WL, Morganroth J, Pearlman AS, Clark CE, Redwood DR,
 Itscoitz SB, Epstein SE. Relation between echocardiographically
 determined left atrial size and atrial fibrillation. *Circulation* 1976;53:2739.
- (121) Pappone C, Oreto G, Rosanio S, Vicedomini G, Tocchi M, Gugliotta F,
 Salvati A, Dicandia C, Calabro MP, Mazzone P, Ficarra E, Di GC,
 Gulletta S, Nardi S, Santinelli V, Benussi S, Alfieri O. Atrial

electroanatomic remodeling after circumferential radiofrequency pulmonary vein ablation: efficacy of an anatomic approach in a large cohort of patients with atrial fibrillation. *Circulation* 2001;104:2539-44.

- (122) Ausma J, Wijffels M, Thone F, Wouters L, Allessie M, Borgers M. Structural changes of atrial myocardium due to sustained atrial fibrillation in the goat. *Circulation* 1997;96:3157-63.
- (123) Allessie M, Ausma J, Schotten U. Electrical, contractile and structural remodeling during atrial fibrillation. *Cardiovasc Res* 2002;54:230-46.
- (124) Frustaci A, Chimenti C, Bellocci F, Morgante E, Russo MA, Maseri A.
 Histological substrate of atrial biopsies in patients with lone atrial
 fibrillation. *Circulation* 1997;96:1180-4.
- (125) Li D, Fareh S, Leung TK, Nattel S. Promotion of atrial fibrillation by heart failure in dogs: atrial remodeling of a different sort. *Circulation* 1999;100:87-95.
- (126) Spach MS, Boineau JP. Microfibrosis produces electrical load variations due to loss of side-to-side cell connections: a major mechanism of structural heart disease arrhythmias. *Pacing Clin Electrophysiol* 1997;20(2 Pt 2):397-413.
- (127) Spach MS, Dolber PC. Relating extracellular potentials and their derivatives to anisotropic propagation at a microscopic level in human cardiac muscle. Evidence for electrical uncoupling of side-to-side fiber connections with increasing age. *Circ Res* 1986;58:356-71.

- (128) Xie Y, Garfinkel A, Camelliti P, Kohl P, Weiss JN, Qu Z. Effects of fibroblast-myocyte coupling on cardiac conduction and vulnerability to reentry: A computational study. *Heart Rhythm* 2009;6:1641-9.
- (129) Verheule S, Sato T, Everett T, Engle SK, Otten D, Rubart-von der LM, Nakajima HO, Nakajima H, Field LJ, Olgin JE. Increased vulnerability to atrial fibrillation in transgenic mice with selective atrial fibrosis caused by overexpression of TGF-beta1. *Circ Res* 2004;94:1458-65.
- (130) Jais P, Peng JT, Shah DC, Garrigue S, Hocini M, Yamane T, Haissaguerre M, Barold SS, Roudaut R, Clementy J. Left ventricular diastolic dysfunction in patients with so-called lone atrial fibrillation. J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol 2000;11:623-5.
- (131) Sparks PB, Mond HG, Vohra JK, Jayaprakash S, Kalman JM. Electrical remodeling of the atria following loss of atrioventricular synchrony: a long-term study in humans. *Circulation* 1999;100:1894-900.
- (132) John B, Stiles MK, Kuklik P, Brooks AG, Chandy ST, Kalman JM, Sanders P. Reverse remodeling of the atria after treatment of chronic stretch in humans: implications for the atrial fibrillation substrate. *J Am Coll Cardiol* 2010;55:1217-26.
- (133) John B, Stiles MK, Kuklik P, Chandy ST, Young GD, Mackenzie L, Szumowski L, Joseph G, Jose J, Worthley SG, Kalman JM, Sanders P. Electrical remodelling of the left and right atria due to rheumatic mitral stenosis. *Eur Heart J* 2008;29:2234-43.
- (134) Sanders P, Morton JB, Davidson NC, Spence SJ, Vohra JK, Sparks
 PB, Kalman JM. Electrical remodeling of the atria in congestive heart 238

failure: electrophysiological and electroanatomic mapping in humans. *Circulation* 2003;108:1461-8.

- (135) Morton JB, Sanders P, Vohra JK, Sparks PB, Morgan JG, Spence SJ, Grigg LE, Kalman JM. Effect of chronic right atrial stretch on atrial electrical remodeling in patients with an atrial septal defect. *Circulation* 2003;107:1775-82.
- (136) Roberts-Thomson KC, John B, Worthley SG, Brooks AG, Stiles MK, Lau DH, Kuklik P, Shipp NJ, Kalman JM, Sanders P. Left atrial remodeling in patients with atrial septal defects. *Heart Rhythm* 2009;6:1000-6.
- (137) Verheule S, Wilson E, Banthia S, Everett TH, Shanbhag S, Sih HJ, Olgin J. Direction-dependent conduction abnormalities in a canine model of atrial fibrillation due to chronic atrial dilatation. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* 2004;287:H634-H644.
- (138) Neuberger HR, Schotten U, Verheule S, Eijsbouts S, Blaauw Y, van HA, Allessie M. Development of a substrate of atrial fibrillation during chronic atrioventricular block in the goat. *Circulation* 2005;111:30-7.
- (139) Verheule S, Wilson E, Everett T, Shanbhag S, Golden C, Olgin J. Alterations in atrial electrophysiology and tissue structure in a canine model of chronic atrial dilatation due to mitral regurgitation. *Circulation* 2003;107:2615-22.
- (140) Kistler PM, Sanders P, Dodic M, Spence SJ, Samuel CS, Zhao C, Charles JA, Edwards GA, Kalman JM. Atrial electrical and structural abnormalities in an ovine model of chronic blood pressure elevation 239

after prenatal corticosteroid exposure: implications for development of atrial fibrillation. *Eur Heart J* 2006;27:3045-56.

- (141) Xu J, Cui G, Esmailian F, Plunkett M, Marelli D, Ardehali A, Odim J, Laks H, Sen L. Atrial extracellular matrix remodeling and the maintenance of atrial fibrillation. *Circulation* 2004;109:363-8.
- (142) Arndt M, Lendeckel U, Rocken C, Nepple K, Wolke C, Spiess A, Huth C, Ansorge S, Klein HU, Goette A. Altered expression of ADAMs (A Disintegrin And Metalloproteinase) in fibrillating human atria. *Circulation* 2002;105:720-5.
- (143) Goette A, Staack T, Rocken C, Arndt M, Geller JC, Huth C, Ansorge S, Klein HU, Lendeckel U. Increased expression of extracellular signalregulated kinase and angiotensin-converting enzyme in human atria during atrial fibrillation. *J Am Coll Cardiol* 2000;35:1669-77.
- (144) Polyakova V, Miyagawa S, Szalay Z, Risteli J, Kostin S. Atrial extracellular matrix remodelling in patients with atrial fibrillation. *J Cell Mol Med* 2008;12:189-208.
- (145) Hoit BD. Matrix metalloproteinases and atrial structural remodeling. *J Am Coll Cardiol* 2003;42:345-7.
- (146) Goette A, Arndt M, Rocken C, Spiess A, Staack T, Geller JC, Huth C, Ansorge S, Klein HU, Lendeckel U. Regulation of angiotensin II receptor subtypes during atrial fibrillation in humans. *Circulation* 2000;101:2678-81.

- (147) Goette A, Staack T, Rocken C, Arndt M, Geller JC, Huth C, Ansorge S, Klein HU, Lendeckel U. Increased expression of extracellular signalregulated kinase and angiotensin-converting enzyme in human atria during atrial fibrillation. *J Am Coll Cardiol* 2000;35:1669-77.
- (148) Sugden PH, Clerk A. Regulation of the ERK subgroup of MAP kinase cascades through G protein-coupled receptors. *Cell Signal* 1997;9:337-51.
- (149) Tsutsumi Y, Matsubara H, Ohkubo N, Mori Y, Nozawa Y, Murasawa S,
 Kijima K, Maruyama K, Masaki H, Moriguchi Y, Shibasaki Y, Kamihata H, Inada M, Iwasaka T. Angiotensin II type 2 receptor is upregulated in human heart with interstitial fibrosis, and cardiac fibroblasts are the major cell type for its expression. *Circ Res* 1998;83:1035-46.
- (150) Schroder D, Heger J, Piper HM, Euler G. Angiotensin II stimulates apoptosis via TGF-beta1 signaling in ventricular cardiomyocytes of rat. *J Mol Med (Berl)* 2006;84:975-83.
- (151) Khan R, Sheppard R. Fibrosis in heart disease: understanding the role of transforming growth factor-beta in cardiomyopathy, valvular disease and arrhythmia. *Immunology* 2006;118:10-24.
- (152) Yasuda N, Miura S, Akazawa H, Tanaka T, Qin Y, Kiya Y, Imaizumi S, Fujino M, Ito K, Zou Y, Fukuhara S, Kunimoto S, Fukuzaki K, Sato T, Ge J, Mochizuki N, Nakaya H, Saku K, Komuro I. Conformational switch of angiotensin II type 1 receptor underlying mechanical stressinduced activation. *EMBO Rep* 2008;9:179-86.

- (153) Zou Y, Akazawa H, Qin Y, Sano M, Takano H, Minamino T, Makita N, Iwanaga K, Zhu W, Kudoh S, Toko H, Tamura K, Kihara M, Nagai T, Fukamizu A, Umemura S, Iiri T, Fujita T, Komuro I. Mechanical stress activates angiotensin II type 1 receptor without the involvement of angiotensin II. *Nat Cell Biol* 2004;6:499-506.
- (154) Kim YM, Guzik TJ, Zhang YH, Zhang MH, Kattach H, Ratnatunga C, Pillai R, Channon KM, Casadei B. A myocardial Nox2 containing NAD(P)H oxidase contributes to oxidative stress in human atrial fibrillation. *Circ Res* 2005;97:629-36.
- (155) Dudley SC, Jr., Hoch NE, McCann LA, Honeycutt C, Diamandopoulos L, Fukai T, Harrison DG, Dikalov SI, Langberg J. Atrial fibrillation increases production of superoxide by the left atrium and left atrial appendage: role of the NADPH and xanthine oxidases. *Circulation* 2005;112:1266-73.
- (156) Pimentel DR, Amin JK, Xiao L, Miller T, Viereck J, Oliver-Krasinski J, Baliga R, Wang J, Siwik DA, Singh K, Pagano P, Colucci WS, Sawyer DB. Reactive oxygen species mediate amplitude-dependent hypertrophic and apoptotic responses to mechanical stretch in cardiac myocytes. *Circ Res* 2001;89:453-60.
- (157) Li J, Solus J, Chen Q, Rho YH, Milne G, Stein CM, Darbar D. Role of inflammation and oxidative stress in atrial fibrillation. *Heart Rhythm* 2010;7:438-44.
- (158) Rudolph V, Andrie RP, Rudolph TK, Friedrichs K, Klinke A, Hirsch-Hoffmann B, Schwoerer AP, Lau D, Fu X, Klingel K, Sydow K, Didie M,

Seniuk A, von Leitner EC, Szoecs K, Schrickel JW, Treede H, Wenzel U, Lewalter T, Nickenig G, Zimmermann WH, Meinertz T, Boger RH, Reichenspurner H, Freeman BA, Eschenhagen T, Ehmke H, Hazen SL, Willems S, Baldus S. Myeloperoxidase acts as a profibrotic mediator of atrial fibrillation. *Nat Med* 2010;16:470-4.

- (159) Cappato R, Calkins H, Chen SA, Davies W, Iesaka Y, Kalman J, Kim YH, Klein G, Packer D, Skanes A. Worldwide survey on the methods, efficacy, and safety of catheter ablation for human atrial fibrillation. *Circulation* 2005;111:1100-5.
- (160) Cappato R, Calkins H, Chen SA, Davies W, Iesaka Y, Kalman J, Kim YH, Klein G, Natale A, Packer D, Skanes A, Ambrogi F, Biganzoli E. Up-dated Worldwide Survey on the Methods, Efficacy and Safety of Catheter Ablation for Human Atrial Fibrillation. *Circ Arrhythm Electrophysiol* 2009;3:32-8.
- Pappone C, Augello G, Sala S, Gugliotta F, Vicedomini G, Gulletta S, Paglino G, Mazzone P, Sora N, Greiss I, Santagostino A, LiVolsi L, Pappone N, Radinovic A, Manguso F, Santinelli V. A randomized trial of circumferential pulmonary vein ablation versus antiarrhythmic drug therapy in paroxysmal atrial fibrillation: the APAF Study. *J Am Coll Cardiol* 2006;48:2340-7.
- (162) Jais P, Cauchemez B, MacLe L, Daoud E, Khairy P, Subbiah R, Hocini M, Extramiana F, Sacher F, Bordachar P, Klein G, Weerasooriya R, Clementy J, Haissaguerre M. Catheter ablation versus antiarrhythmic drugs for atrial fibrillation: the A4 study. *Circulation* 2008;118:2498-505.

- (163) Oral H, Pappone C, Chugh A, Good E, Bogun F, Pelosi F, Jr., Bates ER, Lehmann MH, Vicedomini G, Augello G, Agricola E, Sala S, Santinelli V, Morady F. Circumferential pulmonary-vein ablation for chronic atrial fibrillation. *N Engl J Med* 2006;354:934-41.
- (164) Wazni OM, Marrouche NF, Martin DO, Verma A, Bhargava M, Saliba W, Bash D, Schweikert R, Brachmann J, Gunther J, Gutleben K, Pisano E, Potenza D, Fanelli R, Raviele A, Themistoclakis S, Rossillo A, Bonso A, Natale A. Radiofrequency ablation vs antiarrhythmic drugs as first-line treatment of symptomatic atrial fibrillation: a randomized trial. *JAMA* 2005;293:2634-40.
- (165) Stabile G, Bertaglia E, Senatore G, De SA, Zoppo F, Donnici G, Turco P, Pascotto P, Fazzari M, Vitale DF. Catheter ablation treatment in patients with drug-refractory atrial fibrillation: a prospective, multi-centre, randomized, controlled study (Catheter Ablation For The Cure Of Atrial Fibrillation Study). *Eur Heart J* 2006;27:216-21.
- (166) Wilber DJ, Pappone C, Neuzil P, de PA, Marchlinski F, Natale A, MacLe L, Daoud EG, Calkins H, Hall B, Reddy V, Augello G, Reynolds MR, Vinekar C, Liu CY, Berry SM, Berry DA. Comparison of antiarrhythmic drug therapy and radiofrequency catheter ablation in patients with paroxysmal atrial fibrillation: a randomized controlled trial. *JAMA* 2010;303:333-40.
- (167) Nademanee K, Schwab MC, Kosar EM, Karwecki M, Moran MD,Visessook N, Michael AD, Ngarmukos T. Clinical outcomes of catheter

substrate ablation for high-risk patients with atrial fibrillation. *J Am Coll Cardiol* 2008;51:843-9.

- (168) Cheema A, Vasamreddy CR, Dalal D, Marine JE, Dong J, Henrikson CA, Spragg D, Cheng A, Nazarian S, Sinha S, Halperin H, Berger R, Calkins H. Long-term single procedure efficacy of catheter ablation of atrial fibrillation. *J Interv Card Electrophysiol* 2006;15:145-55.
- (169) Pappone C, Rosanio S, Augello G, Gallus G, Vicedomini G, Mazzone P, Gulletta S, Gugliotta F, Pappone A, Santinelli V, Tortoriello V, Sala S, Zangrillo A, Crescenzi G, Benussi S, Alfieri O. Mortality, morbidity, and quality of life after circumferential pulmonary vein ablation for atrial fibrillation: outcomes from a controlled nonrandomized long-term study. *J Am Coll Cardiol* 2003;42:185-97.
- (170) Dagres N, Hindricks G, Kottkamp H, Sommer P, Gaspar T, Bode K, Arya A, Husser D, Rallidis LS, Kremastinos DT, Piorkowski C.
 Complications of atrial fibrillation ablation in a high-volume center in 1,000 procedures: still cause for concern? *J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol* 2009;20:1014-9.
- (171) O'Neill MD, Wright M, Knecht S, Jais P, Hocini M, Takahashi Y, Jonsson A, Sacher F, Matsuo S, Lim KT, Arantes L, Derval N, Lellouche N, Nault I, Bordachar P, Clementy J, Haissaguerre M. Longterm follow-up of persistent atrial fibrillation ablation using termination as a procedural endpoint. *Eur Heart J* 2009;30:1105-12.
- (172) Lee SH, Tai CT, Hsieh MH, Tsai CF, Lin YK, Tsao HM, Yu WC, Huang JL, Ueng KC, Cheng JJ, Ding YA, Chen SA. Predictors of early and late

recurrence of atrial fibrillation after catheter ablation of paroxysmal atrial fibrillation. *J Interv Card Electrophysiol* 2004;10:221-6.

- (173) Zado E, Callans DJ, Riley M, Hutchinson M, Garcia F, Bala R, Lin D, Cooper J, Verdino R, Russo AM, Dixit S, Gerstenfeld E, Marchlinski FE. Long-term clinical efficacy and risk of catheter ablation for atrial fibrillation in the elderly. *J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol* 2008;19:621-6.
- (174) Bhargava M, Di Biase L, Mohanty P, Prasad S, Martin DO, Williams-Andrews M, Wazni OM, Burkhardt JD, Cummings JE, Khaykin Y, Verma A, Hao S, Beheiry S, Hongo R, Rossillo A, Raviele A, Bonso A, Themistoclakis S, Stewart K, Saliba WI, Schweikert RA, Natale A. Impact of type of atrial fibrillation and repeat catheter ablation on longterm freedom from atrial fibrillation: Results from a multicenter study. *Heart Rhythm* 2009;6:1403-12.
- (175) Cappato R, Calkins H, Chen SA, Davies W, Iesaka Y, Kalman J, Kim YH, Klein G, Natale A, Packer D, Skanes A. Prevalence and causes of fatal outcome in catheter ablation of atrial fibrillation. *J Am Coll Cardiol* 2009;53:1798-803.
- (176) Swartz JF, Pellersels G, Silvers J, Patten L, Cervantez D. A catheter based curative approach to atrial fibrillation in humans. Circulation 1994;90: I335.
- (177) Haissaguerre M, Jais P, Shah DC, Garrigue S, Takahashi A, Lavergne T, Hocini M, Peng JT, Roudaut R, Clementy J. Electrophysiological end point for catheter ablation of atrial fibrillation initiated from multiple pulmonary venous foci. *Circulation* 2000;101:1409-17.

- (178) Pappone C, Rosanio S, Oreto G, Tocchi M, Gugliotta F, Vicedomini G, Salvati A, Dicandia C, Mazzone P, Santinelli V, Gulletta S, Chierchia S. Circumferential radiofrequency ablation of pulmonary vein ostia: A new anatomic approach for curing atrial fibrillation. *Circulation* 2000;102:2619-28.
- (179) Oral H, Scharf C, Chugh A, Hall B, Cheung P, Good E, Veerareddy S, Pelosi F, Jr., Morady F. Catheter ablation for paroxysmal atrial fibrillation: segmental pulmonary vein ostial ablation versus left atrial ablation. *Circulation* 2003;108:2355-60.
- (180) Karch MR, Zrenner B, Deisenhofer I, Schreieck J, Ndrepepa G, Dong J, Lamprecht K, Barthel P, Luciani E, Schomig A, Schmitt C. Freedom from atrial tachyarrhythmias after catheter ablation of atrial fibrillation: a randomized comparison between 2 current ablation strategies. *Circulation* 2005;111:2875-80.
- (181) Tamborero D, Mont L, Berruezo A, Guasch E, Rios J, Nadal M, Matiello M, Andreu D, Sitges M, Brugada J. Circumferential pulmonary vein ablation: Does use of a circular mapping catheter improve results? A prospective randomized study. *Heart Rhythm* 2010;7:612-8.
- (182) Weerasooriya R, Khairy P, Litalien J, MacLe L, Hocini M, Sacher F, Lellouche N, Knecht S, Wright M, Nault I, Miyazaki S, Scavee C, Clementy J, Haissaguerre M, Jais P. Catheter ablation for atrial fibrillation: are results maintained at 5 years of follow-up? *J Am Coll Cardiol* 2011;57:160-6.

- (183) Oral H, Chugh A, Ozaydin M, Good E, Fortino J, Sankaran S, Reich S, Igic P, Elmouchi D, Tschopp D, Wimmer A, Dey S, Crawford T, Pelosi F, Jr., Jongnarangsin K, Bogun F, Morady F. Risk of thromboembolic events after percutaneous left atrial radiofrequency ablation of atrial fibrillation. *Circulation* 2006;114:759-65.
- (184) Elayi CS, Di BL, Barrett C, Ching CK, Aly MA, Lucciola M, Bai R, Horton R, Fahmy TS, Verma A, Khaykin Y, Shah J, Morales G, Hongo R, Hao S, Beheiry S, Arruda M, Schweikert RA, Cummings J, Burkhardt JD, Wang P, Al-Ahmad A, Cauchemez B, Gaita F, Natale A. Atrial fibrillation termination as a procedural endpoint during ablation in long-standing persistent atrial fibrillation. *Heart Rhythm* 2010;7:1216-23.
- (185) Wokhlu A, Hodge DO, Monahan KH, Asirvatham SJ, Friedman PA, Munger TM, Cha YM, Shen WK, Brady PA, Bluhm CM, Haroldson JM, Hammill SC, Packer DL. Long-term outcome of atrial fibrillation ablation: impact and predictors of very late recurrence. *J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol* 2010;21:1071-8.
- (186) Tzou WS, Marchlinski FE, Zado ES, Lin D, Dixit S, Callans DJ, Cooper JM, Bala R, Garcia F, Hutchinson MD, Riley MP, Verdino R, Gerstenfeld EP. Long-term outcome after successful catheter ablation of atrial fibrillation. *Circ Arrhythm Electrophysiol* 2010;3:237-42.
- (187) Tilz RR, Rillig A, Thum AM, Arya A, Wohlmuth P, Metzner A, Mathew S, Yoshiga Y, Wissner E, Kuck KH, Ouyang F. Catheter ablation of long-standing persistent atrial fibrillation: 5-year outcomes of the

Hamburg Sequential Ablation Strategy. *J Am Coll Cardiol* 2012;60:1921-9.

- (188) Miyazaki S, Kuwahara T, Kobori A, Takahashi Y, Takei A, Sato A, Isobe M, Takahashi A. Long-term clinical outcome of extensive pulmonary vein isolation-based catheter ablation therapy in patients with paroxysmal and persistent atrial fibrillation. *Heart* 2011;97:668-73.
- (189) Calkins H, Brugada J, Packer DL, Cappato R, Chen SA, Crijns HJ, Damiano RJ, Jr., Davies DW, Haines DE, Haissaguerre M, Iesaka Y, Jackman W, Jais P, Kottkamp H, Kuck KH, Lindsay BD, Marchlinski FE, McCarthy PM, Mont JL, Morady F, Nademanee K, Natale A, Pappone C, Prystowsky E, Raviele A, Ruskin JN, Shemin RJ. HRS/EHRA/ECAS expert consensus statement on catheter and surgical ablation of atrial fibrillation: recommendations for personnel, policy, procedures and follow-up. A report of the Heart Rhythm Society (HRS) Task Force on Catheter and Surgical Ablation of Atrial Fibrillation developed in partnership with the European Heart Rhythm Association (EHRA) and the European Cardiac Arrhythmia Society (ECAS); in collaboration with the American College of Cardiology (ACC), American Heart Association (AHA), and the Society of Thoracic Surgeons (STS). Endorsed and approved by the governing bodies of the American College of Cardiology, the American Heart Association, the European Cardiac Arrhythmia Society, the European Heart Rhythm Association, the Society of Thoracic Surgeons, and the Heart Rhythm Society. Europace 2007;9:335-79.

- (190) Oral H, Knight BP, Tada H, Ozaydin M, Chugh A, Hassan S, Scharf C, Lai SW, Greenstein R, Pelosi F, Jr., Strickberger SA, Morady F.
 Pulmonary vein isolation for paroxysmal and persistent atrial fibrillation. *Circulation* 2002;105:1077-81.
- (191) Elayi CS, Verma A, Di Biase L, Ching CK, Patel D, Barrett C, Martin D, Rong B, Fahmy TS, Khaykin Y, Hongo R, Hao S, Pelargonio G, Dello RA, Casella M, Santarelli P, Potenza D, Fanelli R, Massaro R, Arruda M, Schweikert RA, Natale A. Ablation for longstanding permanent atrial fibrillation: results from a randomized study comparing three different strategies. *Heart Rhythm* 2008;5:1658-64.
- (192) Pokushalov E, Romanov A, Shugayev P, Artyomenko S, Shirokova N, Turov A, Katritsis DG. Selective ganglionated plexi ablation for paroxysmal atrial fibrillation. *Heart Rhythm* 2009;6:1257-64.
- (193) Sonne K, Patel D, Mohanty P, Armaganijan L, Riedlbauchova L, El-Ali M, Di BL, Venkatraman P, Shaheen M, Kozeluhova M, Schweikert R, Burkhardt JD, Canby R, Wazni O, Saliba W, Natale A. Pulmonary vein antrum isolation, atrioventricular junction ablation, and antiarrhythmic drugs combined with direct current cardioversion: survival rates at 7 years follow-up. *J Interv Card Electrophysiol* 2009;26:121-6.
- (194) Nademanee K, McKenzie J, Kosar E, Schwab M, Sunsaneewitayakul B, Vasavakul T, Khunnawat C, Ngarmukos T. A new approach for catheter ablation of atrial fibrillation: mapping of the electrophysiologic substrate. J Am Coll Cardiol 2004;43:2044-53.

- (195) Gardner PI, Ursell PC, Fenoglio JJ, Jr., Wit AL. Electrophysiologic and anatomic basis for fractionated electrograms recorded from healed myocardial infarcts. *Circulation* 1985;72:596-611.
- (196) Stevenson WG, Weiss JN, Wiener I, Rivitz SM, Nademanee K, Klitzner T, Yeatman L, Josephson M, Wohlgelernter D. Fractionated endocardial electrograms are associated with slow conduction in humans: evidence from pace-mapping. *J Am Coll Cardiol* 1989;13:369-76.
- (197) Dillon SM, Allessie MA, Ursell PC, Wit AL. Influences of anisotropic tissue structure on reentrant circuits in the epicardial border zone of subacute canine infarcts. *Circ Res* 1988;63:182-206.
- (198) Teh AW, Kistler PM, Lee G, Medi C, Heck PM, Spence SJ, Sparks PB, Morton JB, Sanders P, Kalman JM. The relationship between complex fractionated electrograms and atrial low-voltage zones during atrial fibrillation and paced rhythm. *Europace* 2011;13:1709-16.
- (199) Jadidi AS, Duncan E, Miyazaki S, Lellouche N, Shah AJ, Forclaz A, Nault I, Wright M, Rivard L, Liu X, Scherr D, Wilton SB, Sacher F, Derval N, Knecht S, Kim SJ, Hocini M, Narayan S, Haissaguerre M, Jais P. Functional nature of electrogram fractionation demonstrated by left atrial high-density mapping. *Circ Arrhythm Electrophysiol* 2012;5:32-42.
- (200) Miyamoto K, Tsuchiya T, Nagamoto Y, Yamaguchi T, Narita S, Ando S, Hayashida K, Tanioka Y, Takahashi N. Characterization of bipolar electrograms during sinus rhythm for complex fractionated atrial

electrograms recorded in patients with paroxysmal and persistent atrial fibrillation. *Europace* 2010;12:494-501.

- (201) Roux JF, Gojraty S, Bala R, Liu CF, Hutchinson MD, Dixit S, Callans DJ, Marchlinski F, Gerstenfeld EP. Complex fractionated electrogram distribution and temporal stability in patients undergoing atrial fibrillation ablation. *J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol* 2008;19:815-20.
- (202) Roux JF, Gojraty S, Bala R, Liu CF, Dixit S, Hutchinson MD, Garcia F, Lin D, Callans DJ, Riley M, Marchlinski F, Gerstenfeld EP. Effect of pulmonary vein isolation on the distribution of complex fractionated electrograms in humans. *Heart Rhythm* 2009;6:156-60.
- (203) Ndrepepa G, Schneider MA, Karch MR, Weber S, Schreieck J, Zrenner B, Schmitt C. Impact of atrial fibrillation on the voltage of bipolar signals acquired from the left and right atria. *Pacing Clin Electrophysiol* 2003;26(4 Pt 1):862-9.
- (204) Berenfeld O, Zaitsev AV, Mironov SF, Pertsov AM, Jalife J. Frequencydependent breakdown of wave propagation into fibrillatory conduction across the pectinate muscle network in the isolated sheep right atrium. *Circ Res* 2002;90:1173-80.
- (205) Lesh MD, Spear JF, Simson MB. A computer model of the electrogram: what causes fractionation? *J Electrocardiol* 1988;21 Suppl:S69-S73.
- (206) Jacquemet V, Virag N, Ihara Z, Dang L, Blanc O, Zozor S, Vesin JM, Kappenberger L, Henriquez C. Study of unipolar electrogram morphology in a computer model of atrial fibrillation. *J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol* 2003;14(10 Suppl):S172-S179.
- (207) Kalifa J, Tanaka K, Zaitsev AV, Warren M, Vaidyanathan R, Auerbach D, Pandit S, Vikstrom KL, Ploutz-Snyder R, Talkachou A, Atienza F, Guiraudon G, Jalife J, Berenfeld O. Mechanisms of wave fractionation at boundaries of high-frequency excitation in the posterior left atrium of the isolated sheep heart during atrial fibrillation. *Circulation* 2006;113:626-33.
- (208) Zlochiver S, Yamazaki M, Kalifa J, Berenfeld O. Rotor meandering contributes to irregularity in electrograms during atrial fibrillation. *Heart Rhythm* 2008;5:846-54.
- (209) Scherlag BJ, Patterson E, Po SS. The neural basis of atrial fibrillation. *J Electrocardiol* 2006;39(4 Suppl):S180-S183.
- (210) Patterson E, Po SS, Scherlag BJ, Lazzara R. Triggered firing in pulmonary veins initiated by in vitro autonomic nerve stimulation. *Heart Rhythm* 2005;2:624-31.
- (211) Zhou Q, Hou Y, Yang S. A meta-analysis of the comparative efficacy of ablation for atrial fibrillation with and without ablation of the ganglionated plexi. *Pacing Clin Electrophysiol* 2011;34:1687-94.
- (212) Lin J, Scherlag BJ, Zhou J, Lu Z, Patterson E, Jackman WM, Lazzara
 R, Po SS. Autonomic mechanism to explain complex fractionated atrial
 electrograms (CFAE). J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol 2007;18:1197-205.
- (213) Lu Z, Scherlag BJ, Lin J, Niu G, Ghias M, Jackman WM, Lazzara R, Jiang H, Po SS. Autonomic mechanism for complex fractionated atrial electrograms: evidence by fast fourier transform analysis. *J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol* 2008;19:835-42.

- (214) Konings KT, Smeets JL, Penn OC, Wellens HJ, Allessie MA. Configuration of unipolar atrial electrograms during electrically induced atrial fibrillation in humans. *Circulation* 1997;95:1231-41.
- (215) Gerstenfeld EP, Gojraty S, Valles H, Roux J, Lavi N, Michele J. Complex Fractionated Atrial Electrograms Are Often Due to Wavefront Collision or Functional Block Rather than Focal Triggers in a Canine Model of Atrial Fibrillation. Circulation 2008;118: 239S.
- (216) Rostock T, Rotter M, Sanders P, Takahashi Y, Jais P, Hocini M, Hsu LF, Sacher F, Clementy J, Haissaguerre M. High-density activation mapping of fractionated electrograms in the atria of patients with paroxysmal atrial fibrillation. *Heart Rhythm* 2006;3:27-34.
- (217) Narayan SM, Wright M, Derval N, Jadidi A, Forclaz A, Nault I, Miyazaki S, Sacher F, Bordachar P, Clementy J, Jais P, Haissaguerre M, Hocini M. Classifying fractionated electrograms in human atrial fibrillation using monophasic action potentials and activation mapping: evidence for localized drivers, rate acceleration, and nonlocal signal etiologies. *Heart Rhythm* 2011;8:244-53.
- (218) Atienza F, Calvo D, Almendral J, Zlochiver S, Grzeda KR, Martinez-Alzamora N, Gonzalez-Torrecilla E, Arenal A, Fernandez-Aviles F, Berenfeld O. Mechanisms of fractionated electrograms formation in the posterior left atrium during paroxysmal atrial fibrillation in humans. *J Am Coll Cardiol* 2011;57:1081-92.
- (219) Oral H, Chugh A, Good E, Wimmer A, Dey S, Gadeela N, Sankaran S, Crawford T, Sarrazin JF, Kuhne M, Chalfoun N, Wells D, Frederick M,

Fortino J, loucif-Moore S, Jongnarangsin K, Pelosi F, Jr., Bogun F, Morady F. Radiofrequency catheter ablation of chronic atrial fibrillation guided by complex electrograms. *Circulation* 2007;115:2606-12.

- (220) Verma A, Patel D, Famy T, Martin DO, Burkhardt JD, Elayi SC, Lakkireddy D, Wazni O, Cummings J, Schweikert RA, Saliba W, Tchou PJ, Natale A. Efficacy of adjuvant anterior left atrial ablation during intracardiac echocardiography-guided pulmonary vein antrum isolation for atrial fibrillation. *J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol* 2007;18:151-6.
- (221) Verma A, Novak P, MacLe L, Whaley B, Beardsall M, Wulffhart Z, Khaykin Y. A prospective, multicenter evaluation of ablating complex fractionated electrograms (CFEs) during atrial fibrillation (AF) identified by an automated mapping algorithm: acute effects on AF and efficacy as an adjuvant strategy. *Heart Rhythm* 2008;5:198-205.
- (222) Verma A, Mantovan R, MacLe L, De MG, Chen J, Morillo CA, Novak P, Calzolari V, Guerra PG, Nair G, Torrecilla EG, Khaykin Y. Substrate and Trigger Ablation for Reduction of Atrial Fibrillation (STAR AF): a randomized, multicentre, international trial. *Eur Heart J* 2010;31:1344-56.
- (223) Di Biase L, Elayi CS, Fahmy TS, Martin DO, Ching CK, Barrett C, Bai R, Patel D, Khaykin Y, Hongo R, Hao S, Beheiry S, Pelargonio G, Dello RA, Casella M, Santarelli P, Potenza D, Fanelli R, Massaro R, Wang P, Al-Ahmad A, Arruda M, Themistoclakis S, Bonso A, Rossillo A, Raviele A, Schweikert RA, Burkhardt DJ, Natale A. Atrial fibrillation ablation

strategies for paroxysmal patients: randomized comparison between different techniques. *Circ Arrhythm Electrophysiol* 2009;2:113-9.

- (224) Deisenhofer I, Estner H, Reents T, Fichtner S, Bauer A, Wu J, Kolb C, Zrenner B, Schmitt C, Hessling G. Does electrogram guided substrate ablation add to the success of pulmonary vein isolation in patients with paroxysmal atrial fibrillation? A prospective, randomized study. J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol 2009;20:514-21.
- (225) Lin YJ, Tai CT, Chang SL, Lo LW, Tuan TC, Wongcharoen W, Udyavar AR, Hu YF, Chang CJ, Tsai WC, Kao T, Higa S, Chen SA. Efficacy of additional ablation of complex fractionated atrial electrograms for catheter ablation of nonparoxysmal atrial fibrillation. *J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol* 2009;20:607-15.
- (226) Rajappan K, Kistler PM, Earley MJ, Thomas G, Izquierdo M, Sporton SC, Schilling RJ. Acute and chronic pulmonary vein reconnection after atrial fibrillation ablation: a prospective characterization of anatomical sites. *Pacing Clin Electrophysiol* 2008;31:1598-605.
- (227) Oral H, Chugh A, Lemola K, Cheung P, Hall B, Good E, Han J, Tamirisa K, Bogun F, Pelosi F, Jr., Morady F. Noninducibility of atrial fibrillation as an end point of left atrial circumferential ablation for paroxysmal atrial fibrillation: a randomized study. *Circulation* 2004;110:2797-801.
- (228) Oral H, Chugh A, Yoshida K, Sarrazin JF, Kuhne M, Crawford T, Chalfoun N, Wells D, Boonyapisit W, Veerareddy S, Billakanty S, Wong WS, Good E, Jongnarangsin K, Pelosi F, Jr., Bogun F, Morady F. A

randomized assessment of the incremental role of ablation of complex fractionated atrial electrograms after antral pulmonary vein isolation for long-lasting persistent atrial fibrillation. *J Am Coll Cardiol* 2009;53:782-9.

- (229) Noseworthy PA, Malchano ZJ, Ahmed J, Holmvang G, Ruskin JN, Reddy VY. The impact of respiration on left atrial and pulmonary venous anatomy: implications for image-guided intervention. *Heart Rhythm* 2005;2:1173-8.
- (230) Klemm HU, Steven D, Johnsen C, Ventura R, Rostock T, Lutomsky B, Risius T, Meinertz T, Willems S. Catheter motion during atrial ablation due to the beating heart and respiration: impact on accuracy and spatial referencing in three-dimensional mapping. *Heart Rhythm* 2007;4:587-92.
- (231) Kistler PM, Earley MJ, Harris S, Abrams D, Ellis S, Sporton SC, Schilling RJ. Validation of three-dimensional cardiac image integration: use of integrated CT image into electroanatomic mapping system to perform catheter ablation of atrial fibrillation. *J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol* 2006;17:341-8.
- (232) Richmond L, Rajappan K, Voth E, Rangavajhala V, Earley MJ, Thomas G, Harris S, Sporton SC, Schilling RJ. Validation of computed tomography image integration into the EnSite NavX mapping system to perform catheter ablation of atrial fibrillation. *J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol* 2008;19:821-7.

- (233) Kistler PM, Rajappan K, Jahngir M, Earley MJ, Harris S, Abrams D, Gupta D, Liew R, Ellis S, Sporton SC, Schilling RJ. The impact of CT image integration into an electroanatomic mapping system on clinical outcomes of catheter ablation of atrial fibrillation. *J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol* 2006;17:1093-101.
- (234) Della Bella P, Fassini G, Cireddu M, Riva S, Carbucicchio C, Giraldi F, Maccabelli G, Trevisi N, Moltrasio M, Pepi M, Galli CA, Andreini D, Ballerini G, Pontone G. Image integration-guided catheter ablation of atrial fibrillation: a prospective randomized study. *J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol* 2009;20:258-65.
- (235) Kistler PM, Rajappan K, Harris S, Earley MJ, Richmond L, Sporton SC, Schilling RJ. The impact of image integration on catheter ablation of atrial fibrillation using electroanatomic mapping: a prospective randomized study. *Eur Heart J* 2008;29:3029-36.
- (236) Caponi D, Corleto A, Scaglione M, Blandino A, Biasco L, Cristoforetti Y, Cerrato N, Toso E, Morello M, Gaita F. Ablation of atrial fibrillation: does the addition of three-dimensional magnetic resonance imaging of the left atrium to electroanatomic mapping improve the clinical outcome?: a randomized comparison of Carto-Merge vs. Carto-XP three-dimensional mapping ablation in patients with paroxysmal and persistent atrial fibrillation. *Europace* 2010;12:1098-104.
- (237) Bertaglia E, Bella PD, Tondo C, Proclemer A, Bottoni N, De PR,
 Landolina M, Bongiorni MG, Coro L, Stabile G, Dello RA, Verlato R,
 Mantica M, Zoppo F. Image integration increases efficacy of

paroxysmal atrial fibrillation catheter ablation: results from the CartoMerge Italian Registry. *Europace* 2009;11:1004-10.

- (238) Calkins H, Brugada J, Packer DL, Cappato R, Chen SA, Crijns HJ, Damiano RJ, Jr., Davies DW, Haines DE, Haissaguerre M, Iesaka Y, Jackman W, Jais P, Kottkamp H, Kuck KH, Lindsay BD, Marchlinski FE, McCarthy PM, Mont JL, Morady F, Nademanee K, Natale A, Pappone C, Prystowsky E, Raviele A, Ruskin JN, Shemin RJ. HRS/EHRA/ECAS expert Consensus Statement on catheter and surgical ablation of atrial fibrillation: recommendations for personnel, policy, procedures and follow-up. A report of the Heart Rhythm Society (HRS) Task Force on catheter and surgical ablation of atrial fibrillation. *Heart Rhythm* 2007;4:816-61.
- (239) Gage BF, Waterman AD, Shannon W, Boechler M, Rich MW, Radford MJ. Validation of clinical classification schemes for predicting stroke: results from the National Registry of Atrial Fibrillation. *JAMA* 2001;285:2864-70.
- (240) Hou Y, Scherlag BJ, Lin J, Zhang Y, Lu Z, Truong K, Patterson E, Lazzara R, Jackman WM, Po SS. Ganglionated plexi modulate extrinsic cardiac autonomic nerve input: effects on sinus rate, atrioventricular conduction, refractoriness, and inducibility of atrial fibrillation. *J Am Coll Cardiol* 2007;50:61-8.
- (241) Takahashi Y, O'Neill MD, Hocini M, Dubois R, Matsuo S, Knecht S,
 Mahapatra S, Lim KT, Jais P, Jonsson A, Sacher F, Sanders P,
 Rostock T, Bordachar P, Clementy J, Klein GJ, Haissaguerre M.

Characterization of electrograms associated with termination of chronic atrial fibrillation by catheter ablation. *J Am Coll Cardiol* 2008;51:1003-10.

- (242) Haissaguerre M, Sanders P, Hocini M, Takahashi Y, Rotter M, Sacher F, Rostock T, Hsu LF, Bordachar P, Reuter S, Roudaut R, Clementy J, Jais P. Catheter ablation of long-lasting persistent atrial fibrillation: critical structures for termination. *J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol* 2005;16:1125-37.
- (243) Tada H, Yoshida K, Chugh A, Boonyapisit W, Crawford T, Sarrazin JF, Kuhne M, Chalfoun N, Wells D, Dey S, Veerareddy S, Billakanty S, Wong WS, Kalra D, Kfahagi A, Good E, Jongnarangsin K, Pelosi F, Jr., Bogun F, Morady F, Oral H. Prevalence and characteristics of continuous electrical activity in patients with paroxysmal and persistent atrial fibrillation. *J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol* 2008;19:606-12.
- (244) Yamada T, Murakami Y, Okada T, Yoshida N, Ninomiya Y, Toyama J, Yoshida Y, Tsuboi N, Inden Y, Hirai M, Murohara T, McElderry HT, Epstein AE, Plumb VJ, Kay GN. Non-pulmonary vein epicardial foci of atrial fibrillation identified in the left atrium after pulmonary vein isolation. *Pacing Clin Electrophysiol* 2007;30:1323-30.
- (245) Nademanee K. Trials and travails of electrogram-guided ablation of chronic atrial fibrillation. *Circulation* 2007;115:2592-4.
- (246) Stiles MK, Brooks AG, John B, Wilson L, Kuklik P, Dimitri H, Lau DH,
 Roberts-Thomson RL, Mackenzie L, Willoughby S, Young GD, Sanders
 P. The effect of electrogram duration on quantification of complex

fractionated atrial electrograms and dominant frequency. *J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol* 2008;19:252-8.

- (247) Aizer A, Holmes DS, Garlitski AC, Bernstein NE, Smyth-Melsky JM, Ferrick AM, Chinitz LA. Standardization and validation of an automated algorithm to identify fractionation as a guide for atrial fibrillation ablation. *Heart Rhythm* 2008;5:1134-41.
- (248) Roux JF, Gojraty S, Bala R, Liu CF, Dixit S, Hutchinson MD, Garcia F, Lin D, Callans DJ, Riley M, Marchlinski F, Gerstenfeld EP. Effect of pulmonary vein isolation on the distribution of complex fractionated electrograms in humans. *Heart Rhythm* 2009;6:156-60.
- (249) Lin YJ, Tai CT, Kao T, Chang SL, Wongcharoen W, Lo LW, Tuan TC, Udyavar AR, Chen YJ, Higa S, Ueng KC, Chen SA. Consistency of complex fractionated atrial electrograms during atrial fibrillation. *Heart Rhythm* 2008;5:406-12.
- (250) Scherr D, Dalal D, Cheema A, Nazarian S, Almasry I, Bilchick K, Cheng A, Henrikson CA, Spragg D, Marine JE, Berger RD, Calkins H, Dong J. Long- and short-term temporal stability of complex fractionated atrial electrograms in human left atrium during atrial fibrillation. *J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol* 2009;20:13-21.
- (251) Calo L, De RE, Sciarra L, Gricia R, Navone G, De LL, Nuccio F, Sette A, Pristipino C, Dulio A, Gaita F, Lioy E. Diagnostic accuracy of a new software for complex fractionated electrograms identification in patients with persistent and permanent atrial fibrillation. *J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol* 2008;19:1024-30.

- (252) Jadidi AS, Cochet H, Shah AJ, Kim SJ, Duncan E, Miyazaki S, Sermesant M, Lehrmann H, Lederlin M, Linton N, Forclaz A, Nault I, Rivard L, Wright M, Liu X, Scherr D, Wilton SB, Roten L, Pascale P, Derval N, Sacher F, Knecht S, Keyl C, Hocini M, Montaudon M, Laurent F, Haissaguerre M, Jais P. Inverse relationship between fractionated electrograms and atrial fibrosis in persistent atrial fibrillation: combined magnetic resonance imaging and high-density mapping. *J Am Coll Cardiol* 2013;62:802-12.
- (253) Haissaguerre M, Lim KT, Jacquemet V, Rotter M, Dang L, Hocini M, Matsuo S, Knecht S, Jais P, Virag N. Atrial fibrillatory cycle length: computer simulation and potential clinical importance. *Europace* 2007;9 Suppl 6:vi64-vi70.
- (254) Sanders P, Berenfeld O, Hocini M, Jais P, Vaidyanathan R, Hsu LF, Garrigue S, Takahashi Y, Rotter M, Sacher F, Scavee C, Ploutz-Snyder R, Jalife J, Haissaguerre M. Spectral analysis identifies sites of highfrequency activity maintaining atrial fibrillation in humans. *Circulation* 2005;112:789-97.
- (255) Takahashi Y, Hocini M, O'Neill MD, Sanders P, Rotter M, Rostock T, Jonsson A, Sacher F, Clementy J, Jais P, Haissaguerre M. Sites of focal atrial activity characterized by endocardial mapping during atrial fibrillation. *J Am Coll Cardiol* 2006;47:2005-12.
- (256) Dong J, Dalal D, Scherr D, Cheema A, Nazarian S, Bilchick K, AlmasryI, Cheng A, Henrikson CA, Spragg D, Marine JE, Berger RD, Calkins H.Impact of heart rhythm status on registration accuracy of the left atrium

for catheter ablation of atrial fibrillation. *J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol* 2007;18:1269-76.

- (257) Ghista DN, Sandler H, Vayo WH. Elastic modulus of the human intact left ventricle--determination and physiological interpretation. *Med Biol Eng* 1975;13:151-61.
- (258) Taddei F, Martelli S, Reggiani B, Cristofolini L, Viceconti M. Finiteelement modeling of bones from CT data: sensitivity to geometry and material uncertainties. *IEEE Trans Biomed Eng* 2006;53:2194-200.
- (259) Ho SY, McCarthy KP. Anatomy of the left atrium for interventional electrophysiologists. *Pacing Clin Electrophysiol* 2010;33:620-7.
- (260) Fuster V, Ryden LE, Cannom DS, Crijns HJ, Curtis AB, Ellenbogen KA, Halperin JL, Le Heuzey JY, Kay GN, Lowe JE, Olsson SB, Prystowsky EN, Tamargo JL, Wann S. ACC/AHA/ESC 2006 guidelines for the management of patients with atrial fibrillation-executive summary: a report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on Practice Guidelines and the European Society of Cardiology Committee for Practice Guidelines (Writing Committee to Revise the 2001 Guidelines for the Management of Patients with Atrial Fibrillation). *Eur Heart J* 2006;27:1979-2030.
- (261) Dorian P, Guerra PG, Kerr CR, O'Donnell SS, Crystal E, Gillis AM, Mitchell LB, Roy D, Skanes AC, Rose MS, Wyse DG. Validation of a new simple scale to measure symptoms in atrial fibrillation: the Canadian Cardiovascular Society Severity in Atrial Fibrillation scale. *Circ Arrhythm Electrophysiol* 2009;2:218-24.

- (262) Monir G, Pollak SJ. Consistency of the CFAE phenomena using custom software for automated detection of complex fractionated atrial electrograms (CFAEs) in the left atrium during atrial fibrillation. J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol 2008;19:915-9.
- (263) Scherr D, Dalal D, Cheema A, Cheng A, Henrikson CA, Spragg D, Marine JE, Berger RD, Calkins H, Dong J. Automated detection and characterization of complex fractionated atrial electrograms in human left atrium during atrial fibrillation. *Heart Rhythm* 2007;4:1013-20.
- (264) Kremen V, Lhotska L, Macas M, Cihak R, Vancura V, Kautzner J, Wichterle D. A new approach to automated assessment of fractionation of endocardial electrograms during atrial fibrillation. *Physiol Meas* 2008;29:1371-81.
- (265) Estner HL, Hessling G, Ndrepepa G, Wu J, Reents T, Fichtner S, Schmitt C, Bary CV, Kolb C, Karch M, Zrenner B, Deisenhofer I. Electrogram-guided substrate ablation with or without pulmonary vein isolation in patients with persistent atrial fibrillation. *Europace* 2008;10:1281-7.
- (266) Porter M, Spear W, Akar JG, Helms R, Brysiewicz N, Santucci P, Wilber DJ. Prospective study of atrial fibrillation termination during ablation guided by automated detection of fractionated electrograms. J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol 2008;19:613-20.
- (267) Oral H, Chugh A, Good E, Wimmer A, Dey S, Gadeela N, Sankaran S, Crawford T, Sarrazin JF, Kuhne M, Chalfoun N, Wells D, Frederick M, Fortino J, loucif-Moore S, Jongnarangsin K, Pelosi F, Jr., Bogun F,

Morady F. Radiofrequency catheter ablation of chronic atrial fibrillation guided by complex electrograms. *Circulation* 2007;115:2606-12.

- (268) O'Neill MD, Jais P, Takahashi Y, Jonsson A, Sacher F, Hocini M, Sanders P, Rostock T, Rotter M, Pernat A, Clementy J, Haissaguerre M. The stepwise ablation approach for chronic atrial fibrillation-evidence for a cumulative effect. *J Interv Card Electrophysiol* 2006;16:153-67.
- (269) Nademanee K, Lockwood E, Oketani N, Gidney B. Catheter ablation of atrial fibrillation guided by complex fractionated atrial electrogram mapping of atrial fibrillation substrate. *J Cardiol* 2010;55:1-12.
- (270) Chou CC, Zhou S, Tan AY, Hayashi H, Nihei M, Chen PS. High-density mapping of pulmonary veins and left atrium during ibutilide administration in a canine model of sustained atrial fibrillation. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* 2005;289:H2704-H2713.
- (271) Niu G, Scherlag BJ, Lu Z, Ghias M, Zhang Y, Patterson E, Dasari TW, Zacharias S, Lazzara R, Jackman WM, Po SS. An acute experimental model demonstrating 2 different forms of sustained atrial tachyarrhythmias. *Circ Arrhythm Electrophysiol* 2009;2:384-92.
- (272) Oral H, Chugh A, Good E, Crawford T, Sarrazin JF, Kuhne M, Chalfoun N, Wells D, Boonyapisit W, Gadeela N, Sankaran S, Kfahagi A, Jongnarangsin K, Pelosi F, Jr., Bogun F, Morady F. Randomized evaluation of right atrial ablation after left atrial ablation of complex fractionated atrial electrograms for long-lasting persistent atrial fibrillation. *Circ Arrhythm Electrophysiol* 2008;1:6-13.

- (273) Hocini M, Nault I, Wright M, Veenhuyzen G, Narayan SM, Jais P, Lim KT, Knecht S, Matsuo S, Forclaz A, Miyazaki S, Jadidi A, O'Neill MD, Sacher F, Clementy J, Haissaguerre M. Disparate evolution of right and left atrial rate during ablation of long-lasting persistent atrial fibrillation. *J Am Coll Cardiol* 2010;55:1007-16.
- (274) Lin YJ, Tai CT, Kao T, Chang SL, Lo LW, Tuan TC, Udyavar AR, Wongcharoen W, Hu YF, Tso HW, Tsai WC, Chang CJ, Ueng KC, Higa S, Chen SA. Spatiotemporal organization of the left atrial substrate after circumferential pulmonary vein isolation of atrial fibrillation. *Circ Arrhythm Electrophysiol* 2009;2:233-41.
- (275) Brooks AG, Stiles MK, Laborderie J, Lau DH, Kuklik P, Shipp NJ, Hsu LF, Sanders P. Outcomes of long-standing persistent atrial fibrillation ablation: a systematic review. *Heart Rhythm* 2010;7:835-46.
- (276) Nickerson D, Niederer S, Stevens C, Nash M, Hunter P. A computational model of cardiac electromechanics. *Conf Proc IEEE Eng Med Biol Soc* 2006;1:5311-4.
- (277) Kerckhoffs RC, Campbell SG, Flaim SN, Howard EJ, Sierra-Aguado J, Mulligan LJ, McCulloch AD. Multi-scale modeling of excitationcontraction coupling in the normal and failing heart. *Conf Proc IEEE Eng Med Biol Soc* 2009;2009:4281-2.
- (278) Trayanova NA, Constantino J, Gurev V. Models of stretch-activated ventricular arrhythmias. *J Electrocardiol* 2010;43:479-85.

- (279) Takeuchi S, Akita T, Takagishi Y, Watanabe E, Sasano C, Honjo H, Kodama I. Disorganization of gap junction distribution in dilated atria of patients with chronic atrial fibrillation. *Circ J* 2006;70:575-82.
- (280) Verma A, Wazni OM, Marrouche NF, Martin DO, Kilicaslan F, Minor S, Schweikert RA, Saliba W, Cummings J, Burkhardt JD, Bhargava M, Belden WA, Abdul-Karim A, Natale A. Pre-existent left atrial scarring in patients undergoing pulmonary vein antrum isolation: an independent predictor of procedural failure. *J Am Coll Cardiol* 2005;45:285-92.
- (281) Oakes RS, Badger TJ, Kholmovski EG, Akoum N, Burgon NS, Fish EN, Blauer JJ, Rao SN, DiBella EV, Segerson NM, Daccarett M, Windfelder J, McGann CJ, Parker D, MacLeod RS, Marrouche NF. Detection and quantification of left atrial structural remodeling with delayedenhancement magnetic resonance imaging in patients with atrial fibrillation. *Circulation* 2009;119:1758-67.
- (282) Miyamoto K, Tsuchiya T, Narita S, Yamaguchi T, Nagamoto Y, Ando S, Hayashida K, Tanioka Y, Takahashi N. Bipolar electrogram amplitudes in the left atrium are related to local conduction velocity in patients with atrial fibrillation. *Europace* 2009;11:1597-605.
- (283) Trayanova N, Li W, Eason J, Kohl P. Effect of stretch-activated channels on defibrillation efficacy. *Heart Rhythm* 2004;1:67-77.
- (284) Chang CJ, Lin YJ, Higa S, Chang SL, Lo LW, Tuan TC, Hu YF,
 Udyavar AR, Tang WH, Tsai WC, Huang SY, Tung NH, Suenari K,
 Tsao HM, Chen SA. The disparities in the electrogram voltage

measurement during atrial fibrillation and sinus rhythm. *J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol* 2010;21:393-8.

- (285) Chang SL, Chen YC, Chen YJ, Wangcharoen W, Lee SH, Lin CI, Chen SA. Mechanoelectrical feedback regulates the arrhythmogenic activity of pulmonary veins. *Heart* 2007;93:82-8.
- (286) Herweg B, Sichrovsky T, Polosajian L, Rozenshtein A, Steinberg JS. Hypertension and hypertensive heart disease are associated with increased ostial pulmonary vein diameter. *J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol* 2005;16:2-5.
- (287) Li ZY, Sadat U, King-Im J, Tang TY, Bowden DJ, Hayes PD, Gillard JH. Association between aneurysm shoulder stress and abdominal aortic aneurysm expansion: a longitudinal follow-up study. *Circulation* 2010;122:1815-22.
- (288) Panagiotopoulou O, Curtis N, O' Higgins P, Cobb SN. Modelling subcortical bone in finite element analyses: A validation and sensitivity study in the macaque mandible. *J Biomech* 2010;43:1603-11.
- (289) D'Ascenzo F, Corleto A, Biondi-Zoccai G, Anselmino M, Ferraris F, Di BL, Natale A, Hunter RJ, Schilling RJ, Miyazaki S, Tada H, Aonuma K, Yenn-Jiang L, Tao H, Ma C, Packer D, Hammill S, Gaita F. Which are the most reliable predictors of recurrence of atrial fibrillation after transcatheter ablation?: a meta-analysis. *Int J Cardiol* 2013;167:1984-9.
- (290) Hayward RM, Upadhyay GA, Mela T, Ellinor PT, Barrett CD, Heist EK, Verma A, Choudhry NK, Singh JP. Pulmonary vein isolation with

complex fractionated atrial electrogram ablation for paroxysmal and nonparoxysmal atrial fibrillation: A meta-analysis. *Heart Rhythm* 2011;8:994-1000.

- (291) Katritsis D, Wood MA, Giazitzoglou E, Shepard RK, Kourlaba G, Ellenbogen KA. Long-term follow-up after radiofrequency catheter ablation for atrial fibrillation. *Europace* 2008;10:419-24.
- (292) Tao H, Dong J, Liu X, Long D, Yu R, Tang R, Zheng B, Tian Y, Zhang M, Shi L, He H, Ma C. Long-term efficacy of delayed cure after circumferential pulmonary vein ablation of atrial fibrillation. *J Interv Card Electrophysiol* 2008;23:183-8.
- (293) Earley MJ, Abrams DJ, Staniforth AD, Sporton SC, Schilling RJ.
 Catheter ablation of permanent atrial fibrillation: medium term results.
 Heart 2006;92:233-8.
- (294) Patel D, Mohanty P, Di BL, Sanchez JE, Shaheen MH, Burkhardt JD, Bassouni M, Cummings J, Wang Y, Lewis WR, Diaz A, Horton RP, Beheiry S, Hongo R, Gallinghouse GJ, Zagrodzky JD, Bailey SM, Al-Ahmad A, Wang P, Schweikert RA, Natale A. Outcomes and complications of catheter ablation for atrial fibrillation in females. *Heart Rhythm* 2010;7:167-72.
- (295) Hindricks G, Piorkowski C, Tanner H, Kobza R, Gerds-Li JH, Carbucicchio C, Kottkamp H. Perception of atrial fibrillation before and after radiofrequency catheter ablation: relevance of asymptomatic arrhythmia recurrence. *Circulation* 2005;112:307-13.

- (296) Verma A, Sanders P, MacLe L, Champagne J, Nair GM, Calkins H, Wilber DJ. Selective CFAE targeting for atrial fibrillation study (SELECT AF): clinical rationale, design, and implementation. *J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol* 2011;22:541-7.
- (297) Viles-Gonzalez JF, Gomes JA, Miller MA, Dukkipati SR, Koruth JS, Eggert C, Coffey J, Reddy VY, D'Avila A. Areas with complex fractionated atrial electrograms recorded after pulmonary vein isolation represent normal voltage and conduction velocity in sinus rhythm. *Europace* 2013;15:339-46.
- (298) Saghy L, Callans DJ, Garcia F, Lin D, Marchlinski FE, Riley M, Dixit S, Tzou WS, Haqqani HM, Pap R, Kim S, Gerstenfeld EP. Is there a relationship between complex fractionated atrial electrograms recorded during atrial fibrillation and sinus rhythm fractionation? *Heart Rhythm* 2012;9:181-8.
- (299) Hunter RJ, McCready J, Diab I, Page SP, Finlay M, Richmond L, Earley M, Sporton, Jones M, Joseph JP, Bashir Y, Betts T, French A, Thomas G, Staniforth AD, Lee G, Kistler P, Rajappan K, Chow A, Schilling RJ. Maintenance of sinus rhythm with an ablation strategy in patients with atrial fibrillation is associated with a lower risk of stroke and death. *Heart* 2012;98:48-53.
- (300) Hunter RJ, Ginks M, Ang R, Diab I, Goromonzi FC, Page S, Baker V, Richmond L, Tayebjee M, Sporton S, Earley MJ, Schilling RJ. Impact of variant pulmonary vein anatomy and image integration on long-term outcome after catheter ablation for atrial fibrillation. *Europace* 2010;12:1691-7.

- (301) Tayebjee MH, Creta A, Moder S, Hunter RJ, Earley MJ, Dhinoja MB, Schilling RJ. Impact of angiotensin-converting enzyme-inhibitors and angiotensin receptor blockers on long-term outcome of catheter ablation for atrial fibrillation. *Europace* 2010;12:1537-42.
- (302) Singh SM, D'Avila A, Kim YH, Aryana A, Mangrum JM, Michaud GF, Dukkipati SR, Callans DJ, Barrett CD, Beras-Jovine MR, Reddy VY. The Modified Ablation Guided by Ibutilide Use in Chronic Atrial Fibrillation (MAGIC-AF) Study: Clinical Background and Study Design. *J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol* 2012;23:352-8.
- (303) Haissaguerre M, Hocini M, Shah AJ, Derval N, Sacher F, Jais P, Dubois R. Noninvasive panoramic mapping of human atrial fibrillation mechanisms: a feasibility report. *J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol* 2013;24:711-7.